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GLOBAL HEADQUARTER RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT HUB

REGIONAL HEADQUARTER PRESENCE

PRODUCTION AND DISTRIBUTION

Organizational details - 1

12,600+
employees working in more than 45 offices.

18
million people equipped with WSA 
hearing aids since our Company's 
inception 5 years ago.

4
R&D hubs in Denmark, Germany, India 
and Singapore, supported by a global R&D 
organization, form our innovation powerhouse.

7
main production sites in Denmark, Singapore, 
China, Mexico, Poland, USA and the Philippines.

At a glance
WS Audiology is a global leader in the hearing aid industry. 
We help millions of people regain and enjoy the miracle of 
hearing by designing and manufacturing innovative hearing 
devices and solutions. We improve people's health, well-
being and quality of life by striving to unlock human potential 
by making wonderful sound part of everyone's life.

Through our global customer network of thousands of 
hearing care professionals and our consumer-facing 
businesses, we help raise awareness of hearing loss  
and facilitate access to professional care.
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Performance highlights

Non-financial

Financial

FY23 FY24

19.5%
20.6%

FY23 FY24

66

83

FY23 FY24

7.9 7.9

FY23 FY24

2,465

2,637

FY23 FY24

3.8

4.14.1
Expand access
million people equipped  
with hearing devices 
+ 8%

7.9
Wonderful Place to Work
Engagement  
score, 1 - 10 

83
Protect the planet
% share of renewable 
electricity used 
+ 26% points

2,637
Revenue, EURm 
Organic growth 10%

542
EBITDA before  
special items, EURm
Margin + 1.1% points

205
Free cash flow, EURm 
- 18%

FY23 FY24

251

205
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LETTER FROM OUR CHAIR AND CEO

A Strong 
Foundation
During the financial year WSA delivered double-digit organic growth 
and a solid margin improvement in line with guidance*. Our ambition 
to help more people with hearing loss than anyone else is stronger 
than ever, as we have the most diverse portfolio and the strongest 
presence in developing hearing care markets. Since our inception 5 
years ago, we have equipped 18 million people with hearing aids. Our 
goal is to equip 20 million more people by 2028. 

JAN MAKELA
President and CEO

LARS RASMUSSEN
Chair of the Board of Directors

Strategic Progress
Guided by our mission of Wonderful Sound for All, we are 
addressing the growing challenge of hearing loss. With industry-
leading innovation, a diverse portfolio of solutions, and a strong 
global presence, we are positioned to help more people than any 
other hearing aid manufacturer. Beyond improving devices and soft-
ware, we are innovating the retailer and consumer journeys to make 
access to better hearing easier and more affordable.

Following the process of merger integration and subsequent 
commercial expansion from 2019, WSA is entering a next phase, 
furthering the consistent delivery of stronger profitable growth. In 
financial year 2023/24 we grew revenues organically by 10%, with 
an EBITDA margin before special items* improvement of 1.1%-pts 
and an increase in EBITDA before special items* by EUR 62 million or 

13%. The Signia IX platform, which was launched in September 2023, 
was the main growth driver behind our FY performance.

We have built a workplace with a diverse, inclusive and supportive 
culture. Our annual global employee engagement survey, conducted 
in May 2024, showed that WSA is maintaining the high level of 7.9 
achieved last financial year, while undergoing some significant 
leadership changes. WSA USA, Denmark, Singapore and Germany 
received the Top Employer certification in 2024, reinforcing our 
global commitment to creating an exceptional employee experience. 

We enhanced our capabilities in performance tracking and reporting 
across key sustainability areas to meet future reporting obligations 
by 2026. Our commitment to decarbonization remains strong, 
approached from a value chain perspective collaborating with 

suppliers, reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions within our 
operations, and addressing product end-of-life while we remain 
on track to meet our Science-Based Targets initiative (SBTi) goals, 
including 100% renewable electricity by 2025, a 50% reduction in 
absolute scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions by 2030 from a 2020 base 
year, and a 30% reduction in scope 3 emissions by 2030 from a 2021 
base year. 

Social sustainability is a key focus as well. Guided by the UN Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs), we have 
expanded human rights training and strengthened supplier due 
diligence, including chain of custody for battery suppliers. Our due 
diligence has now been integrated with our EH&S audits, covering 
health and safety, diversity, equity, and human rights.

*EBITDA before special items is defined in page 9 and comprise of EBITDA adjusted for settlement of management incentive programme and CEO/Chair transition during the year.

Management review  •  Introduction

WS Audiology  •  Annual Report 2023/24 7



Pioneering Innovation
Signia Integrated Xperience (IX), the new platform under the Signia 
brand, is a huge success and a key growth driver. Signia IX addresses 
the biggest unmet need for people with hearing loss: group conver-
sations in noise. New form factors like Styletto, Insio IX and Active 
Pro IX were added during the year.

Signia IX's solution for maximizing understanding of group conver-
sations in noisy environments is industry-leading and unique. 
IX separates incoming sound into "own voice," "other voices," 
and "background," using a multi-stream processing technique to 
enhance each independently, and using binaural beam direction-
ality to track speaker movement. When we first introduced IX in 
late 2023, we ran a series of industry-standard lab and consumer 
tests against competitors for this vital group conversation in noisy 
environments functionality. IX came out on top. We ran the same 
standard test protocols again with the latest competitor lineup in 
September 2024 and are proud to have maintained this clear leader-
ship. Our future roadmap for IX includes more innovations to extend 
this leadership, including embedding AI DNN into stream processing 
at the point where this technology is mature enough to further 
improve performance.

WSA strengthened the Widex portfolio with the introduction of the 
SmartRIC. Widex SmartRIC builds upon our achievements in natural 
sound. It features a groundbreaking L-shaped design that places 
the microphones at an improved angle for better directionality. 
Widex SmartRIC also offers the ultimate freedom from battery life 
concerns by providing up to 37 hours on a single charge. Widex 
was recognized at the 2024 Red Dot Design Awards with three wins 
across two categories.

Rexton, the global hearing aid brand known for its reliability, 
launched Rexton Reach, a rechargeable hearing aid with Multi-Voice 
Focus. Rexton Reach ensures that every voice is heard. It allows 
users to hear multiple voices at the same time, even in background 
noise.

WSA inaugurated a new Research and Development hub in Hyder-
abad, marking a significant milestone in the company’s expansion 

in India. The new hub underscores our commitment to harnessing 
local talent and technology to drive global innovation. With a 
capacity for over 250 engineers, the hub will focus on the use of 
Artificial Intelligence to enhance hearing experiences through 
contextual awareness, enhance user applications to make them 
more intuitive, optimize workflows for hearing care professionals to 
streamline patient interactions, and explore innovative approaches 
to make hearing aids more affordable.

Leadership and Ownership
In February 2024, Lars Rasmussen took over as board chair, 
succeeding Marco Gadola, who had led the board since January 2020. 
In April we announced that Jan Makela was succeeding Eric Bernard 
as President and CEO, effective July 15th. WSA’s owners expressed 
their gratitude for Bernard’s achievements who, supported by 
Gadola, led the company through the first 5 years after the merger, 
growing revenues by more than 50%, strengthening the leadership 
team, driving employee engagement levels and developing WSA into 
a sustainability leader. 

In April 2024, the Lundbeck Foundation announced that it had 
entered into an agreement with T&W Medical to acquire a minority 
share in its 51% majority stake in WS Audiology A/S of which EQT 
holds the additional 49%. The Lundbeck Foundation’s investment 
and additional investment by T&W Medical and EQT strengthened 
WS Audiology’s capital base, and the new partnership between 
T&W Medical and the Lundbeck Foundation supports the company’s 
long-term development.

In May 2024, WSA announced a generational change and a new 
board member on behalf of the Lundbeck Foundation as well as the 
resignation of two Board members. Jan Tøpholm, 2nd generation 
owner of WSA, stepped down as Vice Chair of the WSA Board and 
passed the baton to Adam Westermann, 3rd generation owner of 
WSA and Board member since 2021. In addition, Arne Due-Hansen 
joined the Board on behalf of the Lundbeck Foundation. Egbert van 
Acht and Malou Aamund stepped down from the Board.

Refinancing and Intangible Assets
WSA successfully closed the syndication of a refinancing transaction 
in April 2024, extending the maturities of WSA’s remaining EUR 3.3 
billion long-term debt by three years to 2029. It includes a signifi-
cant increase in the Group’s working capital facilities. As part of the 
transaction, WSA’s shareholders, T&W Medical and funds managed 
by EQT, injected an additional EUR 500 million in equity, resulting in 
a significant reduction of WSA’s net leverage.

In June 2024, WSA announced that the useful lives for two categories 
of intangible assets recognized at the time of the business combi-
nation in 2019, “Customer Relationships” and “Core Technology 
and Intellectual Property”, were aligned to medical device industry 
standards of 3-5 yrs. This decision follows the mandatory annual 
review of the amortization period of intangible assets as required 
by International Accounting Standard number 38 in IFRS (IAS 38). 
The change in useful lives for these two categories resulted in an 
additional amortization expense of approximately EUR 1.1 billion 
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the financial 
year, resulting in a net loss of EUR 1.2 billion. The effect is further 
described on page 108 of the Financial Statements.

Outlook
For the financial year 2024/25, WSA expects 3-6 % organic revenue 
growth, supported by our competitive product portfolio and 
upcoming launches.

The EBITDA margin is expected to increase by 1-2 percentage points 
versus financial year 2023/24, supported by cost improvement 
programs and growth.

LARS RASMUSSEN
Chair of the Board of Directors

JAN MAKELA
President and CEO
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5-year key figures and financial ratios
2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

EURm IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS

Consolidated Statement of  
Profit or Loss
Revenue 2,637 2,465  2,351  2,053  1,738 
Gross profit 1,496 1,440  1,376  1,202  973 
EBITDA before special items* 542 480 − − − 
Normalized EBITDA − 514 502 464 331
Reported EBITDA 521 480  422  413  201 
Depreciation and amortization** 1,538 300  323  305  317 
EBIT (1,017) 180  99  108  (116)
Net financial items (437) (156)  (372)  (190)  (183)
(Loss)/Profit before tax (1,454) 24  (273)  (81)  (299)
Loss for the year (1,197) (5)  (270)  (82)  (243)

Consolidated Statement of  
Financial Position
Assets 5,288 6,661 6,779  6,668  6,811 
Net Interest Bearing Debt 3,308 3,610  3,746  3,504  3,452 
Net Working Capital 319 258  284  225  241 
Equity 838 1,594  1,593  1,701  1,770 

*	� In Q1 2024, WSA introduced a new structure for reporting on EBITDA metric; EBITDA before special items. The new metric substitutes the 
previous measure defined by the covenant package in the Senior Facilities Agreement (SFA) - Normalized EBITDA relating to merger-related 
cost. EBITDA before special items is adjusted for costs that are exceptional in nature.

**	� Includes amortization of identifiable assets from Purchase Price Allocations of EUR 1,288 million (2022/23: EUR 144 million) from business 
combinations.

2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20 
EURm IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS

Other key figures
Investment in property, plant and 
equipment 58 75  60  43  35 
Cash flow from operating activities 395 459  368  397  240 
Free cash flow 205 251  203  262  116 
Number of full-time employees 12,679 12,528 11,980    11,441  10,791 

Financial ratios, % 
Organic growth 10 7  7  22  (11)
Gross profit margin 57 58  59  59  56 
EBITDA margin before special items 21 20 − −  −
Normalized EBITDA margin − 21 21 23 19
Reported EBITDA margin 20 19  18  20  12 
EBIT margin (39) 7  4  5  (7)
Return on equity (98) -  (16)  (5)  (13)
Equity ratio 16 24  23  26  26 

ESG
People equipped with hearing aids 
(million) 4.1 3.8 3.5 3.1 2.2
Underpresented gender in  
managerial roles (% of women) 39% 37% 39% 37% 38%
Share of renewable electricity (%) 83% 66% 41% 23% 16%

Key figures/ financial ratios definitions
EBITDA = Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortization
EBIT = Earnings before interest and tax
Net financial items = Interest income, interest expenses and other  
financials net
Net interest-bearing debt = total interest-bearing debt  
– cash and cash equivalents
Net Working Capital = Trade receivable + Inventories – Trade payables
Organic growth = Growth in revenue exclusive of the impact of 
foreign exchange rate changes, acquisitions and divestments. 

Free cash flow = Operating cash flow – net capex
Gross profit margin = Gross profit/(loss) x 100/revenue
EBITDA margin before special items = EBITDA before special items x 
100/revenue
Normalized EBITDA margin = Normalized EBITDA x 100/revenue
Reported EBITDA margin = Reported EBITDA x 100/revenue
EBIT margin = EBIT x 100/Revenue
Return on equity = Profit/(loss) for the year x 100/average equity
Equity ratio = Total equity/total assets x 100
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Market overview

Structural trends 
supporting growth

Growing 
population

Aging  
population

Increase in 
noise exposure

Increase in 
hearing aid 
replacement 
cycles due 
to longer life 
expectancy

There are significant differences between 
countries in terms of penetration and the rela-
tive importance of these underlying reasons. 
Historically, little progress has been made in 
overcoming the barriers that prevent people with 
hearing loss from seeking the help they need 
and, as a result, the hearing aid industry has not 
grown to its full potential. 

At WSA, our mission is to "unlock human poten-
tial by providing Wonderful Sound for All", and 
we pursue this mission by breaking down these 
barriers.

A Growing, Resilient Industry
Approximately 12 million people worldwide are 
fitted with new hearing aids each year, repre-
senting approximately 21 million hearing aids. 
This number is growing at a 5-6% annual rate, 
driven primarily by an increase in the number 
of hearing aid replacement cycles due to longer 
life expectancy and an increase in the number of 
people with what is known as disabling hearing 
loss. The latter is driven by the growing and aging 
population in general and by increasing exposure 
to noise (concerts, work, (wireless) headsets, 
etc.).

An Underpenetrated Market 
Today, more than 1.6 billion1 people suffer from 
hearing loss. Of these, 430 million have a disa-
bling hearing loss that requires treatment. By 
2050, WHO predicts that 2.5 billion people will 
suffer from hearing loss, including at least 700 
million with disabling hearing loss.

However, less than 20% of those who need 
treatment1 are fitted with hearing aids, despite 
the negative impact of hearing loss on individ-
uals and society as a whole. Social isolation and 
loneliness, increased risk of unemployment and 
increased risk of developing dementia are the 
most significant. The latter has recently received 
increasing attention in the medical literature.2

In economic terms, untreated hearing loss costs 
society more than $980 billion annually1 in health-
care, education and lost productivity. 

The main reasons why the penetration of hearing 
aids is only 20% are:

1. �Awareness of the problem and the benefits of 
the solutions

2. Access to care
3. Affordable solutions
4. �Association with aging and lower intelligence 

(stigma)
5. User experience (complex user journey)

The industry is characterized by resilience to 
general economic turbulence due to factors  
such as

	 a. �Growth decoupled from macro effects 
(population growth, demographic shifts)

	 b. �(Public) reimbursement support in many 
markets

	 c. �User group primarily with fixed income, 
higher net worth and less exposure to unem-
ployment risk

For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
market contracted by 15-20% in volume in 2020 as 
hearing care professionals were forced to close 
their centers. However, the market rebounded in 
2021 with growth of 30-35% as pent-up demand 
was released. In addition, during the 2008 finan-
cial crisis, the market declined by only 1% in 
volume terms.

1	 Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2024 report of the Lancet standing Commission, Livingston,  Huntley, et al. The Lancet Commissions, Volume 404, Issue 10452 p572-628, August 10, 2024.
2	 Source: WHO, Hopkins Medicine
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Distribution Channels
The way in which people obtain hearing aids 
varies greatly from country to country and 
depends heavily on local reimbursement and 
support. Most people typically first consult their 
general practitioner and/or ENT (ear, nose and 
throat) specialist, who act as an intermediary, 
before going to a professional hearing care 
center. Professional channels include inde-
pendent hearing centers, specialty hearing 
chains, government channels including hospitals, 
and big box or optical chains.

In addition, some people prefer online-to-offline 
models, where they consult online before going 
to a hearing center. Others have insurance bene-
fits and use managed care providers to help them 
navigate the process. 

Online direct-to-consumer models now account 
for about 1-2% of the traditional hearing aid 
market. This is driven by strict regulations in most 
Western countries, where hearing aids can only 
be purchased after being prescribed and tested 
by a hearing healthcare professional. In addition, 
user preference for face-to-face counseling and 
the complexity of the fitting process, especially 
for more severe hearing losses, contribute to the 
low penetration of online direct-to-consumer 
models today. However, this channel is expected 
to grow significantly as countries begin to relax 
regulations, self-fitting technologies and tele-au-
diology improve, and more tech-savvy end users 
enter the category. 

China is an example of a country where the 
regulatory framework and a lack of sufficient 
professional distribution channels mean that a 
significant volume is sold online through Tmall 
and other e-commerce platforms. However, 
the majority of this volume consists of personal 
sound amplification products (PSAPs) rather than 
professional grade hearing aids. 

In the United States, the Over-the-Counter 
Hearing Aid Act has been in effect for almost two 
years. The law allows certain types of hearing 
aids to be sold over the counter (OTC) to Amer-
icans with mild to moderate hearing loss. This 
U.S. OTC market has evolved into a USD 200+ 
million market with a few players with well-known 
consumer brands such as Bose and Sony. WSA 
is partnering with Sony offering high-end OTC 
hearing aids and numerous lesser-known brands 
offering low-end solutions. The vast majority  
of sales in this market are made through  
online channels.

Management review  •  Purpose & Strategic ambition
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Organizational details - 2

More than 1,600 million people suffer 
from hearing loss globally

1,600m 1,153
 369

80%
 31

20%
 17
 13

million people 
with mild hearing 
loss

million people 
with moderate 
hearing loss

non-wearers

million people 
with severe 
hearing loss

less than 20% of 
people with disabling 
hearing loss (430m) 
are equipped globally

million people 
with profound 
hearing loss

million people 
with complete 
hearing loss

4 types of hearing solutions
 
Hearing loss

Over-the-counter (OTC) hearing aids  
sold directly to consumers without 
prescription

Hearing aids fitted by hearing care 
professionals and dispensed by licensed 
audiologists

Bone-anchored hearing aids (BAHA) 
covering surgical titanium implants

Electronic cochlear implants  
surgically inserted 

Mild 20 to < 34 dB

Moderate 35 to < 64 dB

Severe 65 to < 79 dB

Profound 80 to < 94 dB

Complete 95 dB or greater

Source: WHO, Hopkins Medicine
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Our purpose, strategic ambition and goals

Purpose, strategic 
ambition and goals
Our purpose is to deliver Wonderful Sound for All. It is integrated with 
our strategic ambition to become a true leader by transforming lives 
across all markets, channels and price points.

Purpose 

Wonderful  
Sound for  
All

Going beyond together Pioneering for 
better solutions

Passion for impact

We have identified six priorities to achieve our purpose and strategic ambition while breaking 
down the barriers that prevent people from adopting hearing aids in the long term:

1. Increase awareness – We make people aware 
of hearing health and hearing solutions that meet 
their personal needs.

Millions of people living with hearing loss are 
unaware of hearing health and hearing solutions 
that meet their personal needs. In addition, there 
is a stigma associated with wearing hearing aids. 
To increase awareness, we believe the industry 
has a responsibility to address stigma through 
open conversations about hearing health. We 
also believe we can address stigma through 
innovative design and iconic form factors that 
make hearing aids even more discreet and cool. 
We believe we can make a meaningful difference 
by creating strong, recognizable and relatable 
consumer-facing brands.

2. Expand access – We make it easy to get 
hearing solutions wherever people are.

Hearing healthcare infrastructure varies widely 
from country to country. In some countries, trav-
eling to see a hearing care professional or to pick 
up a prescribed solution can mean a long journey 
and sometimes even a loss of income. Or it may 
be impossible for people with mobility issues. 
The harsh reality is that only about 20 percent 
of people with hearing loss worldwide receive 
any kind of hearing care today. We want to close 
that gap. We want to make it easy for people to 
get hearing solutions wherever they are, using 
advanced technologies such as tele-health, cloud 
technologies and artificial intelligence.

How we achieve the purpose

Values

 1

 4

 2

 5

 3

6

Increase 
awareness

Profitable 
growth

Wonderful 
Place to Work

Protect the 
planet

Expand 
access

Tackle 
affordability
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FY22 FY23 FY24 FY28

1.5 1.7
2.3

�4.0

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY28

3.5 3.8 4.1

�5.5

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25

7.97.6 7.9 �8.0

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY28

1.2 1.3 1.4

�2.0

FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25

41%

66%
83%

100%

FY22 FY23 FY24

502 514 542

 1

 4

 2

 5

 3

6

How we achieve our purpose and strategic ambition
We have set a clear goal for each priority:

Increase awareness
Million people hearing 
tested

Profitable growth
EBITDA before special items, 
EURm

Wonderful Place to Work
Engagement score, 1 - 10

Protect the planet
% of renewable energy 
used

Expand access
People equipped with 
hearing devices

Tackle affordability
Million people equipped 
with hearing aids with 
lower private-pay (1)

(1) Including public sales, managed care, OTC and price points below pp50.

3. Tackle affordability – We are making relevant 
hearing solutions available to all through tech-
nology and commercial innovation.

In most countries, the penetration of hearing health 
services is very low. A key driver is the affordability 
of hearing health solutions. Public reimbursement 
programs and insurance play an important role 
in increasing affordability. Fortunately, things 
are moving in the right direction. More and more 
people around the world are becoming insured 
or eligible for reimbursement. But as an industry 
leader, we need to drive change. Through tech-
nology and commercial innovation, we are making 
hearing solutions accessible to more people  
every year.

4. Deliver profitable growth – We create a 
healthy business so we can continue to invest in 
our ability to deliver quality hearing care solu-
tions for all. 

Achieving profitable growth and maintaining a 
healthy business is critical in the highly compet-
itive hearing aid industry. To remain successful, 
all players invest significant percentages of sales 
in new product development, including new 
hearing solutions and supporting software solu-
tions for hearing care professionals. In addition, 
the industry is consolidating, and players are 
investing more in distribution. To remain compet-
itive, WSA continues to deliver profitable growth 
to drive innovation and secure long-term access 
to consumers by investing in existing and new 
distribution models.

5. Build a Wonderful Place to Work - We facilitate 
the inclusion of people with diverse views, opin-
ions and backgrounds to attract the strongest 
talent.

Building a Wonderful Place to Work serves as a 
foundational element of WSA and our purpose 
to deliver Wonderful Sound for All. We believe 
that leveraging diverse perspectives within a 
culture of openness and support not only drives 
performance, but also sparks impactful innova-
tion that ultimately benefits our customers and 
consumers. An inclusive culture remains a top 
priority for us.

6. Protect the planet – We care about the planet 
and are moving towards circular business 
models. 

Our goal is to meet the growing need for hearing 
healthcare around the world, recognizing that 
protecting the planet is inextricably linked to 
what we do. We are focused on reducing environ-
mental impact throughout our value chain. We 
have set ambitious targets to help limit global 
temperature rise to 1.5°C and reduce biodiversity 
loss. We are taking important steps toward a 
circular business model, where we keep materials 
in use as long as possible, reduce the extraction 
of natural resources, and reduce the amount of 
waste we generate.

* � For FY25 
outlook please 
go to page 8
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Business model
At WSA, we strive to break down barriers for people with 
hearing loss by growing a sustainable business and delivering 
Wonderful Sound for All. 

* Source: WHO, Hopkins Medicine

Customers and Consumers
Through our global customer network of thou-
sands of hearing care professionals and our 
consumer facing businesses, we help millions of 
people regain and enjoy the miracle of hearing by 
designing and manufacturing innovative hearing 
aids and solutions. We equipped 4.1 million people 
in 2023/24 with our hearing solutions.

Customer and Consumer Insights
We listen to what hearing care professionals and 
wearers tell us. When a person decides to get a 
hearing aid, the main reason is obviously a strong 
desire to improve their hearing. But the decision to 
choose a specific solution is based on a number of 
different factors. 

Research & Development
Our approach to innovation is driven by what we 
learn from wearers and hearing care professionals 
about what they consider to be the most important 
challenges facing people with hearing loss. We 
spend approximately EUR 170 million per year on 
R&D, to develop hearing aids and digital solutions.

Resources
We rely on supplies of materials and components, 
diverse talents, and financial resources.  

Manufacturing
With a global manufacturing footprint, we 
produce high-quality solutions at scale while 
continuously improving our environmental foot-
print through optimization and innovation. Our 
regional manufacturing and distribution hubs 
ensure a de-risked and simplified supply chain 
close to our regional markets.

Distribution
To increase accessibility and provide solutions 
for all, we have a multi-brand, multi-channel play 
that includes retail, online, managed care and our 
network of hearing healthcare professionals.

Service 
Through customer service, product service, 
maintenance and repair, we extend the life of 
our hearing aids, conserve resources, reduce 
our environmental impact and move towards a 
circular business model.

More than 

1.6 bn 
people suffer from hearing loss globally. 
However, less than 20% of those in need 

of treatment* are fitted with hearing 
aids. We enable people to regain and 
enjoy the miracle of hearing, which 

improves quality of life and empower 
people to engage in meaningful social 

conversations and interactions.

Customers and 
consumers

Manufacturing Resources

R&D

Service Customer and 
consumer insights

Distribution
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Innovation
At WSA, we are dedicated to bringing 
Wonderful Sound for All, which sets high 
standards for our R&D teams. 

Millions of people around the world still face the 
challenges of untreated hearing loss. At WSA, 
our mission is not just a goal, but a beacon of 
hope for these individuals. We are dedicated to 
bringing Wonderful Sound for All, which sets very 
high standards for our R&D teams. Each brand, 
channel and consumer segment has unique 
needs, and our innovation is driven by those who 
know these needs best - hearing aid wearers and 
hearing care professionals.

When a person decides to wear a hearing aid, 
their primary goal is to improve their hearing, 
often based on recommendations from hearing 
healthcare professionals, family and friends. The 
choice of brand and specific hearing solution 
is usually driven by the hearing care profes-
sional. Consumer satisfaction depends not only 
on the primary function, but also on several 
other factors: product reliability, the ability to 
customize to individual preferences, seamless 
connectivity with other devices such as smart-
phones and televisions, and most importantly, 
design. Does it look and feel good? Does it chal-
lenge the stigma associated with hearing aids?

In addition to choosing solutions that provide 
the best audiological performance for their 
end-users, hearing care professionals choose to 

work with hearing aid manufacturers that offer 
solutions that enable them to run their business 
efficiently and help them grow their business. In 
short, hearing care professionals value user satis-
faction, product innovation, ease of use, product 
reliability, and a fitting process that is as simple 
as possible.

At WSA, we have translated the needs and pref-
erences of our consumers and customers into 
a set of innovation priorities. This user-centric 
approach is at the heart of everything we do 
and ensures that our key areas of innovation are 
driven by the people we want to serve.

Our Innovation Priorities 
•	 Enhance speech understanding in noisy group 

conversations 
•	 Reduce stigma and encourage early adoption 

with innovative designs
•	 Simplify usability with easy-to-use, recharge-

able solutions and easy-to-use, intuitive work-
flow solutions for hearing care professionals

•	 Deliver natural sound perception and high 
quality audio

•	 Enhance the connected experience for seam-
less integration

•	 Empower users with easy-to-use applications 
and AI-powered personalization solutions
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Based on these priorities, we work in a three-phase development 
process: an innovation funnel, a development pipeline, and a launch 
and post-launch phase. In the first phase, our innovation funnel 
outlines an efficient way to manage large volumes of innovation 
from inception to integration. In this phase, we are exploratory and 
entrepreneurial, identifying customer value and potential risks early 
in the process. When innovations become technically feasible, they 
are moved into the development pipeline, a highly managed and 
structured process. Finally, products are fine-tuned, validated, and 
verified before they go to market. We conduct extensive post-launch 
follow-up to ensure and improve  
our products.

Artificial Intelligence for Personalized Hearing Experiences
At WSA, we have been using AI in our Widex and Signia products 
for more than a decade. We use advanced AI applications to adjust 
hearing aid settings based on individual wearer preferences and 
the specific sound environments they encounter. AI helps make the 
fine-tuning process more efficient, enabling a highly personalized 
hearing experience. Importantly, our AI applications learn from the 
real-world data they collect, improving their performance over time, 
enabled by cloud technologies that provide access to unparalleled 
data sets. 

This efficiency allows the HCP to focus on the most important 
aspects of the wearer's life. How the wearer is feeling, their primary 
concerns, their responses to amplification - all can be better addressed, 
leading to more effective counseling and support for the client. 

In the coming years, AI technologies will be further integrated into 
our hearing systems, including our unique split-processing tech-
nology, multi-stream architecture and HCP workflow solutions. In 
this way, we ensure that the AI applications are fed with the richest 
possible data set, enabling unmatched performance and conveni-
ence for users.

Innovation Powerhouse 
Backed by a global R&D organization with unparalleled expertise 
and an expansive footprint, we leverage our design capabilities 
through a robust global collaboration network. Our strategic alli-
ances with leading research institutions and industry pioneers 
ensure that we remain at the forefront of innovation, pushing the 
boundaries of what's possible. Our holistic approach spans phys-
iological, neural, and behavioral research, enabling us to create 
solutions that resonate with users and recommenders. 

As a testament to our innovation leadership, WSA consistently 
delivers industry firsts and is the top patent applicant for conven-
tional assistive hearing technology according to the World Intellec-
tual Property Organization (WIPO).

Unleashing the Power of Conversation
With our two technologically differentiated platforms, WSA 
is uniquely positioned to deliver best-in-class, differentiated 
innovation. 

Our experience has made us particularly strong in tackling dynamic 
group conversations in noisy environments, creating the most 
natural sound, rechargeability and innovative design. For example, 
we created the most natural sound through low delay or ultra-fast 
processing. We improved hearing performance with our latest Inte-
grated Xperience (IX) technology, a multi-stream architecture that 
accurately locates multiple moving speakers in real-time conversa-
tions. A recent study showed that this platform delivers more than 
twice the speech enhancement benefit of any competitor, including 
a recently introduced AI co-processor-driven platform.

4
major R&D hubs in Erlangen 
(Germany), Hyderabad (India), 
Lynge (Denmark), and Singapore.

1,150 
people working in R&D globally 

~50
research partners globally

+100 
solutions brought to the 
market every year

>180mEUR
annual spend in R&D

Key facts about WSA Innovation 
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Innovation 
highlights Signia ... a story of going beyond 

True to its pioneering DNA, Signia continues to rethink 
conventional hearing solutions to meet the ever-
increasing expectations of today's consumers who 
refuse to live a life limited by hearing loss. The introduc-
tion of the Integrated Xperience (IX) platform in 2023 
marked another technological leap. 

Signia pioneered split processing with the introduction 
of the Augmented Xperience (AX) platform in 2021, 
enabling unprecedented hearing performance in noise. 
Building on the advanced audiology within AX, Signia 
Integrated Xperience features RealTime Conversation 
Enhancement.  Groundbreaking, sophisticated sound 
processing that analyzes, enhances and adapts a 
dynamic soundscape, enabling wearers to seamlessly 
participate in conversations with multiple speakers 
even as they move. 

According to study results, Signia IX, with its Real Time 
Conversation Enhancement (RTCE) technology, delivers 
more than twice the speech enhancement benefit in 
noisy group conversations compared to other leading 
hearing aids in measured signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) in 
a group conversation set-up. 1  

Signia's innovation and launch excellence ensure 
market access to a broad portfolio of IX-based and 
novel devices within 24 months. The relentless pursuit 
of advancing audiology, the willingness to push preci-
sion engineering to its limits, and the courage to create 
designs that redefine what a hearing aid looks like set 
Signia apart from any other brand in the industry. Signia 
is a brand of world’s firsts such as Split Processing and 
Own Voice Processing.

The IX Product Portfolio 
The number of products on the IX platform is growing: 
Signia Pure Charge&Go IX supports RealTime Conver-
sation Enhancement™, which empowers users in 
conversations like never before.  AI-powered hearing 
assistance improves device performance throughout 
its lifetime. Instant fit devices such as Signia Silk 
Charge&Go IX eliminate the need for lengthy and 
multiple consultations in effect establishing a whole 
new category within the hearing-care industry. Signia 
Styletto IX has a sleek and elegant design, and Signa 
Active Pro IX is a true earbud design that fits right into 
any busy lifestyle.

Rooted in unparalleled innovation and 
decades of experience, our brands 
continuously launch pioneering 
technologies and designs. During 
the financial year 2023/24, the Signia 
Integrated Xperience platform enabled 
even more wearers to seamlessly 
participate in conversations with 
multiple speakers even as they 
move due to RealTime Conversation 
Enhancement. 

1	  �Jensen NS, Wilson C, Kamkar Parsi H, Samra B, Hain J, Best S & Taylor B. 2024. Signia IX delivers more than twice the speech enhancement benefit 
in a noisy group conversation than the closest competitors. Signia White Paper. Retrieved from www.signia-library.com.
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Sound like no other

Widex SmartRIC

At Widex, we believe that Less is More in natural hearing. 
That means we manipulate the incoming sound less to 
craft a more natural hearing experience for the wearer. 
We use cutting-edge technology to process sound in 
a way that nothing unnecessary is added and nothing 
important is taken away. This means that we don't 
aggressively process the sound if it's not absolutely 
necessary, and we don't take away anything that affects 
the sound quality.

The Widex Sound Philosophy is our guiding light in all 
that we do. It guides the decisions that we make in R&D, 
so that we know that our hearing aids are developed 
as a holistic solution, with the user at the center. Widex 
hearing aids are fitted by independent hearing care 
professionals who differentiate their clinics by offering 
our premium, high-quality solutions for an excellent 
patient experience. This collaboration between Widex 
and independent hearing clinics ensures that patients 
receive a natural hearing experience with authentic and 
detailed sound.  

Widex SmartRIC builds upon our achievements in natural 
sound with thoughtful upgrades to provide significant 
user benefits. With an award-winning L-shaped design, 
SmartRIC provides improved directionality so that 
speech in noise is easier to hear and understand. It also 
features a redesigned microphone cover for reduced 
wind and touch noise, two annoyances commonly 
reported by wearers. These enhancements are designed 
to help wearers engage in social situations and live 

their lives more fully. And since these are mechanical 
changes, we provide measurable benefits to the user 
without adding to the processing delay of the hearing 
aid, preserving the signature Widex sound quality. All in 
a slim, comfortable and stylish design that is both subtle 
and remarkable in appearance. 

Widex SmartRIC also offers the ultimate freedom from 
battery life concerns by providing up to 37 hours on a 
single charge. Wearers on the move will benefit from 
the included charging case — Widex’ first-ever portable 
charging solution. The sleek, compact case can fully 
charge the hearing aids in four hours, or if the wearer 
forgets to charge their devices, they can add eight hours 
of continuous use through a 30-minute fast charge. With 
the capacity for five full charges, the case fits right into 
a pocket or small bag, empowering wearers with hassle-
free charging for more than one week off the grid, 
offering mobility, and peace of mind.  

With technology accelerating around us every day, it’s 
important to remember that Widex has been leveraging 
machine learning and AI-based technologies since 2018 
to help wearers tailor their hearing aid sound in real-
time. The SmartRIC is supported by the Widex Moment 
app, which offers a flexible, user-friendly interface 
for adjusting hearing aid features. This app includes 
AI-driven tools like MySound and Sound Sense Learn, 
ensuring that wearers enjoy a comfortable sound quality 
in any environment. 

Innovation 
highlights 

TAKE A 3D EXPERIENCE ON OUR WEBSITE

In the financial year 2023/24, Widex 
took natural sound to the next level 
with the launch of SmartRIC, which 
features an award-winning L-shaped 
design that improves directionality, 
making it easier to hear and 
understand speech in noise.
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Revenue 
split by 
region

Sales performance

Americas� 50%

APAC� 16%
EMEA� 34%

EMEA
Our EMEA business delivered double-digit 
organic growth of 11%, resulting in improved 
market shares across the region. This was mainly 
driven by the launch of Signia IX, which was a 
great success and a key growth driver. Growth 
was broad-based with the exception of France, 
where the market remained soft. Key growth 
contributors were Germany, the UK and some 
of the smaller markets. Despite the soft French 
market, we still saw modest growth.  

Americas
Our teams in the Americas delivered strong 
organic growth of 11%. Growth was broad-based 
across the US, Canada and Latin America. US 
Retail returned to strong growth, driven by 
improved performance in the private pay market, 
and US Online accelerated growth significantly, 
driven by successful customer expansion. We also 
saw solid growth in Managed Care, US Wholesale 
and Canada. The launch of Signia IX was a key 
growth driver in all markets. 

APAC
APAC delivered strong organic growth of 9%. 
China was a key contributor, delivering strong 
top-line growth despite weak consumer senti-
ment. The fast-growing markets of Southeast 
Asia and India also delivered strong growth, while 
Japan contributed with solid growth. Growth in 
ANZ was weaker due to the loss of the govern-
ment contract.

EUR 

888 m
+9% reported growth

EUR 

1,323 m
+6% reported growth

EUR 

426 m
+4% reported growth
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2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

52%53% 51%
120 114 143

1,2271,128 1,150

1,146

Opex in percent 
of revenue

Selling and general 
adminstrative expenses

Research and development 
expenses

Opex in percent of revenue

Financial review
Introduction
As announced on July 29, 2024, we have changed 
the useful lives for intangible assets related to 
"Customer Relationships" and "Core Technology 
and Intellectual Property" to be in line with 
medical device industry standards of 3-5 years. 
The change has resulted in an additional charge 
of approximately EUR 1.2 billion (originally stated 
as EUR 1.1 billion in the announcement) in the 
Group's consolidated financial statements for the 
full year 2023/24.

The review and resulting change in useful 
lives had no impact on Reported EBITDA and 
EBITDA guidance for the year, nor will it have 
any impact on future EBITDA results, current or 
future revenue streams or cash flows. However, 
as a result of the changes, we are reporting a 
one-time impact on the reported net result for 
the year, resulting in a significant net loss of 
EUR 1,197 million. The effect is further described 
below and on page 108 of the Financial State-
ments.

Profit or loss
Revenue
Sales in 2023/24 reached EUR 2,637 million 
(2022/23: EUR 2,465 million), representing 
organic growth of 10%, in line with the upward 
revised guidance of 7-10% (originally 6-10%). This 
was mainly driven by the launch of Signia IX at 
the end of the last financial year in the largest 

markets and subsequent launches during the 
year in the remaining markets. The launch of 
Widex SmartRIC also contributed to growth. The 
increase in sales was driven by significant volume 
growth as well as an increase in average selling 
prices (ASP), demonstrating a strong portfolio. 
Reported growth of 7% was impacted by a nega-
tive currency impact of 3 percentage points 
mainly due to the weakening of the US dollar, 
Japanese yen, Argentine peso and Turkish lira 
against the euro.

Revenue growth was broad-based across busi-
ness units and regions. Wholesale growth was 
strongest in EMEA, with Germany, the UK and 
many of the smaller markets being the main 
contributors. We also saw very strong growth 
in China and other fast-growing markets in 
APAC. The strong growth was partially offset by 
France, which had a softer market growth. In the 
consumer-facing business, we continued to see 
strong growth in online, US retail and managed 
care in the US.

Gross profit and margin
During the year, we announced the accelerated 
amortization of certain intangible assets. After 
adjusting for these effects on gross profit of EUR 
77 million, our gross profit was EUR 1,573 million 
with an adjusted gross margin of 59.7%. This is an 
improvement of 1.3 percentage points compared 
to last year, driven by strong revenue growth and 
operational efficiencies. Reported gross profit in 
2023/24 reached EUR 1,496 million (2022/23: EUR 
1,440 million) with a reported gross margin of 
56.7% (2022/23: 58.4%).

Research and development expenses (R&D)
Our investment in R&D in 2023/24 amounted 
to EUR 183 million (2022/23: EUR 179 million), 
of which EUR 102 million was capitalized. The 
total R&D expenditure as a percentage of sales 
improved to 6.9% (2022/23: 7.3%) and was 
focused on advancing development projects and 
strengthening the future product portfolio in line 
with our strategy.

Revenue EUR

2,637m
+7% Reported growth
+10% Organic growth

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

R&D expenses (P&L) 218 114
Depreciation & Amortization1 (137) (47)
Capitalization 102 112
R&D expenditure incurred 183 179

1	 Of which EUR 75 million is from accelerated amortization

Accelerated 
amortization
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EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Reported EBITDA 521 480
Special items 21 -
EBITDA before special items 542 480

Selling and general administrative 
expenses (SG&A)
Excluding accelerated amortization of EUR 1,071 
million and exceptional items of EUR 21 million, 
SG&A expenses were EUR 1,206 million or 45.7% 
of sales, slightly lower than last year. The increase 
in expenses was driven by revenue growth and 
included launch costs for both Signia IX and 
Widex SmartRIC. Total reported selling and 
general administrative expenses increased to 
EUR 2,298 million in 2023/24 (2022/23: EUR 1,150 
million).

Effects of special items
Special items cover one-time charges and 
income of a certain magnitude and are aligned 
with industry practice. The total special items in 
2023/24 amounted to EUR 21 million due to costs 
related to the settlement of the management 
incentive program and the CEO/Chair transition.

EBITDA
Adjusted for EUR 21 million of costs related to the 
management incentive program and the CEO/
Chair transition, EBITDA before special items 
was EUR 542 million (2022/23: EUR 480 million) 
and the EBITDA margin before special items 
increased to 20.6% in 2023/24 (2022/23:19.5%), in 
line with the guidance of a 1-2 points increase in 
the EBITDA margin. Reported EBITDA increased 
to EUR 521 million (2022/23: EUR 480 million) and 
the Reported EBITDA margin increased to 19.8% 

in 2023/24 (2022/23: 19.5%). Currency head-
winds reduced Reported EBITDA growth by 0.7 
percentage points.

Net financial expenses 
In 2023/24, net financial expenses amounted to 
EUR 437 million (2022/23: EUR 156 million). The 
increase in financial expenses was mainly due 
to an increase in net interest expense, financing 
transaction costs, translation impact on loans 
and mark-to-market valuation on derivatives. Net 
interest expense increased from EUR 213 million 
in 2022/23 to EUR 313 million in 2023/24, driven by 
higher effective interest rates including interest 
rate hedges and leases. The Group incurred 
transaction costs of EUR 100 million (2022/23: EUR 
21 million) as a result of transaction costs related 
to the April 2024 refinancing and the realization 
of amortized transaction costs related to the 
previous debt structure. Additionally financial 
expenses in 2022/23 were impacted by a signif-
icant currency adjustment of EUR 79 million 
related to USD term loan (USD depreciation) and 
mark-to-market valuation on derivatives of EUR 
5 million. The similar impact was much lower in 
2023/24 at EUR 7 million on currency adjustment 
and loss of EUR 28 million on mark-to-market 
valuation on derivatives.

Net result
The adjusted net loss in 2023/24 was EUR 211 
million, strongly influenced by the one-off effect 

of EUR 1,223 million from the acceleration of 
the amortization of intangible assets, offset by 
EUR 258 million from the resulting tax effect and 
exceptional items of EUR 21 million. The net loss 
in 2023/24 was EUR 1,197 million (2022/23: EUR 5 
million), negatively impacted by the increase in 
net financial expenses, offset by an increase in 
the underlying operating result. 

Cash flow 
Operating activities 
Cash flow from operating activities in 2023/24 
amounted to EUR 395 million (2022/23: EUR 459 
million) as a result of higher EBITDA offset by 
higher tax payments and cash outflow from net 
working capital due to higher inventories and the 
phasing out of trade payables.

Investing activities 
Cash flow from investing activities amounted to 
EUR 188 million (2022/23: EUR 218 million), mainly 
due to lower capitalized R&D expenses and a 
lower level of acquisitions. 

Financing activities 
Cash flow from financing activities amounted to 
EUR 216 million (2022/23: EUR 239 million) mainly 
due to the capital injection of EUR 500 million in 
connection with the refinancing offset by debt 
repayment and refinancing transaction costs.

Change in liquidity 
Total liquidity (cash and available revolving credit 
facilities) amounted to EUR 313 million as of 
September 30, 2024 (2022/23: EUR 280 million). 
The increase in liquidity was due to the equity 
injection of EUR 500 million and incremental 
revolving credit facilities of EUR 90 million post 
refinancing, offset by debt repayments and cash 
outflows from net working capital.

Balance sheet 
Total assets 
As of September 30, 2024, the Group's total 
assets amounted to EUR 5,288 million (2022/23: 
EUR 6,661 million). Current assets decreased to 
EUR 747 million (2022/23: EUR 799 million) mainly 
due to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents, 
higher accrued interest income and the fair value 
of derivatives maturing this year. Non-current 
assets decreased by EUR 1,321 million to EUR 
4,541 million, mainly due to accelerated amortiza-
tion of intangible assets.

Net working capital 
Net working capital amounted to EUR 319 million 
(2022/23: EUR 258 million). As a percentage of 
sales, net working capital increased from 10.5% to 
12.1% due to higher inventories and the phasing 
out of trade payables.

Net interest-bearing debt 
Net interest-bearing debt (NIBD) decreased from 
EUR 3,610 million to EUR 3,308 million due to debt 
repayments in connection with the refinancing. 
The decrease in NIBD and higher realized EBITDA 
resulted in an improved leverage ratio (NIBD/
EBITDA2) from 7.5 at the end of 2022/23 to 6.1 at 
the end of 2023/24. 

Equity 
As of September 30, 2024, total equity amounted 
to EUR 838 million (2022/23: EUR 1,594 million), 
of which EUR 28 million (2022/23: EUR 42 million) 
is attributable to non-controlling interests and 
EUR 810 million (2022/23: EUR 1,552 million) to 
the shareholders of WS Audiology A/S. Equity was 
positively impacted by the capital increase of EUR 
500 million during the year, but this was more 
than offset by the net loss for the year due to 
accelerated amortization. 

2	 For 2023/24 the EBITDA before special items  is used for the leverage ratio.
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Management Structure  
WSA has a two-tiered management structure 
consisting of the Board of Directors and the Exec-
utive Board. There is no overlap in the members. 

The Board of Directors is appointed by the 
Company's shareholders and is responsible for 
the overall vision, strategy and objectives of the 
Company. The Board oversees the organization, 
day-to-day management and results of the 
Company.

The Board appoints and provides direction to the 
Executive Board, which consists of the Group CEO, 
the Group CFO and the President of Americas, who 
are responsible for the day-to-day management of 
WSA and the execution of its strategic direction. 

Further, the Executive Committee is responsible 
for driving the strategic development and cultural 
alignment across the company for day-to-day 
business priorities. The Executive Committee 
consists of the Executive Board and six Senior Vice 
Presidents. 

Board of Directors  
The Board of Directors consists of eight members, 
all of whom are elected by the shareholders in 
accordance with the Articles of Association. Direc-
tors are elected on the basis of an overall assess-
ment of their individual professional experience 
and competencies, as well as their contribution to 
ensuring an appropriate and diverse composition 
of the combined competencies of the Board.  

The Board is responsible for the overall strategic 
direction of the Company and makes decisions 
regarding the Company's strategy, major invest-
ments and divestments, the capital base, key poli-
cies, control and audit matters, risk management 
and significant operational issues. 

The Board monitors and oversees the progress of 
our sustainability strategy and the achievement 
of our sustainability targets. ESG and sustaina-

Corporate governance 

bility priorities are an integral part of the Board's 
decision-making process, and the Board receives 
an annual update on our sustainability goals and 
progress.

The Board reviews its composition and required 
competencies annually in connection with the 
annual performance review. The eight Board 
members represent five nationalities. The board 
aim to increase the percentage of women to 30% 
in 2028. 

The competencies required of the Board currently 
include knowledge of the global hearing health-
care industry and technological innovation, inter-
national business and management experience, 
as well as strategy, M&A, risk management, IT, 
human resources, finance and accounting.  

A description of each director, including their 
other executive positions, independence and how 
they contribute to the required competencies, is 
provided on the following pages. 

Committee Structure 
The Board of Directors has established two 
committees: a Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. The Board of Directors is in process 
of establishing an Audit Committee that will be 
put effective in the new financial year. 

Key Board Activities in 
financial year 2023/24

 
The Board held five regular Board meet-
ings, one special update and one corporate 
talent review. Key activities included: 

1.	 Change in Board appointments and 
Executive Directors

2.	 Approved the budget 

3.	 Approved updated charters for the 
Remuneration Committee, Nomina-
tion Committee and upcoming Audit 
Committee

4.	 Reviewed and discussed industry 
developments and key trends

5.	 Discussed and approved R&D and 
IT roadmaps

6.	 Discussed and approved the business 
plans

7.	 Advised on cybersecurity approach

8.	 Advised on sustainability approach

9.	 Advised on ongoing transformation 
programs

10.	Visited US offices

Shareholders

Board of Directors

Executive Board and  
Executive Committee 

NomCo RemCo

WS Audiology Group
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Risk management
At WSA, we understand that risk is a natural and integral part 
of driving business performance and operational activities that 
lead to long-term success.

Due to the evolving global landscape, our identi-
fied risks are subject to both short- and long-term 
changes. We continuously monitor these changes 
and work proactively to mitigate and reduce 
risks to an acceptable and tolerable level. Thus, 
WSA works with risk management to ensure that 
we optimize our business performance - while 
ensuring that risk and reward are balanced - so 
that decisions can be made on an informed basis. 
We have therefore gathered further knowledge 
on the identified risks and assessed their impact 
and likelihood. We have also defined additional 
key metrics to ensure a methodical and struc-
tured way of prioritizing mitigation activities 
to manage our identified risks. We assess risks 
holistically, recognizing that the triggering of 
a risk may affect many functional areas of the 
business and that the impact may be both short 
term and/or long term. Reputational damage is 

also included in the overall risk rating, although it 
is more complex to assess.

The Executive Committee is responsible for 
the ongoing identification and management of 
risks, as well as the review and design of related 
processes and activities. The oversight responsi-
bility for risk management rests with the Board of 
Directors and is considered part of our strategic, 
budgetary and annual planning cycle. 

Day-to-day risk management in local markets is 
the responsibility of regional and local manage-
ment teams. As part of their day-to-day responsi-
bility for the businesses, they manage and report 
any material changes through a bottom-up 
process of reporting local risks to the Executive 
Committee as part of the monthly performance 
updates.

 1   Geopolitical instabilities and risks

 2   Cyber & IT Security Risks

 3   Financial Market Risk

 4   Product Innovation Risks

 5   Compliance & Regulatory Risks

 5

 4

 2
 3

 1
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Risk management  
process

Identification
Risks are continuously 

identified and 
reported using 

uniform templates 
and tools 

Assessment
Identified risks are analysed and 

assessed to determine triggers, impact 
and likelihood 

Monitoring
Development of key risks and mitigation 
actions are monitored by risk deep-dives 

and reporting  

Recording
Key risks are established, prioritized 

and documented, and risk owners 
are appointed 

Mitigation
Risk mitigation action plans are prepared 

and implemented across the affected 
businesses 

The Risk Management process at 
WSA Group is illustrated below 

Internal Control System and Reporting
To ensure the continued high quality and compli-
ance of the financial reporting systems, the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Committee 
have adopted financial reporting and internal 
control policies, procedures and guidelines to 
be followed by the subsidiaries and reporting 
units. The internal controls are developed using 
best practices based on COSO and other relevant 
standards and are tailored to our specific busi-
ness needs. Policies and procedures are reviewed 
and updated on a regular basis to optimize our 
control environment. While we track several risks 
related to our financial reporting, the key risks, 
together with the approach to mitigating them, 
are recorded in separate tools and registers.
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 1

Geopolitical Instabilities and Risks
The global nature of our business exposes us to 
various geopolitical risks that may affect our oper-
ations.

Political instability, such as changes in government 
and related sanctions, could create risks, such as 
those associated with sudden regulatory changes, 
that could affect our operations.

Economic sanctions against certain countries may 
limit our market access and disrupt established busi-
ness relationships. 

Our reliance on international suppliers for compo-
nents presents another, more inherent risk, as 
disruptions due to political conflicts, natural disas-
ters or pandemics could adversely affect our supply 
chain, delay product development and new product 
launches, challenge our access to critical resources 
and limit market access.

An unanticipated decrease in demand, either overall 
or for specific products, or a disruption in the supply 
of hearing instrument components due to factors 
such as geopolitical instability or quality issues could 
affect product availability, ultimately impacting 
customer access to essential hearing solutions 
and representing a lost business opportunity. The 
resulting product shortages in hearing aids could 

have a serious impact on our end users, potentially 
limiting their access to hearing care. This could also 
jeopardize WSA's reputation. In short, these issues 
could adversely affect our sales, profits and market 
position. 

Changes in healthcare policies, insurance coverage 
and reimbursement rates in certain countries could 
affect the affordability and accessibility of hearing 
care, resulting in a risk of reduced demand for hearing 
aids.

Mitigating actions
We have implemented continuous risk monitoring 
and scenario planning of the Key Risk Indicators 
(KRIs). We also continue to build on our strong stra-
tegic global and local relationships. We proactively 
plan and manage the supply chain in light of these 
risks to ensure seamless product availability. In 
addition, we reduce overall risk by having interoper-
able global manufacturing sites and by maintaining 
safety stock levels to mitigate any short-term supply 
risks.

 2

Cyber & IT Security Risks
The cyber and IT security risk landscape is complex 
and multifaceted, and compliance with varying 
cybersecurity regulations in different countries adds 
to operational complexity.

Ransomware attacks can halt our production 
lines, disrupt supply chains and disrupt day-to-day 
operations. We risk significant costs associated 
with system recovery and potential fines from 
data protection authorities as we handle sensitive 
personal data, including medical records such as 
hearing profiles. Downtime in business operations 
will lead to loss of revenue and customer satisfac-
tion. 

Breaches can therefore result in significant financial 
and reputational damage. WSA's proprietary tech-
nology and product designs are valuable targets for 
industrial espionage. 

In addition, we are the target of employee phishing 
campaigns that can lead to credential theft and 
unauthorized access to our critical systems, as well 
as executive impersonation, with spear-phishing 
attacks targeting executives that can result in signifi-
cant financial loss and loss of sensitive information.

Mitigating actions
We continuously improve our cybersecurity resil-
ience through employee training, stress testing, and 
the implementation of technical and strict access 
control mechanisms to limit data and system access 
based on job roles. We continually improve and test 
our procedures related to enhanced recovery capa-
bilities and contingency planning, including robust 
incident response plans to quickly identify, contain 
and mitigate cyber incidents, including frame-
works to ensure backup systems and data recovery 
processes are in place to quickly restore normal 
operations following an attack.

Our key risks and relevant mitigating efforts are described in more detail below.
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 3

Financial Market Risk
In the volatile macroeconomic environment in which 
we operate, we are exposed to various financial 
market risks. We are exposed to interest rate fluc-
tuations as our loan portfolio is based on floating 
interest rates. The effects of high inflation and 
currency fluctuations resulting from our interna-
tional operations could also affect our business 
performance.

We have issued long-term senior secured loans 
and PIK notes. In addition to the interest rate risk 
discussed above, we are exposed to refinancing risk 
as these loans mature. 

We are also exposed to foreign exchange risk as 
approximately 2/3 of our sales are denominated in 
currencies other than our reporting currency, the 
Euro. Our main currency exposures are USD, SGD  
and JPY.

Fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates can have a significant impact on our earnings, 
cash flow and liquidity if left unhedged, which could 
ultimately result in insolvency risk due to an inability 
to refinance our loans prior to maturity.

Mitigating actions
We continually monitor these risks to mitigate the 
impact of rising interest rates. Effective treasury 
policies have been implemented to assess, monitor 
and mitigate our financial market risks. A significant 
portion of our interest rate risk is hedged by swap-
ping floating rates into fixed rates. We also hedge 
a significant portion of our rolling 12-month net 
foreign currency exposure. Detailed information is 
provided in Note 4.2 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

 4

Product Innovation Risks
The hearing aid market is highly competitive with 
few, but significant, competitors. Competitors may 
introduce similar or superior products, reducing our 
competitive advantage.

In an increasingly competitive product and feature 
landscape, following market trends becomes more 
important. Misjudging market needs and customer 
and consumer preferences could result in the risk 
of developing products that do not meet customer 
expectations or market trends.

The rapid pace of technological advancement in 
audiology, including digital signal processing, wire-
less connectivity and battery life, may render current 
R&D projects obsolete before they are launched, so 
we must continually innovate to stay ahead of the 
competition and secure our global position. 

The development of cutting-edge technologies 
requires significant investments in research and 
development (R&D) and can have long lead times. As 
a result, we risk missing market opportunities due to 
R&D failures or delays. 

Protection of intellectual property is critical to main-
taining a competitive edge. However, IP disputes or 
infringements can pose significant risks to us.

Mitigating actions
We continuously monitor emerging technologies, 
industry trends and competitive activities, and 
conduct market research in close collaboration 
between R&D and Sales & Marketing. We collaborate 
and partner with academic institutions, technology 
leaders and start-ups, and test product concepts with 
customers and consumers. Finally, we protect our 
intellectual property through patents and trademarks.

 5

Compliance & Regulatory Risks
Our products are subject to stringent global regula-
tory and approval processes. Regulatory standards 
and requirements for medical devices can vary widely 
by region and change over time, requiring compliance 
with multiple regulatory frameworks that can be 
costly and complex to maintain. 

In addition to fines for non-compliance and exposure 
to patent litigation in multiple jurisdictions, key risks 
include the commercial risk of loss of customers, 
potential breach of existing contracts and reputa-
tional damage. 

As part of our global business, we interact with a wide 
range of customers, such as government officials 
(e.g., public healthcare professionals). Such interac-
tions are strictly regulated by laws such as the U.S. 
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), the UK Bribery 
Act and similar laws in other countries to prevent 
bribery and corruption in international business. 

Stringent data privacy regulations, such as GDPR in 
Europe and HIPAA in the U.S., require robust data 
protection measures. Ensuring the protection of 
personal data, obtaining appropriate consent, and 
handling data breaches appropriately are essential to 
avoid significant fines and reputational damage.

The hearing aid industry is subject to stringent 
regulatory requirements to ensure the safety and 
efficacy of devices. In the United States, the Food and 
Drug Administration (FDA) regulates hearing aids 
under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, this 
includes both prescription hearing aids and over-the-
counter (OTC) hearing aids. In the European Union, 

hearing aids must comply with the Medical Device 
Regulation (MDR), which replaced the Medical Devices 
Directive (MDD). The MDR standardizes regulations 
across EU member states, ensuring that all medical 
devices, including hearing aids, meet high safety and 
performance standards. These regulations are crucial 
for maintaining consumer trust and ensuring that 
hearing aids provide the intended benefits without 
compromising user safety.

Mitigating actions
We have developed robust internal compliance 
programs that include regular audits, employee 
training and a clear code of conduct, as well as a 
global policy on gifts and entertainment. We have 
also implemented a robust legal and regulatory 
monitoring process for changes in relevant laws and 
regulations to ensure timely updates to all rele-
vant compliance practices. In addition, employees 
receive regular training on legal issues and risk 
management, and we regularly monitor and assess 
potential legal risks to identify early signs of poten-
tial disputes. Our company remains committed to 
adhering to these regulations and continuously 
improving our products to meet and exceed these 
standards.
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Chair
Lars Rasmussen
Danish
Independent

Born 1959. Lars Rasmussen has extensive executive manage-
ment and board experience from international listed compa-
nies in the med-tech and pharmaceutical industries. He has 
a strong background in innovation commercialization, B2B 
and B2C sales models and efficiency improvements.

Other board and management positions
•	 H. Lundbeck A/S: Chair of the Board, Chair of the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee and 
member of the Audit Committee 

•	 Coloplast; Chair of the Board, Chair of the Remunera-
tion and Nomination Committee and member of the 
Audit Committee 

•	 MabTech: Chair
•	 Gyldendal A/S: Board member
•	 Danish Committee of Corporate Governance: Chair 
•	 Danish Life Science Council: Chair 
•	 University of Copenhagen: Board member

Lars Rasmussen holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Engineering from Aalborg University and an Executive 
MBA from SIMI.

Member since 2024

Board of Directors

Vice-chair of the board
Adam Westermann 
Danish
Non-independent 

Born 1985. Adam Westermann is a co-owner of WS 
Audiology and an experienced leader within med-tech, 
from various roles in Widex and WS Audiology, currently 
serving as Vice President Global Innovation in R&D at WS 
Audiology. 
He has in-depth knowledge of the industry and R&D.   

Other board and management positions
•	 Board member of T&W Medical (the main investment 

vehicle of the Tøpholm and Westermann families and 
the majority shareholder in WS Audiology via CN8 A/S)

Adam Westermann holds a M.Sc. in Electrical and Elec-
tronics Engineering from DTU and a PhD from National 
Acoustics Laboratories in Sydney, Australia.

Member since 2021

Jes Munk Hansen 
Danish and American
Independent 

Born 1968. Jes Munk Hansen has extensive executive 
management experience serving as CEO and board 
member in international technology companies. He has 
deep knowledge and understanding of the US markets, 
business development and commercialization, sales 
models, and business integration, including M&A. 

Other board and management positions
•	 Rockwool; CEO and President
•	 The Confederation of Danish Industry (DI), Vice Chair 

Jes Munk Hansen holds a M.Sc. in Forestry from Copen-
hagen University and an MBA from London Business 
School.  

Member since 2019

Anthony Santospirito 
Australian   
Non-Independent  

Born 1984. Anthony Santospirito is a partner in EQT's 
private equity business. He is an experienced corporate 
finance executive.

Other board and management positions
•	 Dechra Pharmaceuticals: member of the board and 

member of the audit and remuneration committees

Anthony Santospirito holds a BA in Mathematics from 
Oxford University.

Member since 2023
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Kristiaan Nieuwenburg 
Dutch and British 
Non-independent  

Born 1970. Kristiaan Nieuwenburg is a partner and Head 
of Performance for Private Capital at EQT. He has exten-
sive experience in corporate strategy and performance 
improvement projects from a board perspective as well 
as M&A.

Other board and management positions
•	 EQT: Chair of the Private Equity Portfolio Review 

Committee, Chair of the EQT Foundation Investment 
Committee, member of the Equity Partners Invest-
ment Committee

•	 Azelis NV, Board member

Kristiaan Nieuwenburg holds a M.Sc. in Chemical Engi-
neering from Delft University of Technology and an MBA 
from Harvard Business School.

Member since 2023

Board of Directors (continued)

Karen Prange 
American and Canadian
Independent  

Born 1964. Karen Prange has more than 30 years of 
healthcare experience with Fortune 50 and Fortune 500 
companies, including business growth through stra-
tegic change and realignment, revenue growth, market 
development, innovative portfolio strategy, M&A, and 
global product commercialization. In addition to C-suite 
leadership, she has worked with incubating new startup 
businesses through identification of emerging trends 
and unmet needs.

Other board and management positions
•	 Embecta (EMBC): Board member
•	 Nevro (NVRO): Board member
•	 Atricure (ATRC): Board member
•	 Joe DiMaggio Children’s Hospital and Memorial 

Hospital Foundation: Board member

Karen Prange holds a B.S. in Business Administration 
with honors from the University of Florida and has 
completed executive education courses at the UCLA 
Anderson School of Business.

Member since 2020

Arne Due-Hansen
Danish
Non-independent 

Born 1962. Arne Due-Hansen is Head of Strategic Owner-
ships at the Lundbeck Foundation, a minority share-
holder in WS Audiology via CN8 A/S. Arne has extensive 
experience in finance and investments, M&A and ECM 
from many years in the financial sector, serving as Head 
of Corporate Finance and Senior Advisor

Other board and management positions
•	 Ellab A/S: Board member 
•	 Ferrosan Medical Devices A/S: Board member
•	 Obel-Lfi Ejendomme A/S: Vice Chair of the Board
•	 Cresco Capital Services A/S: Chair of the Board

Arne Due-Hansen holds a Master in Accounting and 
Finance from Copenhagen Business School

Member since 2024

Julian Tøpholm 
Danish    
Non-Independent  

Born 1975. Julian Tøpholm is a senior advisor at T&W 
Medical and a co-owner of WS Audiology. He has 
previously held senior positions at Widex A/S. Julian 
has in-depth knowledge and understanding of product 
development and innovation in hearing aid development 
and manufacturing. 

Other board and management positions
•	 Board member of T&W Medical (the main investment 

vehicle of the Tøpholm and Westermann families and 
the majority shareholder in WS Audiology)  

Julian Tøpholm holds a M.Sc. in Engineering from Danish 
Technical University (DTU).

Member since 2019
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Executive Board 

Group CEO Group CFO President Region Americas
Jan Makela Marianne Wiinholt Carsten Buhl
Irish Norwegian Danish

With WS Audiology since July 2024 With WS Audiology since 2022 With WS Audiology since 2019

Educational background
•	 Master of engineering, Cambridge University

Educational background
•	 State Authorized Public accountant 
•	 Cand. Merc Aud, Copenhagen Business School

Educational background
•	 Cand Jur, University of Copenhagen
•	 HD (BA) Finance, Copenhagen Business School
•	 HD (BA) Accounting, Copenhagen Business School

Other board and management positions 
•	 Coloplast: Board member and Chair of the Audit 

Committee
•	 Norsk Hydro: Board member and Chair of the Audit 

Committee 

Executive Committee

Jan Christian Makela
Group CEO (Irish)

Marianne Wiinholt
Group CFO (Norwegian)

Carsten Buhl
President Region Americas (Danish)

Maarten Barmentlo
Chief Marketing Officer (Dutch)

Karl Braitberg
Chief Operating Officer (American)

Joerg Brandscheid
Chief Technology Officer (German)

Olivier Chupin
President Region APAC (French)  

Nicolai Jensen
Chief HR Officer (Danish)

Annemarie van Neck
President Region EMEA (Dutch)

Read CVs at WSA.com
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Ownership
distribution

51%49%

CN8 A/S (owned by T&W Medical A/S and  
Lundbeckfond Invest A/S)
EQT VII, VIII and co-investors

Ownership Structure 
WSA is privately owned by CN8 A/S – the jointly 
owned investment company of T&W Medical A/S 
and Lundbeckfond Invest A/S and funds managed 
by EQT. The owners have extensive knowledge of 
the healthcare industry and technology, as well as 
experience in building global market leaders with 
significant value creation opportunities. 

In the financial year 2023/24, WS Audiology A/S 
share capital was increased from EUR 100,000,200 
by EUR 11,269,805 to EUR 111,270,005 by cash 
payment of EUR 500,000,000. The new shares had 
a nominal value of EUR 1 and the subscription 
price was EUR 4,436.63 (rounded) of nominally 
EUR 100 equivalent to a price of EUR 44.3663 
(rounded) per share of nominally EUR 1.

After the capital increase, WS Audiology’s share 
capital is divided into 111,270,005 shares with 
equal voting rights and dividend rights.

Debt and Ratings 
WSA has issued senior secured loans and PIK 
notes from its holding companies Auris Luxem-
bourg III S.A. and North Harbour Midco S.a.r.l. 
respectively. The loan structure is the result of 
a refinancing carried out during the year, which 
extended the maturity of the long-term loans by 
3 years to 2029. The Group carries out quarterly 
lender reporting and calls. The holding company 
Auris Luxembourg II is rated by Fitch, S&P and 
Moody's. 

Annual General Meeting and Dividends 
The Board of Directors will not propose the 
payment of dividends at the Annual General 
Meeting. 

Investor Relations 
WSA is committed to maintaining a high level of 
transparency and stability in our communication 
of information deemed relevant to enable debt 
investors and rating agencies to assess its busi-
ness and financial performance and risks. 

Our management and investor relations team 
maintain an active dialogue with debt investors 
and rating agencies through quarterly confer-
ence calls, participation in seminars and investor 
meetings

Investor information

Current ratings (as of September 2024) 

Company Fitch S&P Moody’s
Auris Luxembourg II SA  
(Corporate Family/Issuer)

B 
Stable Outlook

B- 
Positive Outlook

B3 
Stable Outlook

Financial Calendar 

06 February 2025	� Q1 interim results  
presentation 2024/25 

08 May 2025 	� Q2 interim results 
presentation 2024/25 

26 August 2025 	� Q3 interim results 
presentation 2024/25 

20 November 2025 	� Annual results  
presentation 2024/25 

Investor Relations contact
Henning Klemmensen
Head of Group Treasury, Insurance  
& Investor Relations

Tel. +45 44 35 56 00
investor.relations@wsa.com
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Danish Financial Statement Act
Our sustainability statements fulfill the reporting requirements 
regarding overall sustainability performance and specific initiatives 
aimed at increasing diversity in management, as outlined in sections 
99a, 99b, and 99d of the Danish Financial Statements Act. For more 
information, refer to page 37 of this report. 
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General 
Information

Basis for Preparation

The Sustainability Statements on pages 35-97 
cover WSA's reporting on environmental, social, 
and governance (ESG) topics.

The Sustainability Statements also include the 
required statutory report on Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) according to Section 99a of 
the Danish Financial Statements Act. For further 
details, we refer to page 16 for our business 
model, pages 47-55 for climate-related matters, 
pages 66-84 for social and employee matters, 
pages 68-69 and 78 for human rights matters, 
and pages 86-89 on anti-corruption. We refer to 
page 46 for our policies, and pages 47-65 for ESG 
performance and accounting policies.

In accordance with section 99b, statement on 
share of underrepresented gender in senior 
management bodies as well as policies, activities, 
and performance, can be found on page 67. In 
addition, the statutory report required under 
Section 99d, which focuses on data ethics, is avail-
able on page 86.

Our climate-related risks and opportunities in line 
with the recommendations of the Task Force on 
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) are 
elaborated in the section on Climate Change on 
pages 44, 48 and 97. All GHG data (Scope 1-3) are 
reported in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol.

In addition, the Sustainability Statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the Global 
Reporting Initiative Standards (GRI), the princi-
ples of United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), 
and the ISSB requirements.

The data presented in the following statements 
represent our global operations, except for waste 
and health and safety data, which relate to our 
manufacturing sites. Waste data cover Denmark, 
Singapore, China, Poland, Mexico, and the Phil-
ippines. Health and safety data cover Denmark, 
Singapore, China, Poland, and Mexico.

Where data restatement is required, we clearly 
indicate this in the relevant E, S and G sections.

The Sustainability Statements are approved by 
the Board of Directors.
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Preparing for the Corporate Sustainability 
Reporting Directive (CSRD)
As a privately held company, WSA is preparing to meet the 
requirements of the EU CSRD and related European Sustain-
ability Reporting Standards (ESRS) in 2026, with early adop-
tion in reporting for the FY2024/25. Although reporting for 
the current year is not yet fully in line with the requirements 
of the CSRD and ESRS, our Annual Report FY2023/24 has 
provided us with the opportunity to strengthen our perfor-
mance tracking and reporting capabilities across our mate-
rial sustainability areas, in order to meet increasing sustain-
ability reporting requirements. 

This effort was supported by cross-functional collabora-
tion to become CSRD ready. The sustainability team has 
been integrated into WSA's finance organization under the 
leadership of the CFO. Going forward, responsibility for 
ESG accounting and reporting rests with the finance organ-
ization to ensure that our ESG accounting, controlling, and 
reporting are aligned.

We believe that this reporting structure enables us to comply 
with the new EU CSRD and the underlying reporting stand-
ards from the FY2024/25.

In preparation for the CSRD, we took the following actions 
this fiscal year:

•	 Assigned owners for each ESRS to assess maturity and 
identify gaps.

•	 Developed reporting manual for reportable metrics.
•	 Strengthened internal controls to support assurance 

of our reporting, leveraging our financial reporting 
capabilities.

•	 Implemented an IT platform for data collection to improve 
sustainability disclosure and reporting, and initiated 
training for key stakeholders on its use.

•	 Engaged with peer companies to address common 
challenges in preparing for the CSRD.

Our Sustainability Approach

At WSA, our sustainability agenda is embodied 
in our purpose – to deliver Wonderful Sound for 
All and improve people's health, well-being, and 
quality of life. It is integrated with our strategic 
ambition to become a true leader by transforming 
lives across all markets, channels, and price 
points. Our purpose guides our decisions, unifies 
our people and drives our innovation and efforts 
to be a sustainable company that protects the 
planet for future generations.

WSA provides innovative hearing aids and 
solutions for the benefit of millions of people. 
Increasing awareness, expanding access, and 
tackling affordability are central to our purpose 
and strategic ambitions. We have set long-term 
goals around these priorities, demonstrating our 
commitment to making a positive difference in 
the lives of our customers and communities.

At WSA, we also recognize our role in raising the 
standards of responsible business. We are aware 
of the current and likely impact (risks) we have 
and may have on the environment and people 
and recognize our responsibility to prevent and 
mitigate them. We also understand the oppor-
tunities we have to create more value for all our 
affected stakeholders.

That is why protecting the planet and building a 
Wonderful Place to Work are fundamental pillars 
of our purpose and strategic ambition. We work 
towards clear targets around better employee 
engagement scores, gender diversity, decarbon-
ization, waste reduction, supplier due diligence 
and business conduct.

We firmly believe that true sustainability inte-
grates ESG factors, drives long-term growth and 
leaves meaningful and lasting impacts on society 
and the environment.

 Learn more about our purpose, strategic ambi-
tion and goals on pgs 14-15 

 Learn more about our impacts, risks and 
opportunities on pgs 42-45
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WSA fully supports the UN Global 
Compact Principles, the UN initiative 
to promote ethical business practices. 
The Sustainability Statements in this 
report constitute WSA’s communica-
tion on progress to the United Nations 
Global Compact. As a participant, we 
are committed to observing the global 
compact’s 10 fundamental principles in 
the areas of human rights, labor stand-
ards, environmental protection and 
anti-corruption. These principles guide 
our efforts to ensure that we operate 
responsibly and sustainably and make 
a positive contribution to society and 
the environment while maintaining the 
highest ethical standards.

Sustainability Governance 

The Board of Directors (BoD) bears the ultimate responsibility 
for sustainability within the company. The Sustainability Environ-
mental Steering Committee and the Sustainability Reporting & 
Social Steering Committee, which convene on a quarterly basis, 
report directly to the Executive Committee (EXCO). These Steering 
Committees make operational decisions and provide guidance on 
addressing the impacts, risks and opportunities related to climate 
change, circular economy, human rights, diversity & inclusion, 
governance issues, and compliance with regulatory requirements. 
The Environmental Steering Committee is chaired by the Regional 
President EMEA and includes the Chief Operating Officer (COO), 
Chief Technology Officer (CTO), and VP of Solution Management. 
The Sustainability Reporting & Social Steering Committee is chaired 
by the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and includes the Chief Human 
Resources Officer (CHRO), Regional President APAC, and VP of 
Corporate Communications.

The Sustainability Team is responsible for developing and imple-
menting WSA's sustainability strategy, ensuring collaboration with 
the necessary internal and external stakeholders. 

Remuneration
We design the remuneration of our senior management to motivate 
sustained growth and align with the long-term performance of the 
Group. The compensation package includes components linked 
to annual performance targets, encompassing material risks and 
sustainability outcomes. For our broader employee base, we link 
sustainability performance directly to Short-term Incentives (STI) 
through a set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). These KPIs 
focus on our most material sustainability topics, such as increasing 
the use of renewable electricity, reducing waste, and improving 
the accessibility of hearing aids. This structure ensures that all 
employees are incentivized to contribute to our sustainability goals, 
reinforcing our commitment to integrate sustainable practices at all 
levels of the organization.

WSA participates in several 
sustainability indices including 
the S&P Corporate Sustainability 
Assessment and Sustainalytics.

LEARN MORE ABOUT OUR ESG RATINGS ON OUR WEBSITE

Shareholders

Board of Directors

Executive Committee

Sustainability  
Environmental Steering 

Committee

Sustainability  
Reporting & Social Steering 

Committee
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Material Topics 

The concept of dual materiality requires a com
prehensive approach to defining, acting on and 
reporting on topics where WSA has a material 
impact on the environment and society, as well as 
issues that present significant risks or opportuni-
ties for our business. 

In 2023, we conducted our second double materi-
ality assessment (DMA) in three phases to iden-
tify our material topics:

•	 Identification and consolidation.
•	 Prioritization from impact materiality and 

financial materiality perspectives.
•	 Concluding and finalizing material topics.

The DMA process entailed identifying and 
assessing the material impacts that WSA has on 
people and the environment (known as impact 
materiality) and the material risks and oppor-
tunities that various ESG topics present to our 
business (known as financial materiality). These 
material impacts, risks and opportunities were 
organized into 14 material topics, which were 
then subsequently consolidated into eight over
arching areas.

We intend to refine our DMA methodology and 
assessment in 2025, considering the insights 
gained from our initial assessment and the final 
and published ESRS, including implementation 
guides issued by EFRAG. We look forward to 
incorporating the results of this refinement 
into our future CSRD-compliant reports. WSA 
will continue to monitor, manage and report on 
issues that are material to us.

Material topics resulting from 2023 DMA Grouping our material topics Page

Climate change 

Product safety 

Innovation, production, design, and research 

Waste management 

Circular economy and clean production 

Employee experience 

Diversity, equality, inclusion, and culture 

Supplier due diligence 

Customer satisfaction 

Awareness 

Affordability 

Accessibility 

Business ethics and governance 

Cybersecurity and data privacy 

Climate change	  47-55

Pollution	  56-57

Resource use and circular economy	  58-65

Own workforce	  66-76

�Workers in the value chain	  77-78

�Consumers and end-users	  79-81

Awareness, Accessibility and Affordability	  82-84

�Business conduct	  85-89

Grouping 14 material topics into eight overarching areas
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Our Stakeholders

Engaging with WSA's stakeholders is critical to 
understanding their expectations, the impor-
tance of various issues, and how WSA impacts 

them. We engage with our stakeholders on a 
regular basis. These relationships are critical to 
our business and enable us to grow in an inclusive 
and resilient way. WSA is committed to ethical 
and transparent practices that seek shared 
understanding and integrity in all decisions.

During the DMA process, we conducted online 
and face-to-face interviews with employees, 
customers, suppliers, owners and investors 
and the management team, through which we 
mapped our material topics from impact and 
financial materiality perspectives.

The materiality exercise highlighted the key topics 
of concern to our stakeholders. We continue to 
monitor topics that are not defined as material 
but may become more important in the future.

Employees Suppliers Consumers/End-users Customers Investors/Owners

Importance  
to WSA

Employees are our most valuable 
asset. We focus our efforts on 
shaping the workplace culture, 
updating policy, and supporting 
individual development initiatives 
through their perceptions, experi-
ences, and contributions.

We build transparent and ethical rela-
tionships with our suppliers, acknowl-
edging their critical role in creating 
a resilient and collaborative supply 
chain ecosystem based on mutual 
dependence and shared values.

We are committed to bringing 
'Wonderful Sound for All'. Our efforts 
to help millions of people regain 
and enjoy the miracle of hearing by 
designing and manufacturing inno-
vative hearing devices and solutions 
shape everything we do.

We cultivate strong relationships with 
our customers and ensure our prod-
ucts are safe to use, reliable and meet 
their expectations. We work closely 
with our customers to improve our 
offerings and our customer-centric 
approach to our operations.

We understand that investor trust 
and confidence is key to our busi-
ness success. Their support provides 
the financial stability and strategic 
guidance necessary for our continued 
growth and innovation.

How we 
engage our 
stakeholders

•	 Surveys and workplace assess-
ments

•	 Diversity, Equity and Inclusion 
Council and Network

•	 Continuous performance discus-
sions

•	 Strategic internal communication 
through corporate intranet and 
town hall meetings

•	 Health and safety trainings and 
initiatives

•	 Materiality assessment
•	 Social media

•	 Supplier due diligence
•	 Dialogues on ESG performance

•	 Social media
•	 Brand websites
•	 Email communication
•	 Digital advertising
•	 Customer surveys and feedback 

forms
•	 Customer service
•	 Community events
•	 Focus groups

•	 Customer support and guidance
•	 Launch events
•	 Training events
•	 Periodic reviews
•	 Business partner due diligence
•	 Materiality assessment
•	 Company visits
•	 Dialogue sessions

•	 ESG ratings
•	 Investor calls, questionnaires, and 

emails
•	 Periodic investor updates
•	 Materiality assessment
•	 Direct dialogues
•	 Board meetings

Topics of 
concern

•	 Employee well-being
•	 Employee development
•	 Customer satisfaction
•	 Product safety

•	 Product safety 
•	 Supply chain and due diligence

•	 Innovation, product design and research
•	 Climate action
•	 Circular economy and clean production
•	 Human rights & labor rights
•	 Product safety
•	 Supply chain and due diligence

•	 Sustainability and corporate 
governance 

•	 Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
•	 Climate action
•	 Employee engagement
•	 Awareness, affordability, and 

accessibility
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Our Sustainability Value Chain

Positive Impacts:

 A   Awareness, Accessibility and Affordability

 B   Local jobs and educational opportunities 

Negative Impacts:

 C   Use of virgin materials 

 D   Use of very high-concern substances

Opportunities:

 E   Circular business model

Sustainability-related Risks

 F   Climate-related transition and physical risks

 G   Environment-related regulatory changes

 H  � Increased competition for and depletion of 
finite resources

 I   Human rights violations in our operations

 J   Human rights violations in our supply chain

 K   Product quality and safety issues

 L   �Non-compliance with business conduct rules 
and regulations

 
Upstream
Component  
suppliers

Own operations
Manufacturing &  
Assembly

Downstream
Distribution to professionals 
and end-users*

Positive  
impacts:
Negative  
impacts:

Opportunities:

Sustainability- 
related risk:

Our own operations extend into the downstream due to our ownership of 
distribution centers and retail stores.

Our second DMA provided a picture of where in our value chain our positive and negative impacts (I), sustainability-related risks (R) and oppor-
tunities (O) are located. These IROs are reflected along our value chain as sound waves - the higher the amplitude, the greater the impact, risk 
or opportunity.

*Learn more about our downstream activities in our Business Model on pg 16

 A

 B B

 B

Our impacts, risks and opportunities

 C

 D

 E

 H  I F  H  L L  G F  K J
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Impacts and Opportunities

Positive Impacts

Awareness, Accessibility 
and Affordability (AAA)

We focus on increasing public awareness about hearing health through 
educational campaigns and community outreach. We strive to make our 
hearing aids accessible to all by expanding distribution channels and 
partnering with healthcare providers. By offering affordable pricing and 
financial assistance programs, we ensure that everyone can benefit from 
our innovative hearing solutions, thereby helping all people with hearing 
loss better participate in life. 
Time horizon: This impact is current, and we expect it to continue into the 
future.

Local jobs and 
educational 
opportunities 

WSA generates employment and promotes learning programs in the 
communities we operate. We actively invest in local talent by providing 
vocational training, internships, and apprenticeship programs, which equip 
individuals with valuable skills and knowledge. Our focus on continuous 
learning and development not only enhances employee growth but also 
strengthens the local economy.
Time horizon: This impact is current, and we expect it to continue into the 
future.

Negative Impacts

Use of virgin materials 

The use of virgin materials in the manufacturing process of our hearing 
aids can lead to environmental degradation, including resource depletion, 
and increased carbon footprint. The extraction and processing of these 
materials often result in harmful emissions and creation of waste. To 
mitigate these impacts, WSA is committed to exploring sustainable alterna-
tives, maximizing material reuse, and incorporating recycled components 
into our products wherever possible. 
Time horizon: This impact is current, and we expect it to decrease in the 
future.

Use of very high-concern 
substances

The use of substances of very high concern poses health and environ-
mental risks. These chemicals can cause long-term contamination of 
ecosystems and pose immediate risks to human health. We have a dedi-
cated team who scopes these impacts and takes appropriate action to 
manage the substances of very high concern according to legislations.
Time horizon: This impact is current, and we expect to continue into the 
future.

Opportunities

Circular business model

A circular business model is about reusing, repairing, and recycling 
resources to minimize waste and environmental impact. Embracing this 
model allows WSA to improve cost efficiency and drive innovation. We can 
reduce raw material costs and foster new design and manufacturing tech-
niques. This approach also strengthens customer relationships through 
take-back programs, ensuring long-term value and demonstrating our 
commitment to sustainability. We will continue this path to create a resil-
ient, future-proof business.

 A

 B

 C

 D

 E
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Risks
Risk management is key to achieving the desired level of resilience to support the execution of our strategy and future-proof our 
business. We actively manage our risks to deliver on our strategic objectives and ensure sustainable growth. 

Climate-related Transition & Physical Risks
Transition Risk: Costs to transition to 
lower-emissions technology
Investment in research and development (R&D) 
is essential to innovate and develop lower-emis-
sions technologies. Additionally, there will be 
expenses involved in adopting and deploying new 
practices and processes. An increasing number of 
regulations are being enforced, requiring WSA to 
increase R&D expenditures to ensure compliance. 
In certain cases, WSA is mandated to redesign 
existing products, which demands further R&D 
investment.

Mitigating actions
WSA has integrated sustainability into the 
product design process, aiming to support the 
circular economy and reduce the overall GHG 
emissions of our products. Furthermore, WSA 
is closely monitoring upcoming regulations to 
ensure preparedness and compliance.

Transition Risk: Changing customer behavior
As awareness of climate change grows, customer 
and consumer preferences are shifting towards 
low-carbon products and solutions. WSA’s B2B 
customers, especially through public tenders, 
increasingly require the company to offer 
low-carbon solutions to help reduce their scope 
3 emissions and meet their decarbonization 
targets.

Mitigating actions
WSA has established science-based decarboni-
zation targets, which have been validated by the 
Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi). As part of 
this commitment, WSA has successfully reduced 
our emissions from a 2020 base year, primarily 
through the transition to renewable energy. In 
addition, WSA actively engages with its suppliers 
to lower scope 3 emissions and develop innova-
tive low-carbon solutions. To further support its 
customers, WSA provides high-quality emissions 
data based on comprehensive life cycle assess-
ments of its products.

Physical Risk: Increased severity 
of extreme weather events
Extreme weather events, such as heat waves, 
heavy precipitation, flooding, storm surges, rising 
sea levels, hurricanes, water scarcity, droughts, 
landslides, and wildfires, have the potential to 
disrupt WSA's business operations, including 
production facilities, retail stores, and offices. 

Mitigating actions
WSA maintains insurance coverage for damage 
caused by extreme weather in high-risk areas and 
continuously monitors the increasing physical 
risks in various regions.

 F

Environment-related Regulatory Changes
We operate in a highly regulated healthcare tech-
nology industry and our products and services, 
including parts and materials from suppliers, 
are subject to regulations such as Restriction of 
Hazardous Substances (RoHS), and Registration, 
Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of 
Chemicals (REACH). It is expected that new regu-
lations will apply, given the focus on reducing the 
impact on our environment. Failure to comply 
with environmental laws and regulations can 
result in fines and reputational damage. Estab-
lishing processes and resources will increase 
overall costs.

Mitigating actions
WSA is committed to developing new processes 
in a way that aligns with applicable environ-
mental regulations. Our dedicated teams in R&D, 
Quality, and Sustainability are responsible for 
implementing and monitoring evolving regula-
tory changes. Their focus includes continuous 
monitoring and compliance to ensure adherence 
to the latest standards, sustainable design, and 
innovation to drive eco-friendly advancements, 
managing supplier relationships, employee 
training and awareness programs to keep our 
workforce informed, and conducting life cycle 
analyses to assess and minimize environmental 
impacts throughout our processes.

 G
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Increased Competition for and 
Depletion of Finite Resources
As global demand for raw materials continues to 
rise, the availability of essential resources rele-
vant to our product, including precious metals, 
fossil fuels, lithium, and silicon, is declining. This 
scarcity can lead to increased raw material costs, 
supply chain disruptions, and the necessity for 
WSA to develop innovative materials and sustain-
able practices.

Mitigating actions
As we transition from a linear to a circular 
business model, we are focused on optimizing 
resource use, reducing manufacturing waste, and 
incorporating recycled materials into our prod-
ucts and packaging. In line with our commitment 
to a circular economy, we have joined the Ellen 
MacArthur Foundation's Network and initiated a 
research collaboration with the Singapore Univer-
sity of Technology and Design.

Human Rights Violations in our Operations
Despite our best efforts, human rights violations 
may occur in our operations, with higher risks in 
certain countries. These may include excessive 
working hours, discrimination, and unsafe working 
environments. If not managed effectively, they 
could result in legal liabilities, reputational damage, 
and operational disruptions.

Mitigating actions
Audit-trained environmental, health and safety 
(EH&S) officers stationed at our manufacturing 
sites address human rights considerations 
alongside EHS Standards, integrating human 
rights within the core framework of our annual 
internal audit process.

Human Rights Violations in our Supply Chain
As the company grows, our supplier network also 
expands. Some suppliers operate in countries 
with high risks of human rights violation, such 
as excessive working hours and unsafe working 
conditions. This increases the complexity of moni-
toring and ensuring compliance with ethical labor 
standards, which can lead to risks of legal liability, 
reputational damage and business disruption if 
not managed effectively.

Mitigating actions
WSA’s supplier due diligence program identifies 
high-risk suppliers for annual third-party audits. 
In cases of non-compliance, we engage with 
suppliers to implement corrective action plans 
and closely monitor their progress.

Risks – continued

 H  I

 J

Product Quality and Safety Issues 
Our reputation and license to operate depends 
on our compliance with global regulations and 
standards. Maintaining the highest standards of 
safety and performance is not only a regulatory 
obligation but also a critical component of our 
commitment to our customers and our business 
success. Ensuring that our hearing aids are safe 
to use and function well is critical to the longevity 
of our business. Defects or malfunctions can have 
a negative impact on sales, profits, and market 
position, and may result in expensive recalls. 

Mitigating actions
Our strong legacy in quality management 
is supported by a robust, multi-site Quality 
Management System (QMS), certified by TÜV SÜD 
for ISO 13485, the EU Medical Device Directive 
(MDD), and the Medical Device Regulation (MDR). 
Regular internal and external audits ensure we 
meet stringent regulatory standards and main-
tain our license to sell. We also have a dedicated 
program to enhance product quality, delivery, 
and customer service, with continuous feed-
back loops for improvement. Health and safety 
impacts are assessed throughout product devel-
opment and post-market processes. 

Non-compliance with Business 
Conduct Rules and Regulations
In regions where legal enforcement is less strin-
gent, there is an increased risk of non-compliance 
with business conduct rules. This includes patient 
safety, anti-bribery, healthcare compliance, privacy, 
data protection, and new ESG disclosure and due 
diligence requirements. Compliance risk includes 
payments to third parties, agents, and consultants, 
as well as the acceptance of gifts, which may be 
customary locally.

The digitization of WSA’s services, including 
personal data processing, underscores the 
importance of adhering to privacy and data 
protection laws. Failure to comply with business 
conduct rules and regulations has a direct impact 
on our license to operate. The consequences 
of non-compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements can include legal penalties, reputa-
tional damage, costs associated with rectification, 
increased scrutiny from regulators, and potential 
bans.

Mitigating actions
We have established policies and procedures 
that reinforce adherence to our Code of Conduct. 
In addition, we have our Global Data Protection 
Policy, local policies and procedures that all 
employees worldwide must follow. Our policies 
reflect our commitment to fair and transparent 
information practices. We stay ahead of disclo-
sure legislation and take early steps to implement 
key regulations to prepare for future sustaina-
bility reporting requirements.

 L K
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WSA’s sustainability efforts are guided by corpo-
rate-level policies that outline our ambitions, 
commitments, and management approach.

These policies provide a structured framework 
for addressing ESG issues that are material to us, 
ensuring that sustainability is embedded in all 
aspects of our business operations.

The scope of these policies covers different 
dimensions of our value chain. Developed at the 
Group level, these policies ensure that subsidi-
aries in different regions adhere to the same core 
principles, despite different local regulations. 

To ensure effective implementation, relevant 
policies are translated into different languages 

and made available on our webpage. Training on 
the policies is provided to relevant employees via 
eCampus, our central learning and development 
hub. 

Affected stakeholders 

Policy
Consumers / 

end-users Customers Employees
Investors / 

Owners Suppliers Accountability

Anti-money Laundering Policy Head of Legal

Antitrust Compliance Policy Head of Legal

WSA Code of Conduct CEO

Code of Conduct for Suppliers COO

Conflict of Interest Policy Head of Legal

Data Ethics Policy CEO

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy CHRO

Environmental Health & Safety Policy CEO

Gifts & Hospitality Policy Head of Legal

Global Data Protection Policy Head of Legal

Group Harassment-free Policy CHRO

Human Rights Policy CEO

Quality Policy COO

Tax Policy CFO

Whistleblower Policy Head of Legal

Our Policies
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100%

83%

Environment

Climate Change 
Protecting the planet is one of WSA's six strategic 
pillars. Transitioning to a low-carbon operation is 
part of our commitment to the environment. Tackling 
climate change is critical to the future viability of 
our business. We are working to reduce our carbon 
footprint by using renewable energy, improving 
energy efficiency and minimizing GHG emissions. 
Our commitment to these practices ensures that our 
operations remain environmentally responsible while 
helping us proactively manage climate related risks.

Performance 
FY2023/24

Progress  
towards target Ambition

Scope 1+2 CO2-eq t
(market-based) 5,740 Reduce 50% by 2030  

from 2020 base year (SBTi)

Scope 3 Co2-eq t 318,261 Progress towards target to be shared in  
FY2024/25 after re-baselining.

Reduce 30% by 2030  
from 2021 base year (SBTi)

Share of renewable 
electricity 83% 100% (2025)
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POLICY

Our Environmental, Health & Safety Policy illustrates our commit-
ment to climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation, 
energy efficiency, and renewable energy deployment in our own 
operation and in our value chain according to climate science.

 Learn more about our policies on pg 46

APPROACH

The identification and assessment of climate-related Impacts, Risks 
and Opportunities (IRO) falls under the responsibility of the Sustain-
ability Environmental Steering Committee. Our climate-related IROs 
are assessed as part of our DMA process and based on our overall 
science-based decarbonization targets. 

 Learn more about our DMA on pg 40

Managing Climate-related Risks
To increase the degree of robustness of our climate-
related risk management strategy, transition impacts 
were evaluated following two scenarios from the 
International Energy Agency (IEA), representing a 
1.5-2°C and a business-as-usual pathway. Specifically, 
the Sustainable Development Scenario (SDS) with a 
Net Zero Emissions by 2050 (NZE) supplement and the 
Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS). Physical impacts were 
assessed based on two Shared Socioeconomic Pathway 
(SSP) scenarios by the Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC). SSP1-2.6 for a 1.5-2°C trajectory 
in line with our Science-Based Target ambition, and 
SSP5-8.5 where an increase of 4°C in global tempera-
tures is expected by 2100.

All climate-related transition and physical risks were 
identified through a qualitative assessment involving 
internal subject-matter experts and considered poten-
tial implications in finance, business interruption, miti-
gation time, supply chain impact, and likelihood for our 
company. Each potential risk/opportunity was evalu-
ated considering WSA’s level of preparedness for poten-
tial mitigation/implementation. Possible responses on 
the short, medium, and long term were identified for 
each to set a strategy moving forward. 

 �Learn more about our climate risks on pg 44

WSA acknowledges the negative impacts of our GHG emissions on 
climate change, stemming from both our operations and our value 
chain. Consequently, we have also evaluated our climate-related 
risks and opportunities in accordance with the guidelines set forth 
by the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), 
where three risks are identified. Climate-related opportunities exist 
for WSA but are not material.

 Learn more about our TCFD risks on pg 44

WSA has committed to the Science 
Based Targets initiative (SBTi) and 
successfully aligned our near-term 
targets with the Paris Agreement's 
objective of limiting global warming 
to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. Our decarboni-
zation targets were approved by the Science Based 
Targets initiative on 28th of November 2022. We are 
committed to achieving 100% renewable electricity by 
2025, reducing absolute scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions 
50% by 2030 from a 2020 base year, and reducing abso-
lute scope 3 GHG emissions 30% by 2030 from a 2021 
base year. Along with the targets, we set also clear path 
forward to achieve them.
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ACTIONS

WSA's climate action plan will guide us in achieving our science-
based decarbonization goals. The actions include increasing energy 
efficiency at our manufacturing sites, switching to renewable 
electricity at all our sites, and collaborating with suppliers to decar-
bonize our supply chain.

Energy Efficiency
We conducted comprehensive assessments at our manufacturing 
sites, focusing on production processes, machinery, infrastructure, 
and utility consumption to identify inefficiencies and conservation 
measures.

These energy conservation measures resulted in lower emissions 
and cost savings. A key action we took was replacing machines that 
are not energy efficient at our Singapore manufacturing site. The 
new energy-efficient machines are capable of producing double 
the number of products with the same energy consumption as the 
previous machinery.

In Denmark, we have implemented several measures to reduce 
energy consumption including reducing ventilation operation hours, 
using heat recovery from compressed air for domestic hot water, 
and installing light sensors in the parking basement.

In Mexico, we have reduced unnecessary energy consumption by 
aligning the use of compressed air, lighting, and air conditioning 
systems with actual demand. Additionally, our facility streamlined 
its workforce, leading to decreased operational hours and further 
energy savings.

The ongoing renovation in China incorporates energy conservation 
measures into the plan, ensuring that the upgraded infrastructure 
and systems prioritize energy efficiency. 

As part of our ongoing expansion plan, we have initiated the imple-
mentation of an energy management IT system at our manufac-
turing site in Singapore, with subsequent plans to implement this 
system in our facilities in China and Poland. The energy manage-
ment system allows us to monitor, analyze, and optimize energy 

usage, which could result in energy savings of approximately 
10-20%. We expect the implementation to be completed in 2025, 
after which we will seek to roll out the system to all manufacturing 
sites. 

Transit to Renewable Energy
We are committed to achieving 100% renewable electricity by 2025. 
This year, the share of renewable electricity reached 83%, repre-
senting an increase from 66% in the previous FY. The distribution of 
renewable electricity sources is as follows: 9% from onsite renew-
able energy, 86% from unbundled EACs, and 5% sourced directly 
from utility companies.

We completed the installation of solar panels at our main office 
in Hungary. This office serves as the country office and includes a 
service center, laboratory, silent rooms, and storage areas. The elec-
tricity generated by these panels will be accounted for and assured 
in the next FY. Our wind turbine and solar panels at our location in 
Denmark and solar panels in China continue to generate renewable 
energy on-site. 

We also continue to source renewable electricity directly from solar 
panel-equipped tenanted buildings at our main office in the U.S. 
This year, we introduced a similar setup for our manufacturing site 
in Poland. Electricity generated by the building's solar panels in 
Poland are supplemented by unbundled EACs to cover any addi-
tional grid-sourced electricity. The energy generated by the solar 
panels accounts for 22% of the manufacturing site's total electricity 
consumption. Furthermore, we continue to maintain direct power 
purchase agreements with renewable energy providers for our 
offices in Germany and Switzerland.

Scope 3 Decarbonization through Supplier Engagement
It is not feasible for us to achieve net zero alone. It is crucial that 
we engage our business partners in the value chain in our decar-
bonization efforts. This year, our focus is on our direct suppliers as 
the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from our Scope 3 categories: 
Purchased Goods & Services and Capital Goods account for most of 
our total carbon emissions. 

We prioritized strategic suppliers to be engaged in our Supplier 
Decarbonization Program. These suppliers provide us with critical 
components including electronic manufacturing components, plas-
tics, and packaging. We successfully collected activity data from 12 
of our key suppliers, representing 21% of WSA’s total Scope 3 emis-
sions in the previous year. In the coming years, we will engage with 
more suppliers in order to achieve our 30% Scope 3 reduction goal. 
This year will serve as a pilot phase, during which we gained insights 
and tested new approaches, as we prepare to scale up our supplier 
engagement strategy in our industry.

Some suppliers have adopted the GHG Protocol as their framework 
for accounting for greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. However, 
for most engaged suppliers, GHG accounting represents a new 
approach. Accordingly, our engagement approach was tailored to 
align with the specific maturity level of each supplier. For suppliers 
with Scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions data, we allocated their Scope 1, 2, 
and 3 (upstream) emissions relevant to the goods and services they 
supplied to WSA.

For suppliers who do not account for their Scope 1, 2, and 3 emis-
sions, we collected activity data in line with the GHG Protocol, 
including energy consumption, material input, transportation, and 
waste. We have assisted our suppliers in accounting for their green-
house gas emissions. Additionally, we provided these suppliers with 
GHG accounting training materials and resources.

We are amid introducing a new IT system to assist suppliers in 
learning and accounting for their greenhouse gas emissions. The 
new IT system will enable WSA to engage with a greater number of 
suppliers and track greenhouse gas emissions in our supply chain 
more effectively.

Upon establishing our suppliers' emissions using activity-based 
data, we will focus on identifying key emission hotspots with decar-
bonization potential and supporting suppliers in reducing emissions 
across our value chain. In the coming year, we aim to bring more 
suppliers on board with these efforts and initiate discussions on 
setting their own Science-Based Targets for SBTi approval.

ACTION
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§	Accounting Principles

Total energy consumption related to own operations
Total energy consumption includes fuel, electricity, district 
heating and cooling consumed on sites, and vehicles that 
WSA has operational control over. This year, we collected 
primary data for emissions from 41% of our non-retail sites 
(61 out of 150) and 5% of our retail sites (50 out of 1124). Emis-
sions from 59% of the non-retail sites and 95% of the retail 
sites were calculated based on primary data from other sites.

Estimation methods
Where only partial Total energy consumption related to our own 
operations data is provided for a given reporting year due 
to difficulties with data collection, or data is not provided 
monthly by an external party, an estimation technique is 
applied. Estimations stated below are the responsibility of 
each site manager.
•	� For data provided monthly that does not cover the 1st day 

of the month to the last day of the month, the data shall 
be counted in the month of the ending date of the vendor 
report/invoice.

•	� For data frequency that is not predictable and lower than 
once every month, the data should be divided by a smaller 
unit (e.g., daily consumption) and multiplied to complete a 
monthly consumption.

 
•	� For data that is provided bimonthly, quarterly, tertiarily, or 

annually, the total consumption must be equally divided 
between the number of months covered by the invoicing 
period.

•	� If the last month’s data for the period of interest are not 
received by data collection deadline, the data of the last 
month(s) shall be estimated based on latest available 
month. The difference between the estimation and actual 
data (provided by an external party) shall be compensated 
for in the first month of the next reporting period. 

•	� For sites with consumption data that is not specific to 
the site of interest but to the entire leased facility, an 
estimated consumption can be provided by multiplying 
the electricity purchases for the entire facility by the 
percentage of the floor area that the site occupies.

The primary data collected from the site managers is used as 
a reference to estimate the energy consumption (electricity, 
natural gas, and district heating) for sites where primary data 
is not available. The estimation process involves calculating 
the average monthly energy consumption per square meter 
of a type of site (manufacturing, warehouse, office, or retail) 
in a given country or region and applying this rate to the 
estimated site's floor area.

Total energy consumption from fossil sources
This is calculated by removing the Total energy consumption 
from renewable sources from the Total energy consumption 
related to own operations.

Percentage of fossil sources in total energy consumption
The calculation of the Percentage of fossil sources in total 
energy consumption is done by dividing the Total energy 
consumption from fossil sources by Total energy consumption 
related to own operations and multiplied by 100.

Total energy consumption from renewable sources
Currently, the only energy consumed from renewable sources 
in WSA’s operations is electricity. Renewable electricity 
is sourced from direct power purchase agreements or 
bundled energy attribute certificates (EACs) from utility 
service providers, from purchasing unbundled EACs, or from 
producing electricity on-site (directly from a self-operated 
renewable energy source or from a tenanted building with 
onsite renewable energy operated by the landlord). Checks 
are made to ensure that the authenticity proofs cover the 
required calendar year period.

Energy Consumption Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Total energy consumption related to own operations MWh 46,932 50,411 58,103 50,411 61,051
Total energy consumption from fossil sources MWh 17,953 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Percentage of fossil sources in total energy consumption % 38 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Total energy consumption from renewable sources MWh 28,979 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Consumption of purchased or acquired electricity, heat, steam, and 
cooling from renewable sources MWh 26,273 N/A N/A N/A N/A

METRICS PERFORMANCE

In 2023/24, we successfully reduced our 
Total energy consumption related to our 
own operations by 7%. This was driven by 
a reduction in fuel, electricity, and district 
heating consumption. This decrease was 
driven by two factors: energy efficiency 
initiatives at our main production sites and 
warmer weather conditions, which reduced 
the need for heating. 

We are driving the Consumption of purchased 
or acquired electricity, heat, steam, and cooling 
from renewable sources primarily through our 
ongoing investments in bundled and unbun-
dled energy attribute certificates (EACs). We 
are advancing toward our Science-Based 
Targets initiative (SBTi) goal of 100% renew-
able electricity by the next FY. 

Our manufacturing sites in China, Denmark, 
the Philippines, Poland, Singapore, and 
Mexico now operate on 100% renewable 
electricity. Mexico is our most recent addi-
tion this year. We successfully sourced 
renewable electricity for our manufacturing 
site in Poland directly from the building's 
solar panels. The remaining electricity was 
sourced from the grid with unbundled EACs. 
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§	Accounting Principles 

Consumption of purchased or acquired electricity, heat, 
steam, and cooling from renewable sources
This includes the purchase of electric power typically 
purchased through a direct line connection with a generating 
facility that has a renewable source or that has a market 
instrument that certifies the energy source to be renewable. 
The renewable sources relevant to this metric are listed in the 
accounting principle of the metric Total energy consumption 
from renewable sources, minus Renewable energy production.

Consumption of self-generated non-fuel renewable 
energy
Sites where WSA consumes non-fuel renewable energy that 
is produced from a self-operated renewable energy source, 
such as solar or wind power.

Percentage of renewable sources in total energy 
consumption
The calculation of the percentage of renewable sources is 
done by dividing the Total energy consumption from renewable 
sources by Total energy consumption related to own operations 
and multiplied by 100.

Fuel consumption from crude oil and petroleum products
This includes the consumption of fuels used for compa-
ny-owned or leased vehicles (in uses other than commuting), 
for whose fuel purchase WSA is responsible. Examples 
include diesel and gasoline/petrol.

Fuel consumption from natural gas
This includes on-site stationary combustion of fossil fuel 
burning equipment (e.g., heating boilers) or process-based 
emissions (e.g. back-up electricity generators) in sites that 
are owned or controlled by WSA directly.

Consumption of purchased or acquired electricity, heat, 
steam, or cooling from fossil sources
This includes the purchase of electric power, district heating, 
and cooling. Heating and cooling are typically purchased 
through a direct line connection with a generating facility. 
Activity data can be documented through consumption 
invoices, or if heating is purchased directly through fuels 
such as natural gas, it should be reported in Scope 1. This 
metric is calculated by subtracting Consumption of purchased 
or acquired electricity, heat, steam, and cooling from renewable 

sources from Consumption of purchased or acquired electricity, 
heat, and cooling from fossil sources.

Renewable energy production
The calculation of renewable energy production that is 
self-operated on-site using solar panels and wind turbines. 
Production of renewable energy that is self-operated is 
currently being done in WSA sites include: Denmark, China, 
and Hungary.

Share of renewable electricity
This is calculated as renewable electricity consumption 
divided by total electricity consumption. Renewable elec-
tricity can be acquired via differentiated electricity products 
from the utility or electricity supplier, by contracting directly 
with a renewable energy generator, by purchasing unbun-
dled renewable energy certificates (EACs), or by producing 
(directly from self-operated renewable energy source or from 
tenanted building with onsite renewable energy operated by 
the landlord). Checks are made to ensure that the authen-
ticity proofs cover the required calendar year period.

PERFORMANCE  

Our solar park and wind turbine in Lynge 
generated 2,473 MWh, a 9% increase from 
last year. Our solar panels at our Suzhou, 
China, factory generated 233 MWh, up 2% 
from last year. 

This year, we installed solar panels at our 
Hungarian office, and they will be fully 
integrated next year. 

In instances where on-site renewable 
energy is unavailable, such as at our 
Singapore factory and smaller offices, we 
procure unbundled EACs.

This year, our Share of renewable electricity 
rose by 17%, reaching 83%. This reflects our 
commitment to renewable electricity as we 
near our 2025 target of 100%. 

Energy Consumption Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Consumption of self-generated non-fuel renewable energy MWh 2,706 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Percentage of renewable sources in total energy consumption % 62 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Fuel consumption from crude oil and petroleum products MWh 5,336 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Fuel consumption from natural gas MWh 5,418 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Consumption of purchased or acquired electricity, heat, steam, and 
cooling from fossil sources MWh 7,002 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Renewable energy production MWh 2,706 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Share of renewable electricity % 83 66 41 23 16

METRICS
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GHG Scope Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Gross Scope 1 GHG emissions CO2-eq t 2,673 3,066 4,402 3,764 6,940
Gross location-based Scope 2 GHG emissions CO2-eq t 11,294 11,541 12,357 12,066 13,335
Gross market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions CO2-eq t 3,067 4,927 7,703 11,094 13,372
Gross Scope 3 GHG emissions1 CO2-eq t 318,261 389,152 363,723 383,900 463,400
Total GHG emissions, location-based1 CO2-eq t 332,228 403,759 380,482 399,730 483,675
Total GHG emissions, market-based1 CO2-eq t 324,000 397,145 375,828 398,758 483,712
GHG emissions intensity, location-based CO2-eq t/EUR 0.000126 N/A N/A N/A N/A
GHG emissions intensity, market-based CO2-eq t/EUR 0.000123 N/A N/A N/A N/A

§	Accounting Principles

Gross Scope 1 GHG emissions
Emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by WSA 
directly. Activities include those related to fuel consumption 
and fugitive emissions associated with the use of HVAC equip-
ment. The activity data is multiplied by the corresponding 
emission factor (EF) through the CEMAsys platform, a sustain-
ability software solutions provider https://portal.cemasys.
com/. Fuel-specific EFs for CO2, CH4, N2O are used for all sites 
worldwide using Department for Environment, Food & Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA) CO2 Emissions from the Fuel Combustion 
and Refrigerants dataset. An exception is done for emissions 
from mobile combustion in Australia for diesel consumption, 
where the EFs from the Australian Government Department 
of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources were used, and for 
the US, where the EFs from the U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) Emission Factors Hub were used.

Gross location-based Scope 2 GHG emissions
Emissions associated with the consumption of purchased or 
acquired electricity, heat, steam, heating and cooling related 
to own operations. The activity data is multiplied by the corre-
sponding emission factor (specific for each type of activity 
data) through the CEMAsys platform, a sustainability software 
solutions provider, as defined in the GHG Reporting Protocol. 

Following the Scope 2 guidance from the GHG Protocol, WSA 
uses the national or regional emission factors defined by the 
following methods in each relative geography where WSA 
operates:
•	 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 

CO2 Emissions from district heating
•	 US sites: US EPA Emissions & Generation Resource Inte-

grated Database (eGRID)
•	 For UK sites: Department for Environment, Food & Rural 

Affairs (DEFRA) conversion factors
•	 For remaining countries: International Energy Agency 

(IEA) Emissions Factors database

Gross market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions
Market-based emission factors relate specifically to the carbon 
intensity of the electricity procured. Where available, the 
supplier-specific emission factors are used for the specific 
sites, otherwise, following GHG protocol hierarchy, residual 
mix emission factors followed by location-based EFs were 
used according to availability. Market-based emissions factors 
for the reporting year were collected along with supporting 
evidence (such as Energy Attribute Certificates, supplier 
invoices, etc.) and added into the CEMAsys platform, a sustain-
ability software solutions provider. The data and supporting 

evidence are checked against quality criteria as described in 
the GHG Protocol Standard requirements for Scope 2 reporting.

Gross Scope 3 GHG emissions
Refers to all indirect emissions (not included in scope 2) that 
occur in the value chain of WSA, including both upstream and 
downstream emissions. All categories of Scope 3 emis-
sions were assessed, but only those within the operational 
boundaries were included. The accounting of Gross Scope 3 
GHG emissions includes various approaches for each category. 
Both activity and spend data across the categories are input 
into an external accounting software which has a consoli-
dated database of emission factors to convert the input data 
into emissions. 

The following Scope 3 categories were excluded as they were 
assessed to be not part of the operational boundaries:
•	 Processing of sold products
•	 Downstream leased assets
•	 Franchises
•	 Investments

PERFORMANCE  

Gross Scope 1 GHG emissions decreased by 
13% because of a reduction in natural gas 
use across various initiatives. Our manu-
facturing site in Poland has decreased its 
dependency on natural gas for heating by 
transitioning to electrical heating, in addi-
tion to other initiatives aimed at optimizing 
energy utilization. 

Gross market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions 
decreased by 38%, reflecting our continued 
investment in both bundled and unbundled 
EACs. Gross location-based Scope 2 GHG 
emissions also decreased by 2%, reflecting 
an overall reduction in electricity and 
district heating consumption. 

METRICS

1 Due to a change in methodology, current year figures are not directly comparable to prior periods.
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§	Accounting Principles

Total GHG emissions location based
Includes the sum of Gross Scope 1 GHG emissions, Gross 
location-based Scope 2 GHG emissions, and Gross Scope 3 
GHG emissions. Due to the nature of WSA’s operation, only 
three greenhouse gases are considered to be released in 
significant quantifies for tracking: CO2, CH4, and N2O. Global 
warming potentials (GWPs) are taken from the Intergovern-
mental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) IPCC Fifth Assess-
ment Report (AR5) using 100-year values. For the current 
inventory the following values are used: CO2 GWP = 1, CH4 
GWP = 28, N2O GWP = 265.

Total GHG emissions market-based
Includes the sum of Gross Scope 1 GHG emissions, Gross 
market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions, and Gross Scope 3 GHG 
emissions.

GHG emissions intensity, location-based  
(Total GHG emissions per net revenue)
Refers to the Total GHG emissions, location-based produced 
by WSA in relation to its Net revenue. To calculate the inten-

sity, divide the total GHG emissions, market-based by the Net 
revenue to obtain the GHG emissions intensity, location-based.

GHG emissions intensity, market-based  
(Total GHG emissions per net revenue)
Refers to the Total GHG emissions, market-based produced 
by WSA in relation to its Net revenue in EUR. To calculate 
this, divide the Total GHG emissions, market-based by the Net 
revenue in EUR.

Percentage of contractual instruments, Scope 2 GHG 
emissions
Divide the energy consumption of activities covered by 
contractual instruments (unbundled and bundled EACs, 
or direct power purchase agreements) by the total energy 
consumption of all activities defined under Scope 2 emis-
sions. As the GHG Protocol, SBTi, and RE100 do not have an 
official vintage limit of the EACs, WSA refers to the Green-e® 
standard when allocating the unbundled RECs that are 
procured. The Green-e® standard has a 21-month vintage 
requirement which RE100 recommends as a reasonable 
practice. The requirement states that a given twelve-month 

reporting period of electricity consumption can use vintages 
of renewable electricity from the six months before the 
reporting period, the twelve months of the reporting period, 
or the three months after the reporting period.

Percentage of contractual instruments used for sale and 
purchase of energy bundled with attributes about energy 
generation in relation to Scope 2 GHG emissions
Divide the energy consumption of activities covered by 
bundled EACs or direct power purchase agreements by the 
total energy consumption of all activities defined under 
Scope 2 emissions.

Percentage of contractual instruments used for sale and 
purchase of unbundled energy attribute claims in relation 
to Scope 2 GHG emissions
Divide the energy consumption of activities covered by 
unbundled EACs (renewable energy certificates) by the total 
energy consumption of all activities defined under Scope 2 
emissions.

GHG Scope Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Percentage of contractual instruments, Scope 2 GHG emissions % 73 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Percentage of contractual instruments used for sale and purchase of 
energy bundled with attributes about energy generation in relation to 
Scope 2 GHG emissions % 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Percentage of contractual instruments used for sale and purchase of 
unbundled energy attribute claims in relation to Scope 2 GHG emissions % 70 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Percentage of GHG Scope 3 calculated using primary data % 29 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Net revenue EURm 2,637 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Net revenue used to calculate GHG intensity EURm 2,637 N/A N/A N/A N/A

PERFORMANCE  

Most of our energy consumption, which 
contributes to Gross market-based Scope 2 
GHG emissions, is covered by contractual 
instruments. Of the 73% of energy covered, 
3% is sourced from bundled energy 
attribute certificates (EACs) and 70% 
from unbundled EACs. To further secure 
our 100% renewable electricity target 
and reduce reliance on unbundled EACs, 
we have initiated direct power purchase 
agreements (PPAs) with utility service 
providers that supply renewable energy. 
This approach allows us to maintain our 
renewable electricity commitment in a 
more sustainable and efficient manner. 

This year, we expanded our renewable 
electricity coverage to 26 countries, under-
scoring our dedication to sustainable 
energy use across our global operations.

While our SBTi 2030 target is based on 
absolute emissions, we believe that emis-
sions intensity remains a valuable key 
metric. Monitoring intensity enables us 
to normalize emissions in relation to our 
organic growth, providing a crucial indi-
cator for tracking decarbonization progress 
over time.

METRICS
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Scope 3 Categories Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22

Purchased goods and services1 CO2-eq t  233,744 291,145 265,960
Capital goods1 CO2-eq t  4,144 2,942 3,499
Fuel- and energy-related activities, not included in scope 1 or scope 21 CO2-eq t  3,308 3,075 3,568
Upstream transportation and distribution1 CO2-eq t  37,173 52,361 57,319
Waste generated in operations1 CO2-eq t  1,819 2,187 3,496
Business travel CO2-eq t  8,412 12,172 6,889
Employee commuting CO2-eq t  21,250 20,400 20,400
Upstream leased assets CO2-eq t  326 N/A N/A
Downstream transportation and distribution1 CO2-eq t  2,148 817 0
Use of sold products CO2-eq t  5,275 3,384 1,971
End-of-life treatment of sold products CO2-eq t  663 669 621

§	Accounting Principles

Percentage of GHG Scope 3 calculated using primary data
WSA considers emissions from sources with company-
specific data that is applied to a company-specific or generic 
emission factor to be primary data, whereas emissions 
from the spend-based approach and from the average data 
approach in category 7 are considered as secondary data.

To obtain the Gross Scope 3 GHG emissions calculated using 
primary data, we deduct the total emissions derived from 
secondary data from the Gross Scope 3 GHG emissions . Emis-
sions calculated using secondary data include those based on 
the spend-based method (in categories 1, 2, 4, 5, and 9) and 
the average data method for category 7. After the Scope 3 
emissions using primary data is calculated, divide the Scope 3 
emissions calculated using primary data by the Gross Scope 3 
GHG emissions and multiply by 100 to get the percentage.

Net revenue
Net revenue is based on the same accounting principles 
related to Net Revenue as presented and described in the 
Financial Statements on page 110.

Net revenue used to calculate GHG intensity
Net revenue is based on the same accounting principles 
related to Net Revenue as presented and described in the 
Financial Statements on page 110.

Purchased goods and services 
Refers to all upstream (cradle-to-gate) emissions of 
purchased goods and services. A hybrid approach of 
spend-based approach, the use of a third-party certified 
life cycle assessment (LCA) data, and supplier primary data 
is adopted in this category. Spend data is received from the 
procurement department and is cleaned to remove any data 
that is to be reported in other categories to prevent double 
counting. The spent amount is then multiplied by the corre-

sponding emission factors from the Exiobase Input-Output 
emission database. LCA data is used only for commodities 
that: 1) are exclusively for hearing aid production, 2) are 
exclusively attributed to the LCA process. Emissions from 
these commodities are calculated by multiplying sold units 
numbers by the LCA process emissions. Two approaches are 
used to collect supplier primary data: supplier level allocation 
method and hybrid method. For suppliers that disclose their 
Scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions, their emissions are apportioned 
based on the percentage of their sales to WSA. Suppliers that 
do not have all 3 scopes are required to submit their Scope 1 
& 2 emissions or energy consumption from operations, % of 
sales, material and weight of products sold, transportation 
and waste data as specified in the GHG Protocol.

Capital goods
Refers to all upstream (cradle-to-gate) emissions of capital 
goods. The spend-based approach, as stated in the Purchased 
Goods & Services category, is adopted in this category.

METRICS PERFORMANCE  

Purchased goods and services represents 
the largest source of our Gross Scope 3 GHG 
emissions, so we must engage suppliers 
to meet our decarbonization targets. This 
year, we started a program to work with 
suppliers on reporting emissions. 

We categorize suppliers based on their 
level of readiness to report their carbon 
footprint. We offer supplementary guid-
ance and collect data from suppliers who 
have not yet reported their Scope 1, 2, and 
3 emissions. We allocate suppliers' emis-
sions based on the percentage of sales to 
WSA. 

Going forward, we will place an emphasis 
on scalability and sustained engagement 
with our key suppliers, with whom we have 
established baselines. This will enable us 
to work towards our SBTi near-term target 
of a 30% reduction. We will also work 
improving the data we have on Employee 
commuting, and on reducing emissions in 
the Transportation and distribution category 
as well as Business travel. 

1 �Past year data will not be comparable to 2023/24 due to 
changes in accounting methodology.
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Fuel- and energy-related activities, not included in Scope 
1 or scope 2 
Refers to all upstream (cradle-to-gate) emissions of 
purchased fuels and energy (from raw material extraction 
up to the point of, but excluding, combustion, including T&D 
losses). Using the average data approach as stated in the 
GHG Protocol – Calculation formula [3.1] Upstream emissions 
of purchased fuel, the well-to-tank and upstream emission 
factors from IEA (2022) and DEFRA (2022) are applied to the 
fuels and electricity consumed in Scope 1 and 2. The emis-
sions calculated are considered primary data as the energy 
consumption is company-specific and segregated by country, 
where an emission factor is available for each location.

Upstream transportation and distribution
Refers to the Scope 1 & 2 emissions of transportation and 
distribution providers that occur during use of vehicles and 
facilities (e.g., from energy use). Spend data and carbon 
emission reports from our key logistics service providers are 
used to account for this category. The carbon reports adopt a 
distance-based method to calculate the emissions. The spend 
data related to logistics & transportation data is divided into 
categories (air, road, rail, and warehousing) based on the 
shares of activities provided in the carbon emission reports, 
and multiplied by the emission factors from US EPA (2020); 
Supply Chain Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors for US Indus-
tries and Commodities.

Waste generated in operations
Refers to the Scope 1 & 2 emissions of waste management 
suppliers that occur during disposal or treatment. The waste 
generated from Denmark, Singapore, Poland, China, the 
Philippines and Mexico are accounted for and the emission 
factors from DEFRA (2022) and Ecoinvent 3.8 are applied 
based on the type of waste and method of disposal. The 
remaining emissions from waste generated in operations is 
calculated by multiplying the spend on the waste vendors 
identified in the spend data to the spend based emission 
factor on waste management from US EPA (2020); Supply 
Chain Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors for US Industries 
and Commodities.

Business travel
Refers to the Scope 1 & 2 emissions of transportation carriers 
that occur during use of vehicles (e.g., from energy use) 
for transportation of employees for business purposes. A 
distance-based and fuel-based approach is adopted in the 
carbon footprint report provided by WSA travel agency. Emis-
sions accounted for includes both flight and accommodation.

Employee commuting
Refers to the Scope 1 & 2 emissions of transportation of 
employees between their homes and their worksites. An 
average-data approach is adopted in this category. The 
emissions are estimated from the total number of employees 
in WSA multiplied by a global average emission factor from 
commuting by an employee. The average emission of an 
employee is estimated at 1,700kgCO2-eq/ year, as referenced 
from the Ecoinvent database (SCLCI 2010). For the purpose of 
calculating emissions from employee commuting, number of 
employees at WSA is estimated as 12,500. 

Upstream leased assets
Refers to Scope 1 & 2 emissions from the operation of leased 
assets that are not already included in Scope 1 & 2. Emissions 
from the electricity consumption from our sites that are not 
under our operational control is included in this category.

Downstream transportation and distribution
Refers to the emissions from transportation and distribu-
tion of sold products in vehicles and facilities not owned or 
controlled by WSA. Emissions associated with warehousing 
operations, as stated in the carbon footprint reports 
provided by the transportation and distribution providers, 
are accounted for in this category. The spend-based 
approach is also adopted in this category to account for 
emissions from warehousing service providers that do not 
provide emissions data. The spent amount is multiplied by 
a warehousing spend-based emission factor from US EPA 
(2020), Supply Chain Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors for US 
Industries and Commodities.

Use of sold products
Refers to the direct use-phase emissions of sold products 
over their expected lifetime (i.e., the Scope 1 and 2 emissions 
of end users that occur from the use of products that directly 
consume energy (fuels or electricity) during use. Sales data 
from our main brands is gathered internally to calculate the 
amount of sold chargers by country. The energy consumed 
during each charger's lifetime is estimated from the LCA 
study, which assumed an average lifetime of 66 months, 
representing an average lifetime of our products of 5.5 years. 
An average monthly consumption is determined based on the 
proportion of Widex and Signia chargers that are sold in each 
country, assuming the devices are charged once every day. 
The average monthly consumption is then multiplied by the 
number of hearing aids sold in each country

End-of-life treatment of sold products
Refers to the Scope 1 & 2 emissions of waste management 
companies that occur during disposal or treatment of sold 
products. Sales data from WSA’s main brands are gathered 
internally to calculate the amount of sold products (hearing 
aids, chargers, and accessories). This information, along with 
packaging weight and composition information, was used to 
calculate for the total weight of our sold products which is 
then multiplied by the corresponding emission factors from 
DEFRA (2022), EPA (2022), and Ecoinvent 3.8.

PERFORMANCE  

We enhanced the accuracy of our Scope 3 
Downstream transportation and distribution 
data by reducing reliance on estimates. 
Now leveraging data from specific trade 
routes, we can better identify opportunities 
to improve supply chain efficiency.

Enhanced data availability regarding waste 
at our manufacturing sites has provided us 
with a clearer understanding of where we 
send our waste and how they are treated. 
Our EH&S team has prioritized recycling 
and reusing of our wastes from our sites 
in Denmark, Singapore, Poland, China, the 
Philippines and Mexico, and are actively 
sourcing credible vendors for sustainable 
waste disposal solutions. 

We are reporting a new Scope 3 category, 
Upstream leased assets, to better capture 
the consumption of electricity not included 
in our Scope 1 and 2 emissions.
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Pollution 
Our commitment to sustainability means that we 
carefully manage materials to reduce environmental 
impact. We address any pollution impacts from our 
operations and products to ensure the safety of our 
employees and customers and to meet regulatory 
standards.

Environment
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POLICY

At WSA, we are committed to minimizing the negative impact of 
substances in our products on people and the environment. This also 
entails reducing and mitigating the use of substances of concern and 
substances of very high concern (SVHC). In accordance with our Envi-
ronmental Health & Safety Policy, we proactively identify, manage, 
and phase out those substances in our products and in the manu-
facturing processes, both within our own operations and across our 
supply chain. 

 Learn more about our policies on pg 46

APPROACH

We recognize that certain substances can pose significant risks to 
human health and the environment. As a medical manufacturing 
company, we adhere to the highest standards of regulatory compli-
ance to ensure that our products, services, and operations comply 
with all applicable rules across different geographies. Our compli-
ance efforts are the result of collaboration between Quality, Sustain-
ability, Procurement, and Legal functions.

Our commitment is reflected in our Quality Management System 
(QMS), certified under ISO 13485, which demonstrates our dedica-
tion to the safety and well-being of our users. This system, along 
with adherence to the European Medical Device Regulation and 
the US FDA Quality System Regulation, enables WSA to consist-
ently achieve compliance across our manufacturing sites in China, 
Denmark, Germany, the U.S., and Singapore. All these sites have 
passed U.S. FDA audit inspections since 2018.

At the forefront of our pollution management efforts are the Product 
Related Environmental Protection (PREP) and EH&S teams who 
spearhead initiatives within the Sustainability function to manage 
and reduce the use of hazardous substances in our products. These 
efforts include substituting harmful chemicals with safer alternatives 
and meeting customer and regulatory requirements. 

Our PREP management system ensures compliance with a range of 
international regulations, including:

•	 EU RoHS Directive 2011/65/EU and EU Amendment 2015/863
•	 EU REACH Regulation EC No. 1907/2006
•	 EU Battery Directive 2006/66/EC and Regulation (EU) No 2019/1020
•	 UN Stockholm Convention and EU Regulation No. 2019/1021 on 

Persistent Organic Pollutants (POP)
•	 Other similar laws, such as USA Proposition 65 and China Volatile 

Organic Compounds (VOC) regulations 

We have implemented a range of preventive and corrective meas-
ures to restrict the use of substances of concern and SVHC in our 
products, with the aim of reducing pollution. For instance, we have 
replaced polyvinyl chloride (PVC) in USB cables with alternative 
materials due to the harmful impact of brominated flame retardants 
found in PVC.

Our commitment also extends to our supply chain, where we work 
closely with suppliers to ensure they meet our rigorous standards. 
Through the PREP management system, we continue to monitor the 
use of SVHCs, work with suppliers to phase them out or maintain 
their use within safe thresholds, in line with EU REACH regulations.

ACTIONS

One of the primary objectives of the PREP initiative this year was to 
guarantee the use of PVC-free USB cables for a pivotal project. PVC 
often contains toxic additives, including phthalate plasticizers and 
heavy metals, which are used to enhance flexibility and durability. 
Such substances may present health risks and have the potential to 
accumulate in the environment, thereby contributing to long-term 
health hazards. We worked with suppliers to successfully source 
PVC-free cables for the project.

Moreover, we ensured that the inks used in packaging and other 
printed materials meet our rigorous safety and environmental 
standards, particularly by reducing the presence of mineral oils. 
While the initial scope was limited to France due to regulatory 
requirements, we have proactively implemented these changes 
across all our global products to maintain high compliance stand-
ards and demonstrate our commitment to reducing the negative 
impacts of our products.
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100%

81%

Resource Use and 
Circular Economy
One of WSA's strategic goals is to transition to a circular 
business model. We do this by enabling circularity by 
design, increasing resource efficiency, and enabling 
reverse logistics. We believe that transitioning to a 
circular business model will help us achieve our other 
strategic goals of expanding access and addressing 
affordability.

Performance 
FY2023/24

Progress  
towards target Ambition

Share of product  
packaging in FSC Paper 81% 100% (2025)

Total waste sent for  
recycling and reuse 80% 80% (2024)

Environment 
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POLICY

WSA is committed to the efficient use of resources and the transi-
tion to a circular business model. This commitment is articulated in 
WSA's Environmental, Health and Safety Policy. This commitment 
motivates us to continually seek better solutions that replace virgin 
materials with recycled materials, divert waste from disposal, miti-
gate the risk of critical material shortages, and capitalize on oppor-
tunities within a circular business model.

 Learn more about our policies on pg 46

APPROACH

The transition to a circular business model is a complex undertaking 
that requires technological and commercial innovation, as well as 
cross-industry collaboration. This is a relatively new topic for WSA 
and our industry. Our strategy is to identify and adopt best practices 
from other industries to accelerate the transition and contribute to 
the transition through research and collaboration.

In 2023, WSA became a member of the Ellen MacArthur Foundation 
Network. The foundation works with industry-leading companies, 
innovators, and governments to promote, develop, and advance the 
circular economy. We are leveraging insights from the network to 
enhance the training of our staff to identify opportunities for inte-
grating new insights into our operational processes. In addition, we 
apply learnings from cross-industry collaborative projects related 
to circular product design to improve our future product offerings. 
To turn our ambitions into action, we must continuously seek new 
knowledge and collaboration opportunities related to circular 
economy practices. 

To this end, WSA is collaborating with the Singapore University 
of Technology and Design (SUTD) on the Industrial Postgrad-
uate Program on Circular Economy. This program will integrate 
our existing efforts with global best practices in the hearing aid 
industry. By leveraging SUTD's expertise in eco-design and sustain-
able logistics, our Ph.D. student is addressing the challenge of 
enabling circularity through product design. 

Circular business 
model at WSA
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ACTIONS

Design for Circularity
Design for circularity is the most important enabling factor for 
circular business model. The environmental impact of any product 
is largely defined during the design phase. This is why at WSA, we 
place a strong emphasis on design for circularity.

This year, we developed a checklist of design strategies focused on 
environmental sustainability to apply to our products. This checklist 
will be used to ensure that our products are designed to be environ-
mentally friendly while promoting circularity. Our future products 
would take a phased approach to aligning with these design strate-
gies that include eco-design elements. We are committed to contin-
uously improving the eco-design performance of new products.

In addition, we have a dedicated team in R&D that is continuously 
testing new ideas to make our products more sustainable. This team 
is also developing sustainable hearing aid concepts that will be 
applied to our next generation of hearing solutions.

Clean Production
The rollout of our SMART LEAN manufacturing program at our 
manufacturing sites in China, Singapore, Mexico and Denmark has 
resulted in enhanced resource efficiency and clean production prac-
tices. This year, we have decreased the amount of waste produced 
per hearing aid in comparison to the previous year.

Our waste management strategy is aligned with the waste hierarchy, 
focusing on waste diversion for reuse. We ask suppliers to collect 
and reuse shipping packaging. Additionally, our integrated waste 
sorting system maximizes recycling efforts. We recycled and reused 
80% of all waste from our manufacturing sites in Denmark, Singa-
pore, China, Poland, the Philippines and Mexico.

Poland serves as a good example for the effective implementation 
of the waste hierarchy. We invested in an industrial shredder and 
diverted 20 tons of confidential paper from incineration to recycling 
annually. Furthermore, our distribution center successfully diverted 

over five tons of non-hazardous waste from incineration, contrib-
uting to 12% of the total non-hazardous waste reuse in Poland. Half 
of this material was sent to another affiliate for reuse, while the rest 
will be reused by a customer.

In Singapore, we introduced EMAT, a monthly production site walk 
led by supervisors and the SMART LEAN Environmental Pillar lead 
team. This initiative identifies deviations from waste management 
standards and implements corrective actions immediately.

Sustainable Materials
Another way we are mitigating our environmental impact is the 
substitution of virgin and non-renewable resources with sustainable 
alternatives.

We have committed to sourcing FSC-certified paper for all our 
product packaging by 2025. This year, 81% of WSA product pack-
aging was sourced from FSC-certified sources. We are making good 
progress towards achieving this goal.

While we have made efforts to reduce the use of plastics in our pack-
aging, we are not yet in a position to eliminate them entirely due to 
the need to comply with a number of quality requirements and local 
regulations. However, we are making progress in this area with the 
introduction of the new Rexton Reach packaging. The design is mini-
malist, and we have reduced single-use packaging by 60%. 
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ACTIONS

Low Impact Usage
At WSA, we are committed to reducing our environmental impact 
across the entire value chain, including helping our users in mini-
mizing their ecological footprint when using our hearing aids.

We are working to make rechargeable hearing solutions more avail-
able. Our lifecycle assessment indicates that rechargeable hearing 
aids have 65% less environmental impact than non-rechargeable 
ones throughout their entire lifecycle.

While our hearing aids are designed to last for a minimum of five 
years, the technological limitations of lithium-ion batteries result in 
a shorter lifespan. Our reverse logistics system addresses this chal-
lenge. This system facilitates the return of hearing aids requiring 
maintenance and repair, which is free of charge during the warranty 
period and available for a limited fee once the warranty expires. This 
year, 97% of the hearing aids we received for repair were success-
fully restored, while the remaining units, deemed beyond repair, 
were responsibly recycled.

Our commitment to sustainability extends beyond product design to 
include comprehensive support systems, ensuring both our prod-
ucts and our practices are environmentally responsible.

End of Current Life
People's hearing abilities change over time, and hearing technology 
is constantly evolving. This often means users need to change to 
new hearing aids before the previous pair has reached the end 
of its operational life. Our objective is to provide support to our 
customers throughout this transition.

Since launching the "Take Back Old Hearing Aids" initiative in 
Australia, we have received over 1,000 hearing aids. Most of these 
devices were still in good working order and were subsequently 
donated to local charities. The remainder were sent back to our 
service center for further analysis.

With the increased sales of rechargeable hearing aids, we have also 
seen a rise in returned chargers. This year, we launched a project 
to analyze these returned chargers to enhance circularity. Insights 
from this analysis are used to improve product design and further 
support circularity efforts.

Engagement and Capacity Building
During Sustainability Week this year, we brought circular economy 
concepts to life for our colleagues in Denmark.

Sustainability Week is a week-long event held every May across our 
global offices. Its purpose is to inspire and empower employees to 
drive meaningful changes in their lives and communities.

One of the highlights this year was the "Future Foresight Workshop," 
hosted in the form of an art exhibition, using insights from the Ellen 
MacArthur Foundation. The workshop transformed our lobby with 
canvases showing signs of the circular transition, sparking conver-
sations about the future. Employees talked with trend experts about 
their ideas for a circular future and how it would affect WSA. This mix 
of thinking, learning, and doing showed how caring for the environ-
ment and society are connected. It helped our colleagues, especially 
those not directly involved in circularity, understand and commit to 
sustainable practices.
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§	Accounting Principles 

Total waste generated
Sum of Hazardous waste and Non-hazardous waste. Waste 
is generally reported based on collection notes, invoices, 
reports from authorized waste vendors or supplemented 
with site-specific measurement. Our waste data includes our 
manufacturing sites – Singapore, Denmark, China, Poland, 
the Philippines and Mexico. WSA adopts the definitions for 
recycle, refurbish, repair and reuse used in the Ellen MacAr-
thur Foundation. 

Non-recycled waste
Sum of Total hazardous waste incl. incineration, landfill and 
other disposal operations and Total non-hazardous waste incl. 
for incineration, landfill and other disposal operation. The 
proportion is taken against Total waste generated.

Hazardous waste
Includes both solid and liquid hazardous waste generated 
at our manufacturing sites in Denmark, Singapore, China, 
Poland, the Philippines and Mexico. Hazardous waste is classi-
fied based on the biological, chemical and physical properties 
of the waste. Information is found on the Safety Data Sheets 
(SDS) and on local environmental legislations. The quantity 
of Hazardous waste is based on the forwarding notes from the 
authorized vendor.

Total hazardous waste incl. incineration, landfill and other 
disposal operations
Sum of Hazardous waste for incineration, Hazardous waste for 
landfilling and Hazardous waste for other disposal operations. 
This amount does not include Total hazardous waste incl. 
preparation for reuse, recycling and other recovery methods.

Hazardous waste for incineration1

Includes antifreeze fluids, gases in pressurized containers, 
paint, inks, adhesives, resins, and discarded organic chem-
icals. The Philippines and Mexico do not have such waste 
fraction.

PERFORMANCE  

Hazardous waste [sent] for incineration 
increased by 10% this year. This fluctuation 
is due to our data collection process, which 
records the weight of our hazardous waste 
such as cooling fluids and chemical waste 
only upon collection by our waste manage-
ment vendor. Collections occur when 
designated collection facilities reach full 
capacity, contributing to periodic variations 
in reported quantities. Some of the waste 
reported in this year have been generated 
in the previous FY but was not collected 
until this current year. We continue to eval-
uate our waste tracking methods to better 
capture ongoing data and enhance our 
waste tracking practices.

Waste Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Total waste generated KG  1,233,917 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Non-recycled waste KG 249,425 N/A N/A N/A N/A

% 20 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Hazardous Waste 

Hazardous waste KG 97,654 97,657 53,268 42,987 33,894
Total hazardous waste incl. incineration, landfill and other disposal 
operations KG 50,670 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Hazardous waste for incineration KG 22,545 20,422 20,883 21,925 N/A
  Hazardous waste for landfilling KG 6,122 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Hazardous waste for other disposal operations KG 22,003 N/A N/A N/A N/A

METRICS

1	 �The historical data for this metric has been updated as we have shifted from reporting this metric as a percentage to providing 
the base figure in kilograms, which represents the raw data before any conversion to percentage.
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§	Accounting Principles

Hazardous waste for landfilling
Includes items such as contaminated Bemcot, used syringes, 
rubber gloves, dirty paper products (sanitary napkins, tissue 
paper), defect LED lamps, light bulbs, used ball pens, markers, 
and face masks. In the Philippines, the waste is weighted by 
employees and handled by vendors. Denmark, Poland, China 
and Singapore do not currently have this waste fraction.

Hazardous waste for other disposal operations
Includes substances such as acetone, batteries, fire extin-
guishers, resin (harpix), fluorescent tubes and bulbs, oil, 
propanol alcohol, nitric acid, and waste oil. Our manufac-
turing sites in Denmark, Singapore, China, Poland, the Philip-
pines and Mexico have this waste fraction.

Total hazardous waste incl. preparation for reuse, 
recycling and other recovery methods
Sum of Hazardous waste for recycling, Hazardous waste for 
reuse, and Hazardous waste for refurbishment/repurposing.

Hazardous waste for recycling
Includes but not limited to oil filters, waste paints and 
varnishes containing organic solvents and other hazardous 
substances, discarded organic chemical waste containing 
dangerous substances, acetone UN1090, fluorescent tubes 
and other mercury containing waste bulbs. China and Singa-
pore do not have this waste fraction. Denmark, Mexico, the 
Philippines and Poland have this waste fraction.

Hazardous waste for reuse
None of our sites currently divert hazardous waste from 
disposal for reuse.

Hazardous waste refurbishment/repurposing
None of our sites currently divert hazardous waste from 
disposal for refurbishment/repurposing. Additionally, we 
do not have information on which types of waste could be 
considered suitable for refurbishment/repurposing.

PERFORMANCE  

We are in the process of identifying waste 
to be categorized as suitable for reuse, 
refurbishment and repurposing. We are 
currently working with vendors and evalu-
ating whether our waste type is suitable for 
this recovery method. At present, none of 
our hazardous waste is graded as reusable 
and able to be refurbished/repurposed. 

Hazardous Waste (Cont'd) Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Total hazardous waste incl. preparation for reuse, recycling and other 
recovery methods KG 46,984 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Hazardous waste for reuse KG 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Hazardous waste for recycling KG 46,984 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Hazardous waste for refurbishment/repurposing KG 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

METRICS
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§	Accounting Principles

Non-hazardous waste
Includes defective hearing aids, paper packaging, waste 
from our manufacturing sites in Denmark, Singapore, China, 
Poland, the Philippines and Mexico, including office waste 
and pallets. Depending on the type of non-hazardous waste in 
question, the quantity is based on the forwarding notes to the 
authorized vendor or weight records kept by WSA. Total weight 
of certain types of non-hazardous waste in China, Singapore, 
Poland and Mexico are estimated based on samples. The 
quantity of non-hazardous waste from the China site has been 
included since 2020/21. 

Total non-hazardous waste incl. incineration, landfill and 
other disposal operations
Sum of Non-hazardous waste for incineration, Non-hazardous 
waste for landfilling, and Non-hazardous waste  
for other disposal operations.

Non-hazardous waste for incineration
Includes mixed packaging waste, filtration materials, masks, 
and gowns, such as plastic-rubber etuis for hearing instru-
ments, pallet stripes, label base tapes, and packing fillers. It 
also comprises office and social living waste that cannot be 
recycled, including waste PPE, polluted tissues, cotton swabs, 
and waste abrasive paper. The Philippines and Mexico do not 
have this waste fraction.

Non-hazardous waste for landfilling
Includes soiled paper, food scrap waste, napkin, paper cup, 
residual waste, common waste, canned waste and porcelain. 
Poland, China and Singapore do not have this waste fraction.

Non-hazardous waste for other disposal operations
Includes but not limited to solvents and solvent mixtures, 
sludges from paint or varnish containing organic solvents 
post construction work, installations, boxes with paint and 
others. China, the Philippines, Singapore and Mexico do not 
have this waste fraction.

PERFORMANCE  

Our Non-hazardous waste increased by 
6% compared to the previous year. The 
increase is attributed to non-hazardous 
waste generated at our China and Poland 
sites. It includes living waste in China that 
was not previously accounted for, and 
outdated user guides and packaging mate-
rial from Poland.

Non-hazardous Waste Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Non-hazardous waste KG   1,136,263  1,071,317 807,416 676,305 549,208
Total non-hazardous waste incl. for incineration, landfill  
and other disposal operation KG 198,755 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Non-hazardous waste for incineration KG 150,346 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Non-hazardous waste for landfilling KG 47,307 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Non-hazardous waste for other disposal operations KG 1,102 N/A N/A N/A N/A

METRICS
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§	Accounting Principles 

Total non-Hazardous waste incl preparation for reuse, 
recycling and other recovery methods
Sum of Non-hazardous waste for reuse, Non-hazardous 
waste for recycling and Non-hazardous waste for refurbish-
ment/repurposing. 

Non-hazardous waste for reuse 
Includes but not limited to polyethylene (PE) plastic, Precious 
metal waste such as Palladium (Pd), Silver (Ag), Platin (Pt) and 
Gold (Au), pallets (wooden and plastic), components reels 
and trays. Only Mexico has this waste fraction.

Non-hazardous waste for recycling1

Includes but not limited to carton boxes from packaging, 
plastics, foils and wrapping foils, paper (office paper, 
shredded paper, user guides & leaflets), wooden pallets 
(incl. damaged), electric and electronic equipment, metals, 
glass packaging e-waste. Our main manufacturing sites in 
Denmark, Singapore, China, Poland, the Philippines and 
Mexico have this waste fraction.

Non-hazardous waste for refurbishment/repurposing
None of our sites currently divert Non-hazardous waste for 
refurbishment/repurposing. Additionally, we do not have infor-

mation on which types of waste could be considered suitable 
for refurbishment/repurposing.

Share of product packaging in FSC paper
Total number of packaging includes user guides, manual, 
leaflets, carton boxes and packaging boxes. Each piece is 
counted as one packaging item. The share is calculated 
based on number of packaging in FSC paper divided by total 
number of packaging.

PERFORMANCE  

The increase in the volume of Non-haz-
ardous waste [sent] for recycling is attributed 
to the activities at our Mexico and Poland 
sites. Mexico has diverted waste from 
landfilling to recycling following a change 
in their waste vendor, while Poland has 
increased the volume of recycled waste 
from its operations and distribution sites.

We achieved good progress in increasing 
the Share of product packaging in FSC paper 
through initiatives including restricting 
new non-FSC packaging, converting 
existing non-FSC packaging to FSC, and 
ensuring our suppliers are FSC-certified. 

Non-hazardous Waste (cont'd) Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Total non-hazardous waste incl. preparation for reuse, recycling and other 
recovery methods KG 937,508 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Non-hazardous waste for reuse KG 58,807 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Non-hazardous waste for recycling KG 878,702 739,599 657,759 404,413 N/A
  Non-hazardous waste for refurbishment/repurposing KG 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Sustainable Materials

Share of product packaging in FSC paper % 81% 60% 47% N/A N/A

METRICS

1 �For this report, the metric previously labeled as 'Non-hazardous waste sent for recycling' has been renamed 'Non-hazardous waste to recycling'. Additionally, we have shifted from reporting this 
metric as a percentage to providing the actual base figures. This change has also been applied to historical data for consistency.
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Own Workforce
The goal of creating a "Wonderful Place to Work" 
is central to our purpose and strategic ambition. 
Prioritizing the well-being, development, and 
engagement of our employees is essential to 
our success. This commitment drives us to foster 
an inclusive, supportive, and innovative work 
environment where employees are empowered, 
motivated, and passionate about contributing to  
the success and growth of WSA.

Social

Performance 
FY2023/24 Ambition

Board of Directors identifying as women 13% 30% (2028)

Underrepresented gender in Executive Committee 22% 30% (2028)

Underrepresented gender in managerial roles 39% 45-50% (2028)

Total employee turnover 18% 12% (2025) 

Total voluntary employee turnover 10% 6% (2025)

Employee engagement 7.9 8 (2025)
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Statement on Share of 
Underrepresented Gender in 
Senior Management Bodies

WSA is committed to fostering gender diversity, particularly 
in leadership roles, as outlined in our Diversity, Equity, and 
Inclusion Policy. Since launching our DEI strategy in 2021, we 
have made incremental progress towards achieving gender 
balance. We have set global targets in our Short-Term Incen-
tive Plan (STI), expanded Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to 
include other identities, and engaged employees in DEI events 
and training. We have used 2023/24 to review the composi-
tion of the Board, with the focus of ensuring that we have the 
right skills portfolio and representation for the next phase 
of our journey. As part of this effort, we have actively sought 
candidates who can further enrich our Board's diversity and 
representation. We remain committed to our ambition of 
having a suitably diverse Board.

FY2023/24

Supreme Governing Body 
(Board of Directors)
Total number of members 8
Underrepresented gender % 13
Target figure in % 30
Target year 2028

Other Management Levels* 
Total number of members 3
Underrepresented gender % 33
Target figure in % N/A
Years of achievement of target figures N/A

* �As the WS Audiology parent company had on average less than 50 
employees in FY2023/24, it is exempt from the requirements in the Danish 
Financial Statement Act §99b to set a target and establish a policy for 
increasing share of underrepresented gender in senior management levels.

POLICY

Our employees are the foundation of our success. We are committed 
to providing a safe, healthy and inclusive work environment that 
fosters both professional growth and well-being. 

To achieve this, we manage our impact on the workforce through 
policies that ensure fair treatment, respect for human rights, and a 
commitment to diversity & inclusion. Our policies, which are aligned 
with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, 
explicitly prohibit forced labor and child labor. They also promote 
fair and equitable working conditions, including fair compensation 
and freedom of association and collective bargaining, that allow 
employees to thrive.

We prohibit all discrimination or harassment and ensure equal oppor-
tunity for all employees, regardless of race, color, religion, national 
origin, gender, sexual orientation, age or disability. This is formalized 
in the WSA Code of Conduct, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy 
and Group Harassment-free Policy. Our actions and targets for 
gender diversity are outlined in the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 
Policy. While the policy applies to all employees, specific targets are 
set for BoD, EXCO, and people managers. 

 Learn more about our policies on pg 46

APPROACH

Health & Safety
Our health and safety standards comply with ISO standard and are 
maintained through our Environment, Health & Safety (EHS) Manage-
ment System at Denmark, Singapore, China, Poland, and Mexico. We 
have a network of local EH&S officers at each manufacturing site, 
guided by the Global EH&S Officer at our Lynge headquarter. In prac-
tice, we reduce safety incidents by regularly evaluating our facilities, 
processes and equipment. We manage incidents, set targets, measure 
progress and conduct regular health and safety training and audits at 
our sites. 

At WSA, we aim for zero accidents and believe that all accidents and 
work-related illnesses are preventable. Our objective is to establish 

a proactive safety culture, learn from our experiences and those 
of our peers, and integrate health and safety into all activities. We 
adhere to international standards and comply with all relevant 
legislation.

To achieve zero accidents, we monitor near-miss reporting and total 
work-related injury rates. The near miss rate provides insight into 
the effectiveness of our safety standards by measuring potential 
incidents, while the injury rate tracks the frequency of lost-time acci-
dents per million hours worked. The results are presented monthly 
to the senior management team and displayed on a company-wide 
dashboard. We utilize data from engagement surveys and health 
and safety committees, including the Psychosocial Risk Indicator, to 
proactively identify high-risk units.

Employee Well-being
We recognize that well-being goes beyond health and safety. We are 
committed to improving the mental well-being of our employees 
and provide comprehensive benefits to support their overall 
well-being. We address workplace stress through management 
programs and promote health through sports and wellness initia-
tives. We offer flexible work schedules, remote work options and 
part-time positions. We provide family benefits including nursing 
facilities and offer paid leave to both primary and non-primary 
caregivers in accordance with country regulations and collective 
bargaining agreements.

Employee Benefits
Our commitment extends to providing immediate support and 
financial assistance to employees facing serious illnesses with the 
goal of a quick and smooth return to work. We provide subsidies for 
hearing aids for our employees and their families, as well as paid 
leave for family, maternity, compassionate, childcare, and caregiving. 
In addition, our standard insurance package includes hospitalization, 
screening and disability coverage, ensuring fair compensation in line 
with local norms. Retirement benefits, including pension plans, are 
part of our comprehensive compensation package and all employees 
are automatically enrolled unless otherwise required by local law.
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Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI)
We firmly believe in creating an inclusive environment that upholds 
the rights and dignity of every individual. To assess the impact of 
our DEI initiatives and track progress, we gather feedback through 
a bi-annual Pulse Survey and utilize the global DEI Dashboard tool 
to generate monthly reports on gender KPIs. Incidents involving 
discrimination, harassment, bullying and other unethical conduct 
could be reported through different reporting channels and the WSA 
Compliance Portal. We highlight our efforts at driving change by 
having a global gender target in our Short-Term Incentive Plan (STI) 
and through the DEI networks with members from our global sites.

Performance and Rewards
Our compensation strategy is designed to support long-term 
growth and is aligned with both the Group's performance and 
sustainability goals. Our compensation structure includes fixed 
salaries and variable components tied to annual performance based 
on financial, sustainability, and strategic metrics. This applies to the 
Board of Directors, senior executives, and some employees. Further-
more, all employees receive compensation packages based on 
market benchmarks relative to their respective job levels. We adhere 
to the Mercer Salary Grading Framework to ensure that our salary 
development is aligned with market conditions and to attract talent.

A structured compensation process is in place to ensure transpar-
ency, with two levels of approval for salary changes in line with the 
four-eyes principle. Salaries for senior executives are approved by 
the Compensation Committee comprising Board members, while 
EXCO salaries are reviewed by the CHRO and the CEO. Additionally, 
performance-based appraisals are utilized for employee growth. 
Our People Dialogue process is an annual, iterative process where 
employees and leaders receive feedback on their performance and 
development gaps in alignment with the company’s objectives.

APPROACH

Employee Experience & Engagement
Engaged employees are fundamental to our values of Pioneering for 
Better Solutions, Passion for Impact and Going Beyond Together. 
They are the driving force behind WSA's success. 

At WSA, we engage our workforce and their representatives to 
understand and address the impacts of our operations. This 
commitment entails regular dialogue and feedback mechanisms to 
ensure their voices are heard and considered in our decision-making 
processes. These include:

•	 Heartbeat Survey – Annual anonymous survey available in 
multiple languages and used to improve various aspects the 
workplace environment including leadership, culture, environ-
ment and general well-being.

•	 Employee Resource Groups – Channels used as means to evaluate 
the effectiveness of our initiatives, monitor progress and identify 
areas for improvement.

•	 European Worker’s Council (EWC) and various local Worker’s 
Council – Ensure employee concerns are addressed, and their 
rights are protected across all our operations.

•	 People Dialogue – Continuous feedback process between 
managers and employees, encouraging a transparent and honest 
assessment of individual impact in the context of the business 
goals 

Developing Talent
We empower our people to pursue developmental opportunities 
through internal and external initiatives. To demonstrate our 
commitment to employee development, we continue to invest 
in offering opportunities like LinkedIn Learning and leadership 
training programs. Our Global Graduate Program is aimed at 
building a pipe of young professionals as the next generation of 
innovators and long-term leaders.

Human Rights
Our human rights approach is designed to identify, mitigate, and 
remediate potential impacts in alignment with International Labour 
Organization (ILO) standards. We identify risks through internal 
assessments and audits carried out by the EH&S team, covering health 
and safety, diversity and equity, and other human rights topics. To 
mitigate these risks, we implement targeted action plans and provide 
training to relevant internal stakeholders. In the event of non-com-
pliance, we take prompt corrective action. This involves conducting 
investigations, engaging with affected stakeholders, and developing 

remediation plans. These plans include detailed action items, time-
frames, and responsible parties to address the identified issues.

We assess the nature and extent of exposure to human rights risk in 
our own operations and supply chain. Salient human rights issues 
are identified based on a human rights assessment conducted by 
external human rights experts. It covers the full scope of WSA’s 
global operations and value chain, from supply chain to sales, 
marketing and distribution. The assessment is based on internal 
and external stakeholder interviews and documentation review. The 
assessment also defines each of the salient human rights issue and 
its implications for WSA. 

 �Learn more about our human rights approach in our supply chain 
on pg 78

Salient Human Rights Issues
Own 

Operations
Supply  
Chain

Occupational health,  
safety and security
Violence and harassment
Non-discrimination and equal 
opportunity
Freedom of association and  
collective bargaining
Forced labor
Working conditions: working hours 
and wages & benefits
Young workers and child labor
Grievance mechanisms and  
access to remedy
Access to healthcare and  
right to science
Responsible marketing and sales
Product quality and safety
Sourcing from conflict-affected and 
high-risk areas
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Our Awards

Aligned to our strategic ambition of creating a Wonderful Place to Work, we 
have made great progress on our Culture Journey, clearly demonstrated by the 
consistent improvement in our engagement score and the Great Place to Work 
accolades received by some of our countries around the world. 

In parallel, the HR function has been reviewing, aligning, and benchmarking 
our people processes and employment practices to ensure that we can attract, 
develop, and engage our colleagues in a meaningful and wonderful way. We 
wanted to validate our progress in this aspect against an international standard. 
For this we have partnered with Top Employers Institute, a certification body 
that accredits companies who demonstrate exceptional people practices, talent 
management, and employment practices.

This year, our locations in Germany, Singapore, and USA, as well as our head-
quarter in Denmark were awarded the Top Employer Seal for 2024. 

To receive the Top Employer Certification, companies must undergo a rigorous 
assessment that evaluates various areas, including talent strategy, workforce 
planning, onboarding, learning and development, performance management, 
compensation and benefits, well-being, engagement and other with defined 
international standards. This award, places us amongst 168 employers in the 
healthcare industry.

We will also continue with the Great Place to Work certificate in our smaller loca-
tions where they do not have the full HR template implemented.

Grievance Channels and Access to Remedy 
WSA is committed to fostering an environment where our employees 
can raise concerns or issues about business ethics and other topics 
without fear of retaliation. Grievances and complaints may be 
reported through our Business Keeper Monitoring System (BKMS) 
portal. Access to remedy is a fundamental aspect of ensuring justice 
and protection for all individuals within the workplace. It allows for 
recourse to be sought in the event of any rights violations, thereby 
promoting a fair and equitable workplace environment. 

 Learn more about our whistleblower system on pg 86

ACTIONS

Human Rights
This year, we enhanced our human rights due diligence program, 
extending its scope to cover our operations. Our EH&S team inte-
grated the Code of Conduct audit into our internal EH&S audit 
process. The newly comprehensive audit now includes health 
and safety, diversity and equity, and other human rights topics, 
reflecting our comprehensive approach to these critical areas.

We also rolled out the first phase of our human rights training to 
relevant site managers representing China, Singapore, Denmark 
and Mexico. To further engage our employees on this topic, we have 
developed a human rights board game, "Conundrum," which is 
used during training and can also be played at employees' leisure. 
A total of six sets were printed and placed at each of our production 
facilities, where there is a higher risk of human rights issues occur-
ring. The game presents a series of human rights-related business 
dilemmas that mirror real-life scenarios employees may encounter 
in their daily work. The objective of the game is to reconcile theo-
retical concepts with real-life applications. The next phase of the 
training program will be implemented for employees in non-produc-
tion roles in countries with a high risk of human rights violations.
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ACTIONS

Inclusive Leadership Culture
Our leaders are a key enabler to unleashing the 
potential of our employees and are at the heart of 
the employee experience.

Our DEI strategy and our values are strongly 
aligned to our purpose of Wonderful Sound for 
All and acts as the anchor for how we develop 
our leaders to create a culture of inclusion and 
belonging where colleagues can thrive.  

This year, we launched WonderfulYOU, our inclu-
sion & belonging initiative which encompasses 
the aims of our DEI strategy to educate, cele-
brate, and create a sense of belonging, empow-
ering our colleagues to thrive in a psychologically 
safe environment. Put simply, the Inclusion & 
Belonging initiative provides a framework that 
builds upon the five-core inclusion and belonging 

mark events that we focus on at WSA: Neurodi-
versity, (Dis)abilities, Gender, Race & Ethnicity, 
LGBTQIA + Pride.

Employer Attractiveness
As we strive to establish ourselves as the clear 
market leader in our industry, we understand the 
importance of a quality and equitable candidate 
experience.  

This meant that after a few years of development, 
we evolved our recruitment and selection prac-
tices to be a more data-driven selection process 
using a competency-based assessment approach. 

Recognizing that as human beings, we all have 
unconscious biases that can be improved, our 
goal is to change these habits when it comes to 
interviewing and standardize our hiring process 
to create greater transparency and fairness. 

Employee Experience & Engagement
Employee engagement is a key indicator for the 
achievement of our overall People and Culture 
aspiration of Creating a Wonderful Place to Work. 
To track the progress of our employee engage-
ment, we rely on the WSA Heartbeat Survey 
- an annual survey of the workplace. This year, 
9,500 employees participated, yielding an 84% 
response rate. The survey concluded with a score 
of 7.9 which reinforces the positive trend on our 
engagement over the past years and puts us in 
the top 25% of the Health Care Equipment and 
Services industry. 

We are pleased to report a positive trend in our 
employee Net Promoter Score (eNPS), with an 
improvement of one point resulting in an eNPS 
of 29. 

7.9
Engagement score

Top 25% of Healthcare - Health 
Care Equipment & Services 
globally according to Workday 
Peakon Employee Voice.

HR Excellence 
WSA’s HR policies and practices impact over 
12,000 employees who directly or indirectly 
impact many people through the work they do 
across our value chain.

We are therefore continuously reviewing our 
practices to limit any negative impact our own 
employees that can have an impact on how they 
perform their roles. 

This year we worked with Top Employer Institute to 
benchmark our people practices against industry 
standards, across our selected sites as a comple-
ment to our ongoing internal audit and assess-
ments. All four of our key sites were awarded the 
Top Employer Seal for 2024 which affirms that our 
practices are of a high standard for our industry.

 At WSA, we believe that diversity 
is our strength and that every 
individual’s unique background 
and experiences contribute to our 
collective success. WonderfulYOU is 
our initiative to acknowledge and 
celebrate the rich tapestry of identities 
among our colleagues” 

NICOLAI  JENSEN, 
Chief Human Resources Officer. 
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ACTIONS

Health and Safety 
Health and safety remain a funda-
mental aspect of our operational 
excellence. This year, we advanced 
our commitment to safety to the next 
level by implementing new measures, 
strengthening our safety culture, 
and driving continuous improvement 
across our Denmark, Mexico, China, 
Poland and Singapore operational 
sites.

Our key global achievements include:

•	 Reduced the number of recordable 
incidents through our Near-Miss 
Campaign.

•	 Successfully trained employees at 
all levels in first aid and fire safety, 
enhancing our workplace safety and 
emergency preparedness.

•	 Established workplace safety 
committees in Denmark, Mexico, 
China, Poland and Singapore 
with the objective of creating 
more streamlined processes for 
employees to raise concerns.

Denmark 
•	 Ensured that all production shifts 

are covered by occupational 
environment representatives, 
thereby guaranteeing access for all 
employees.

•	 Enhanced workplace safety and 
ergonomics through consultations, 
webinars, and exercise materials.

•	 Trained employees in first aid and 
fire safety, enhancing safety and 
emergency preparedness.

China 
•	 Achieved zero-accident and 

ill-health cases.
•	 Established Safety Champions for 

daily inspections.

Mexico  
•	 Developed a near miss manage-

ment system with monthly awards 
for top reports.

•	 Implemented a series of safety 
programs, including those focused 
on emergency response, forklift 
safety, and chemical management.

•	 Prepared for ISO 45001 certifica-
tion.

Poland 
•	 Held monthly Management Review 

meetings to address health and 
safety issues promptly.

•	 Enhanced EHS processes and 
provided training to employees at 
all levels.

Singapore 
•	 Implemented Quick Kaizen and 

One-Point-Lesson on the produc-
tion floor to improve health and 
safety.

•	 Conducted bi-weekly audits by 
specialists and managers to rein-
force safety and environmental 
practices.

•	 Line leaders were appointed as 
Safety Ambassadors to conduct 
pre-shift workplace inspections.
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§	Accounting Principles

Total number of employees 
The total number of employees in the organization, includes 
both part-time and full-time workers. We capture all our 
people data in SuccessFactors as of last day of FY. Employees 
that are not registered in SuccessFactors are excluded.

Employees gender balance1

There are 3 categories under Gender, including Male (M), 
Female (F) and Undefined (U). This is calculated based on our 
workforce number and captured in SuccessFactors as of last 
day of FY. Employees that are not registered in SuccessFac-
tors are excluded.

Total employees by country
Workforce, number of employees by countries with 50 or 
more employees and representing at least 10% of its total 
number of employees. We capture all our people data in 
SuccessFactors as of last day of FY. Employees that are not 
registered in SuccessFactors are excluded.

Gender distribution of FTE1

Includes all full-time workers in the organization. We capture 
all our people data in the SuccessFactors system as of last day 
of FY There are 3 categories under 'Gender', including Male 
(M), Female (F) and Undefined (U). Employees that are not 
registered in SuccessFactors are excluded.

Total employee turnover2

Total number of permanent employees who leave the 
organization within a 12-month period divided by average 
headcount, who have working contracts by the last day of the 
FY. Employees that are not registered in SuccessFactors are 
excluded.

Voluntary employee turnover2

Total number of permanent employees who voluntarily leave 
the organization within a 12-month period divided by average 
headcount of the FY. Permanent employees refer to regular 
employees who have working contracts by the last day of the 
FY. Employees that are not registered in SuccessFactors are 
excluded.

Characteristics of the Undertaking Employees Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Total number of employees Number 12,291 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Employees gender balance
  Female % 58 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Undefined % 0.3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Total employees by country
  Singapore Number 1,192 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  U.S. Number 2,519 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gender distribution of FTE
  Female Number 7,044 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Undefined Number 41 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Total employee turnover Number 2,144 N/A N/A N/A N/A

% 18 25 23 22 19
Voluntary employee turnover % 10 12 13 14 9

PERFORMANCE

Our attrition performance, both volun-
tary and involuntary, has improved over 
last year. By analyzing attrition data 
trends, employee engagement surveys 
and external benchmarks, we took a 
data-driven approach to identifying key 
locations and employee groups with the 
highest turnover. This analysis enabled us 
to develop more effective and targeted 
retention strategies, including the intro-
duction of enhanced learning and devel-
opment programs, employee recognition 
programs, open communication and 
feedback channels, and the establishment 
of employee resource groups.

METRICS

1	 An "undefined" gender indicates that the employee either reported their gender as something other than male or female, or that gender data is unavailable for that employee.
2	 The average headcount for the FY is now used to calculate this metric, replacing the previous method of using the number of employees captured at the end of the FY.
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§	Accounting Principles

Employees covered by collective bargaining agreements
Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) is the written legal 
contract between the employer and the union representing 
the employees. All employee information is on SuccessFac-
tors. The CBA are determined by multiple criteria by local HR 
who are versed in the local employment laws, which includes 
but is not limited by local country CBA, classified based on 
the Job Level of the employee, based on the technical and 
labor work performed, education and others. Percentage 
of employees under collective bargaining agreement in the 
country is calculated by the number of employees under 
Collective Bargaining Agreements in the country divided by 
total number of employees. The data is captured at the end 
of FY. Employees that are not registered in SuccessFactors 
are excluded.

Employees under collective agreements by country
The Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) is the written legal 
contract between the employer and the union representing 
the employees. Countries that have over 50 employees and at 
least 10% of the total number of employees are included in the 
count. The data is captured at the end of FY. Employees that 
are not registered in SuccessFactors are excluded.

Number of total harassment and discrimination cases
Total number of harassment and discrimination cases 
reported through official channels – BKMS portal, Tell-Us mail 
inbox, reports submitted to managers and reports submitted 
to HR or Legal teams. The BKMS system allows for employees 
to select a category that is most applicable – corruption 
& bribery/breach of competition law, money laundering/
embezzlement, Fraud or breach of trust, books and records 

violations/insider trading, violation of data privacy or data 
security provisions, discrimination harassment/bullying, and 
other violations. This allows us to correctly track and classify 
incidents. Our Group Harassment-free Policy is available on 
our internal employee portal and in our website. Employees 
that are not registered in SuccessFactors are excluded.

Employee engagement
Employee engagement score is a computed score based on the 
key drivers of engagement defined by the selected engage-
ment platform. Starting from 2020/21, the employee engage-
ment survey was facilitated by Peakon and based on their 
methodology. The scoring scale is 0-10. The engagement score 
is derived based on the average score of the main engagement 
question – “How likely is it that you would recommend WS 
Audiology as a place to work?” to 100% of the employees.

PERFORMANCE  

In 2023/24, a total of 57 Harassment and 
discrimination cases were reported, of which 
16 were substantiated, and one remains 
under investigation. 

Following a review of our BKMS reporting 
system, we revised the 2022/23 total to 68 
cases from the originally reported 45, as 
23 additional cases were previously unre-
ported due to a system outage. 

Of the 68 cases reported in 2022/23, 2 were 
substantiated within that year, with an 
additional 17 substantiated retrospectively.

Collective Bargaining Coverage and Social Dialogue Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Employees covered by Collective Bargaining Agreements % 14% N/A N/A N/A N/A
Employees under Collective Agreements by country
  Singapore Number 589 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  U.S. Number 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Incidents of Complaints and Severe Human Rights Impacts 

Number of total harassment and discrimination cases Number 57 681 N/A N/A N/A

Employee Engagement 

Employee engagement Number 7.9 7.9 7.6 7.2 65%

METRICS

1 The Number of total harassment and discrimination cases for 2022/23 has been restated from 45 to 68 due to an outage with our BKMS reporting system, which had caused some cases to be omitted.
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§	Accounting Principles

Board of Directors identifying as women
The Board of Directors (BoD) is the highest governance 
body of WS Audiology. The count is based on a document 
prepared by Finance team and shared for commenting by 
individual members of the BoD. This calculation includes 
the percentage of women divided by the total number of 
members in the BoD. 

Board independence
An independent board member is defined as someone 
without any significant financial or personal ties to the 

company that could affect their impartial judgment. We 
consider non-executive members of the BoD as independent 
board members. The number of Board members and inde-
pendent Board members are captured on the last day of the 
FY.

Unique nationality in Executive Committee
The number of unique nationalities among EXCO members. 
The data is captured on SuccessFactors on the last day of the 
FY.  Employees that are not registered in SuccessFactors are 
excluded.

Underrepresented gender in Executive Committee1

This calculation includes the number and percentage of 
female and of the undefined gender in EXCO. The data 
is captured on SuccessFactors on the last day of the FY. 
Employees that are not registered in SuccessFactors are 
excluded.

Diversity Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Board of Directors Number 8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Board of Directors identifying as women
  Female % 13% 20% N/A N/A N/A
Board independence
  Independent % 38% 50% N/A N/A N/A
  Non-independent % 63% 50% N/A N/A N/A
Executive Committee Number 9 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Unique nationalities in Executive Committee Number 7 6 N/A N/A N/A
Underrepresented gender in Executive Committee
  Female % 22% 22% N/A N/A N/A
  Undefined % 0% 0% N/A N/A N/A

PERFORMANCE  

We have used 2023/24 to review the 
composition of the Board, with the inten-
tional focus of ensuring that we have the 
right skills portfolio for the next phase of 
our journey. We remain committed to our 
ambition of having a suitably diverse Board 
and will continue to leverage opportunities 
to achieve this ambition, as they become 
available.

METRICS

1	 An "undefined" gender indicates that the employee either reported their gender as something other than male or female, or that gender data is unavailable for that employee.
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§	Accounting Principles

Underrepresented gender in managerial roles1

Consists of all managers with direct reports. Total percentage of 
female and undefined (people who did not declare their gender 
or have a gender different from female and male among all 
managers with direct reports). The data of employees with 
direct reports is captured on SuccessFactors on the last day of 
the FY.

The percentage of females in managerial roles is defined 
by the number of females with one or more direct reports 
divided by the total number of people in managerial posi-
tions. 

The percentage of undefined gender is the number of unde-
fined gender with one or more direct reports divided by total 
number of people in managerial positions. Employees that 
are not registered in SuccessFactors are excluded.

Employee age
Based on workforce count of employees captured on Success-
Factors on the last day of the FY. Employees that are not 
registered in SuccessFactors are excluded.

Diversity Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Underrepresented gender in managerial roles
  Female % 39 37 39 37 38
  Undefined % 0 1 N/A N/A N/A

Employee age
  Under 30 Number 2,496 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  30 - 50 Number 7,390 N/A N/A N/A N/A
  Above 50 Number 2,405 N/A N/A N/A N/A

PERFORMANCE  

In addition to low attrition rates, we have 
seen an increase in the hiring and promo-
tion of underrepresented gender individ-
uals into managerial roles. This has led to 
an increase in overall diversity in senior 
management positions captured in Under-
represented gender in managerial roles.

METRICS

1  An "undefined" gender indicates that the employee either reported their gender as something other than male or female, or that gender data is unavailable for that employee.
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§	Accounting Principles

Workforce covered by health and safety management 
systems1

The percentage of employees covered under the EHS 
Management System certified under ISO 45001. Calculated as 
the headcount number of employees covered by a certified 
EHS Management System, divided over the total headcount 
of employees at our manufacturing sites, including Denmark, 
Poland, China, Singapore, and Mexico. The headcount 
numbers are captured as of the last day of FY. 

Fatalities1 2

The total number of fatalities of employees and 3rd parties 
resulting from work-related injuries and work-related 
ill-health. The data refers to Denmark, Poland, China, Singa-
pore and Mexico. In case of a fatality, the local EH&S Officer 
will inform the Global EH&S Officer of the circumstances 
surrounding the incident. 

Rate of recordable work-related accidents1

Work-related injuries and fatalities. Data is consolidated 
from Denmark, Singapore, Mexico, China and Poland. Rate of 
recordable work-related accidents is number of recordable 
work-related injuries multiplied by 1,000,000 and divided by 
the number of hours worked. The number of hours worked is 
recorded in HR’s IT system.  

Cases of recordable work-related ill-health of employees1

Work-related ill-health can include acute, recurring, and 
chronic health problems caused or aggravated by work 
conditions or practices. These may include but are not limited 
to musculoskeletal disorders, skin and respiratory diseases, 
malignant cancers, diseases caused by physical agents (e.g., 
noise-induced hearing loss), and mental illnesses (e.g., 
anxiety, stress). Data is consolidated from Denmark, Poland, 
China, Singapore and Mexico by the end of FY. In FY2023/24, 

WSA adopted the OSHA 1904.5 Standard for the determina-
tion of ill-health. 

Employee days lost due to work-related injuries and 
health issues1

The number of days lost due to work-related injuries, 
work-related ill-health and fatalities. The data refers to 
Denmark, Poland, China, Singapore and Mexico and collected 
at the last day of the FY. The information of absence is 
collected via actual leave for Singapore, Denmark and it does 
not include weekends and holidays. For Mexico, Poland and 
China, the absence length is registered based on the deter-
mination from the official social security medical leave note 
including weekends and holidays. 

Health and Safety Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Workforce covered by health and safety management systems % 86 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Fatalities Number 0 0 0 0 0
Rate of recordable work-related accidents Number 0.27 0.53 1.85 1.96 N/A
  Number of recordable work-related accidents Number 2 4 11 11 10
Cases of recordable work-related ill-health of employees Number 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Employee days lost due to work-related injuries and health issues Number 6 N/A N/A N/A N/A

PERFORMANCE  

86% of our workforce is covered by a certi-
fied EHS Management System. Our sites 
in Denmark, Singapore, China and Poland 
have been certified under ISO 45001. The 
Mexico manufacturing site has established 
and successfully implemented an EHS 
Management System and awaits a 3rd 
party certification.

There were zero Fatalities reported this 
year, maintaining our record from previous 
years. 

In 2023/24, we achieved progress in 
strengthening workplace safety across 
the Group. We successfully reduced 
work-related injuries from four incidents 
in the previous year to two and lowered 
our incident rate from 0.53 to 0.27. This 
improvement highlights our commitment 
to creating and maintaining a safe working 
environment for all employees.

The two minor incidents that occurred this 
year at our Singapore site were promptly 
addressed with targeted corrective actions. 
In the first incident, a minor hand injury 
led us to implement enhanced training 
and update our operational instructions to 
prevent recurrence. The second incident 
involved accidental exposure to isopropyl 
alcohol, prompting us to replace the liquid 
solution with wipes to eliminate similar 
risks.

METRICS

1	 �The Philippines manufacturing site is not owned by WSA, but subcontracted to IMI where WSA has no direct employees. All incidents, accidents, ill-health or days lost at the Philippines site are 
reported and handled according to IMI's own processes and local legal requirements.

2	 We have restated this figure to reflect the inclusion of third-party data within our reporting scope. The past years' figures remain at ‘0’ when third parties are considered.
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Workers in the 
Value Chain 
Ensuring fair treatment and well-being of all 
workers involved, from suppliers to distributors, 
is fundamental to our values and success. This 
commitment underscores our dedication to ethical 
practices and the positive impact we strive to make 
throughout the entire lifecycle of our products.

Social
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POLICY

At WSA, we are committed to the prevention, mitigation, and resolu-
tion of actual or potential negative impacts across our entire value 
chain, both upstream and downstream. These impacts include, but 
are not limited to, labor rights, working conditions, health and safety, 
and equal treatment and opportunities. Recognizing our role in 
improving the lives of workers within our supply chain, we proactively 
implement measures to prevent harmful practices and manage risks.

To enhance visibility and accountability throughout our value 
chain, we align with international standards, maintain a robust due 
diligence program, and foster strong partnerships with our stake-
holders. Our Supplier Code of Conduct sets forth clear expectations 
for our suppliers, who are required to sign and adhere to these 
standards. Additionally, our Human Rights Policy addresses critical 
issues such as forced labor and child labor, reaffirming our commit-
ment to eradicating these practices within our value chain.

 Learn more about our policies on pg 46

APPROACH

WSA’s global supply chain involves thousands of suppliers, which 
presents potential sustainability and reputational risks. These risks 
include non-compliance with human and labor rights, occupational 
health and safety standards, and environmental regulations. We 
recognize that mismanagement in these areas can adversely affect 
those involved in our value chain. To address these issues, we 
have established clear expectations, policies, and procedures for 
managing these risks. These policies are designed in accordance 
with the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human 
Rights and in compliance with the requirements of the German 
Supply Chain Due Diligence Act (SCDDA).

Respecting human rights along the supply chain is firmly anchored 
in our Supplier Due Diligence program. Procurement and Sustaina-

bility teams are responsible for implementing necessary measures 
to ensure we have a clear view of our human risks in the supply 
chain.

Our supplier due diligence process begins by establishing clear expec-
tations with our suppliers through our Supplier Code of Conduct. Each 
year, we conduct a risk assessment to identify suppliers at high risk 
of non-compliance based on factors such as country, category and 
spend. High-risk suppliers are audited every two years by third-party 
auditors to ensure adherence to our standards. The audit program 
covers all salient issues identified in our human rights risk assess-
ment, including EHS topics. The audit program follows the standards 
we set in the Supplier Code of Conduct. 

The audit process involves walkabouts, workers' interviews, and 
reviews of documentation. If a non-compliance is identified during 
the audit, suppliers are required to remedy the negative impact by 
stating their correction plans accompanied by an agreed timeframe. 
A remedy is considered effective when it meets our criteria for miti-
gating the identified risk and preventing its recurrence. If partners 
repeatedly fail to comply with or intentionally ignore these plans, we 
reserve the right to terminate the supplier relationship. For contract 
workers on-site, we conduct internal audits to ensure that human 
rights due diligence and other key topics are addressed. These 
audits are conducted by certified auditors from our EH&S team. 

We encourage our stakeholders to raise any concerns or issues they 
may have regarding business ethics, human rights, or labor-related 
rights without fear of retaliation. 

Per EU Batteries Regulations, we conduct surveys to ensure respon-
sible sourcing of critical minerals. We incorporate this into a larger 
process involving a dedicated team whose role is to collect conflict 
mineral reports from suppliers whose supply chains are prone to 
human rights violations. 

Implementation of the 
Supplier Code of Conduct

Supporting Policies:
•	 WSA Code of Conduct
•	 Human Rights Policy
•	 Whistleblower Policy
•	 Environmental Health & Safety Policy
•	 Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy
•	 Group Harassment-free Policy

Processes, Training, and Communication:
•	 In person policy training
•	 Physical human rights board game for all employees
•	 Policies translated in multiple languages
•	 In-person policy training
•	 Supplier Code of Conduct procedures
•	 Supplier compliance assurance procedures
•	 Reporting and investigation of non-compliance cases

ACTIONS

Based on our supplier risk assessment, six suppliers were identified 
for due diligence. Two were audited for compliance with the WSA 
Supplier Code of Conduct, while the other four presented satisfac-
tory audit reports based on Responsible Business Alliance (RBA) 
or Sedex SMETA standards, compatible with our Supplier Code of 
Conduct. While we strive to ensure supplier compliance, we also 
minimize the audit burden on them.

In addition, this year we have expanded our due diligence process to 
include battery suppliers, in accordance with the EU Battery Regu-
lations, which set out the requirements for the sourcing of sensitive 
minerals. Thus far, we have not identified any significant impacts.

Our supplier due diligence process

Onboarding Risk screening Audit Improvement
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Consumers and End-users
At WSA, our goal is to improve people's health, 
well-being and quality of life by striving to unlock 
human potential by making wonderful sound a 
part of everyone's life. Delivering quality products 
and service is critical, and we are committed to 
maintaining the highest standards of safety, 
reliability, and performance, as well as ensuring 
that each product meets stringent regulatory 
requirements.

Social 
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POLICY

It is essential that our medical devices are manufactured to the 
highest standards to ensure patient safety and product efficacy. We 
recognize the importance of providing clear and accurate informa-
tion about our products, which is crucial for both regulatory compli-
ance and consumer trust. We are committed to maintaining compli-
ance with regulations in all jurisdictions where we operate, ensuring 
the production of top-quality products. 

Our established procedures and policies are designed to meet regu-
latory requirements, and we continuously monitor and report on 
our compliance to ensure ongoing adherence. Our multi-site Quality 
Management System (QMS) is certified under ISO 13485, demon-
strating our commitment to maintaining the highest standards of 
quality and safety. This certification guarantees that our processes 
are rigorously controlled and consistently applied, ensuring that our 
products are safe, reliable, and effective.

 Learn more about our policies on pg 46

APPROACH

Our priority will always be product safety and efficacy. To that end, 
we are committed to continuously improving our quality control 
measures to minimize risks. 

WSA adheres to stringent requirements of the EU Medical Device 
Regulation (MDR) (Regulation (EU) 2017/745), which replaced the 
previous Medical Devices Directive (MDD). The MDR introduces 
significant changes, including stricter oversight of manufacturers 
by notified bodies, the requirement for Unique Device Identification 
(UDI) marking, and enhanced post market surveillance activities. 
These changes ensure that our medical devices meet high safety and 
performance standards throughout their lifecycle. Our Designated 
Person Responsible for Regulatory Compliance (PRRC) oversees 
adherence to medical device regulations, ensuring that our products 
consistently meet the required safety and performance standards.

We have dedicated teams that ensure all product information, from 
packaging to instruction manuals, complies with the legal standards 

applicable to our business. These teams ultimately report to the 
Chief Operating Officer.

Our approach also includes proactive measures to remediate any 
negative impacts on consumers or end-users. We provide dedicated 
channels for consumers to access support or lodge complaints:

•	 Consumer Helpdesk serves as a centralized point of contact 
where individuals can seek assistance or report any issues they 
encounter with our products or services.

•	 Compliance Portal, a resource specifically tailored to address 
regulatory compliance matters and ensure adherence to industry 
standards.

Additionally, we are committed to rigorous vigilance reporting 
activities, ensuring that any adverse events or product issues are 
promptly reported to the relevant regulatory authorities. This vigi-
lance is crucial for maintaining the highest standards of safety and 
compliance in the medical device industry. 

In the event of any issues being raised, we conduct investigations, 
ensure transparent communication, and take action to address and 
rectify them. Through these channels, we respond to immediate 
concerns and engage with feedback to continuously improve our 
offerings and processes.

WSA assesses its impact on customers and end-users by tracking 
customer satisfaction using the Net Promoter Score (NPS). In addition 
to partnering and engaging in direct conversations with customers, 
we also monitor complaints and incidents reported to WSA. 

Moreover, our R&D efforts are concentrated on identifying and 
addressing unmet needs, collaborating with healthcare profes-
sionals, and leveraging data analytics to gain insights into consumer 
preferences and market trends. We are committed to enhancing 
our products in line with key consumer value drivers, including 
aesthetics, to reduce stigma, improve ease of use, enhance sound 
quality, and reinforce reliability. Our worldwide team of sales repre-
sentatives and hearing care professionals (HCPs) assist in selling our 

solutions through various channels such as retail, online platforms, 
and managed care. The operational and regulatory departments 
within WSA also aid customers effectively through service and main-
tenance agreements. These teams work in tandem to deliver our 
purpose of Wonderful Sound for All.

To ensure the veracity of marketing claims, we maintain a claim 
management practice that establishes the claim type and required 
data substantiation. Each claim and supporting substantiation is 
listed in an Approved Claims List. Furthermore, each product launch 
is documented with a clinical evaluation. We ensure that the product 
safety manual for each product is included in the package to every 
consumer who purchases our hearing devices.

At WSA, we equip our staff with comprehensive training to effectively 
engage end users of our hearing aids. This includes workshops on 
advanced communication techniques, product knowledge sessions 
to ensure they understand the latest hearing aid features and 
benefits, and empathy training to better connect with customers. We 
also provide hands-on experience with our products and continuous 
professional development opportunities to keep our staff updated 
on industry trends and best practices. This approach ensures our 
team can deliver exceptional customer service, tailored advice, and 
empathetic support to enhance the overall user experience.
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ACTIONS

In 2024, we improved our Net Promoter Score 
(NPS), reflecting an increase in customer satis-
faction. This success is attributed to the efforts 
of our sales representatives, the quality of our 
hearing aids, and our customer service. These 
improvements were seen across all regions, high-
lighting our collective dedication to enhancing 
the customer experience and our commitment to 
excellence.

We also advanced our operational capabilities 
with the implementation of a new Integrated 
Business Planning (IBP) Tool for Demand Plan-
ning and Forecasting. This tool enables us to 
more accurately anticipate customer needs and 
facilitate collaboration across different functions, 
thereby enhancing our efficiency and responsive-
ness.

BICORE B-LI 
Rugged – 
Redefining 
Durability in 
Hearing

At WSA, "quality" is a multifaceted corner-
stone of every product development 
process, encompassing sound quality, 
ease of use, wearing comfort, and product 
lifetime. Addressing the durability aspect, 
we introduced the Rexton BICORE B-LI 
Rugged, a hearing aid that sets a new 
standard for robustness and resilience.

Superior Durability
The Rugged is compact and water-resistant, 
capable of handling immersion for 30 minutes 
at a depth of 2 meters. Its thick housing and 
internal suspension can withstand drops up 
to 2 meters, while a scratch-resistant finish 
maintains its appearance.

Performance in Adverse Conditions
Engineered to perform under tough condi-
tions, the Rugged resists damage from 
sweat, salts, and oils, making it ideal for 
active users.

We continuously strive to enhance our products 
based on key consumer value drivers such as 
aesthetics to reduce stigma, ease of use, sound 
quality, and reliability. These efforts were recog-
nized with several prestigious design awards in 
2024, including the Red Dot Design Award for our 
Signia Silk Charge & Go IX and the German Design 
Award for our Widex SmartRIC.

We recorded zero incidents of non-compli-
ance with regulations and/or voluntary codes 
concerning product and service information and 
labelling.
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58%

75%

70%

Awareness, Affordability, 
Accessibility
More than 1.6 billion people worldwide suffer from 
hearing loss. However, less than 20% of those who 
need treatment are fitted with hearing aids, despite 
the negative impact of hearing loss on individuals 
and society. At WSA, our priority is to break down 
barriers and increase awareness, access and 
affordability.

Social 

Performance 
FY2023/24

Progress  
towards target Ambition

Additional people 
that become 
aware of hearing 
loss through WSA 
online and offline 
screening platforms 2.3m >4 million (2028)

People equipped 
with hearing devices 4.1m >5.5 million (2028)
People equipped 
with affordable 
hearing devices 1.4m >2 million (2028)
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APPROACH

Increase Awareness  
We make people aware of hearing health and to provide hearing 
solutions that meet their individual needs. There is a significant 
unmet need among the millions of people living with hearing loss, 
who are unaware of the hearing health solutions and options that 
could meet their personal needs. Furthermore, there is a social 
stigma attached to wearing hearing aids. To increase awareness, 
it is our belief that the industry has a responsibility to address 
the stigma surrounding hearing health through open and honest 
conversations. Furthermore, we believe that innovative design and 
iconic form factors can help address stigma by making hearing aids 
even more discreet and appealing. We believe that we can make a 
meaningful impact by developing strong, recognizable, and relat-
able consumer-facing brands.

Expand Access
We facilitate access to hearing solutions. There is considerable 
variation in the availability of hearing healthcare infrastructure from 
country to country. In some countries, traveling to see a hearing care 
professional or to pick up a prescribed solution can entail a lengthy 
journey, and, in some cases, it may not be feasible. Globally, only 
about 20% of people with hearing loss receive any kind of hearing 
treatment today. We want to close this gap and make it easy for 
people to get hearing solutions wherever they are.

Tackle Affordability
We make relevant hearing solutions available to all people through 
technology and commercial innovation. In most countries, the 
penetration of hearing health services is very low. A major driver is 
the affordability of hearing health solutions. Public reimbursement 
schemes and insurance play an important role in increasing afforda-
bility. Fortunately, things are moving in the right direction. More 
and more people around the world are becoming insured or eligible 
for reimbursement. However, as a leader in the industry, we need 
to drive change. Through technology and commercial innovation, 
we are making relevant hearing solutions available to more people 
every year.

ACTIONS

Case study: WS Audiology in India – Enhancing 
Awareness and Accessibility
India, with its vast population of 1.4 billion people, presents a unique 
set of challenges and opportunities for hearing care. According to 
the World Health Organization (WHO), approximately 63 million 
Indians are affected by some form of hearing impairment. Despite 
this figure, only 0.5% of those affected have sought help, and within 
this small group, just 10% use hearing aids. This highlights a signif-
icant gap in hearing care and underscores the urgent need for 
increased awareness and intervention.

Our commitment to WSA India has established a strong operational 
presence in India, underscored by the opening of a new Research 
and Development Center in Hyderabad. This center is a testament to 
WSA's commitment to innovation and the cultivation of local talent. 
WSA India has a strong team of over 300 employees across multiple 
functions, including R&D, sales, marketing, and customer service. This 
comprehensive setup enables WSA India to address the diverse needs 
of the Indian market in an effective manner.

One of the core objectives of our operations in India is to raise 
awareness about hearing health and to increase accessibility to 
hearing care services. The team proactively engages with hearing 
care professionals and stakeholders nationwide to gain insight into 
and address the primary concerns related to hearing loss. These 
efforts are reflected in various initiatives, including:

•	 Corporate Social Responsibility Campaigns with Prominent Indian 
Figures: WSA India has formed a partnership with renowned 
Bollywood singer, Anuradha Paudwal, to drive awareness 
campaigns about hearing health. These campaigns aim to educate 
the public about the importance of early detection and interven-
tion for hearing loss.

•	 Hearing Aid Donation Drives: WSA India has conducted numerous 
hearing aid donation drives, providing essential hearing aids to 
those in need. These drives not only offer immediate relief to 
individuals with hearing impairment but also help in promoting 
the use of hearing aids among the broader population.

•	 Educational Programs: In recognition of the lack of awareness 
regarding hearing health, WSA India has initiated educational 
programs to inform the public about the causes, symptoms, 
and solutions for hearing loss. These programs are designed to 
provide clarity on hearing impairment and reduce the stigma 
associated with it.

•	 Training and Development: To address the shortage of trained 
audiologists in India, WSA India invests in training programs and 
continuous professional development initiatives. By developing 
the skills of hearing care professionals, we aim to ensure sustain-
able and scalable improvements in hearing care services across 
the country.

Looking ahead, WSA India plans to expand its reach and accessibility 
through strategic partnerships and an increase in the number of 
clinics it works with. Additionally, we are committed to expanding 
our product range to better serve the diverse needs of the Indian 
population, particularly the rapidly growing elderly demographic. 
By fostering collaborations, driving awareness, and advocating for 
policy changes, we are committed to transforming hearing care in 
India and making a meaningful impact on the well-being of millions 
of Indians.
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§	Accounting Principles

Additional people that become aware of hearing loss 
through WSA online and offline screening platforms
WSA online and offline screening tools capture the number 
of screening tests completed. Each test is counted for one 
person. Number of tests also includes hearing appointments 
performed by WSA own retail and a proxy for Managed Care, 
based on people served with hearing devices, assuming a 
fallout rate of 30%. Fallout rate is based on input from retail 
where we consider conversions of hearing aids tests booked 
(not online) to actual sales.

People equipped with hearing devices
Number of people equipped is calculated based on hearing 
devices sales volume and binaural rate (74%). The binaural 
rate is an assumption based on both our own data from 
fitting software, industry surveys, own retail and feedback 
from customers and if costumer buys one or two hearing 
aids.

People equipped with affordable hearing devices
Number of people equipped in low-cost channels (public, 
managed care, OTC) and with hearing devices offered in the 
Basic price segments across all channels. Basic segment is 
the entry-level segment in the global WS Audiology product 
portfolio. The number is calculated based on hearing devices 
sales volume in the channels, price segments mentioned 
above and binaural rate.

Awareness, Accessibility, and Affordability Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Additional people that become aware of hearing loss  
through WSA online and offline screening platforms Number 2.3 million 1.7 million 1.5 million 1.0  million 0.5 million
People equipped with hearing devices Number 4.1 million 3.8 million 3.5 million 3.1  million 2.2 million
People equipped with affordable hearing devices Number 1.4 million 1.3 million 1.2 million 1.1 million 0.8 million

PERFORMANCE  

2.3 million people became aware of their 
hearing capabilities through WSA’s online 
and offline platforms, reflecting a 35% 
increase this year compared to 2022/23. 
This progress supports our goal of 
reaching 4 million by 2028.

Our brands provided hearing aids to 4.1 
million people, an 8% increase over the 
previous year, aligning us with our 2028 
target of 5.5 million. This growth under-
scores our commitment to making hearing 
aids accessible to more people.

Additionally, the number of people 
equipped with affordable hearing aids 
grew by 8%, supported by our low-cost 
channels, including public, managed care, 
OTC, and basic segment products. This 
increase keeps us on track to meet our 2028 
goal of 2 million.

METRICS

Sustainability Statements  •  Social – Awareness, Affordability, Accessibility 

WS Audiology  •  Annual Report 2023/24 84
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Governance

Business Conduct 
Governance at WSA involves applying our principles 
and processes to create value for all stakeholders. 
Responsible business conduct, including high ethical 
standards for us and our suppliers, as well as robust 
anti-corruption policies, is central to our operations. 
We are only as good as our commitment to these 
values, ensuring transparency, trust, and long-term 
success in everything we do.
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POLICY

We endeavour to foster a corporate culture characterised by integ-
rity and where our employees understand and adhere to the stand-
ards of behavior expected in their interactions and in carrying out 
their everyday responsibilities. We have several policies and proce-
dures in place to ensure responsible business practices, covering 
topics such as corruption and bribery, antitrust, fair competition, 
money laundering, sponsorship, data privacy, gifts and entertain-
ment, cybersecurity and conflicts of interest. The WSA Code of 
Conduct is the foundation of our compliance program, establishing 
the standards for business integrity and ethical conduct. 

 Learn more about our policies on pg 46

APPROACH

Corruption and Bribery
We do not tolerate corruption or bribery in any form. WSA has iden-
tified certain functions as being particularly vulnerable to incidents 
of corruption and bribery. This is primarily due to their involvement 
in handling significant financial transactions and their interactions 
with third-party business partners. 

To address this, the Legal & Compliance team conducts annual 
compliance training for key employees in these functions. These 
internal trainings cover essential topics such as antitrust, gifts, 
hospitality, charitable donations, and sponsorships. The goal is to 
enhance employee knowledge and equip them with the tools to 
identify, manage, or escalate issues. We are committed to contin-
uously refining these training protocols to ensure alignment with 
evolving legal and compliance requirements.

Whistleblower System
Our whistleblower system comprises a Whistleblower Policy, inves-
tigation guidelines and a Whistleblower Portal (WB Scheme). Under 
the WB Scheme, we offer a global reporting system hosted by an 
independent third-party platform (WSA Compliance Portal) through 
which concerns can be raised anonymously. All reports are kept 
confidential and shared on a need-to-know basis. 

All employees are able to report any grievances or any serious or 
improper conduct that is in non-compliance with any internal poli-
cies and applicable laws and regulations. All employees are trained 
on how to raise a concern in our Code of Conduct training, which 
they must complete when they join WSA via our eCampus e-training 
system. We have clear and effective procedures for investigating 
incidents related to corruption, bribery, any other business conduct 
issues, and breaches of internal policies.

We follow up on all reports with timely investigations and take 
necessary actions, including disciplinary measures, where relevant. 
Where a report is found to be substantiated, the whistleblower and 
any relevant stakeholders (including key appointment holders) will 
be notified of the investigation outcome, including key findings and/
or identified gaps.

Our WB Scheme is designed to comply with the provisions 
of Directive (EU) 2019/1937 on the protection of persons who 
report breaches of Union law, where applicable in the EU. We are 
committed to creating a safe environment where employees can 
freely discuss concerns about business ethics without fear of retal-
iation if the report is provided in good faith. We are constantly 
improving our whistleblower system to ensure it is effective and up 
to date with best practices.

Ethical Marketing
WSA is dedicated to providing accurate and balanced information 
about our products and services. We ensure ethical interactions 
with customers and healthcare professionals by adhering to strict 
ethical standards and transparency. Our commitment to integrity 
ensures that all communications are honest, clear, and beneficial to 
all stakeholders.

To ensure the veracity of marketing claims, we maintain a claim 
management practice that establishes the claim type and required 
data substantiation. Each claim and supporting substantiation is 
listed in an Approved Claims List. Furthermore, each product launch 
is documented with a clinical evaluation. We ensure that the product 
safety manual for each product is included in the package to every 
consumer who purchases our hearing devices.

Data Privacy and Ethics
Protecting personal data we collect and upholding integrity and 
compliance in all data-related matters is a fundamental expectation 
in our industry, particularly given the sensitive nature of hearing 
information. We are committed to safeguarding data at every stage, 
from production to direct sales, and within our operations where 
our employee’s data is concerned.

Individuals exercising their rights to rectify, change, or be informed 
about what personal data WSA processes from and about them 
can exercise those rights in compliance with relevant legal require-
ments. As data privacy regulations continue to evolve, we closely 
monitor these developments to quickly adapt and apply changes 
to our existing processes as needed. We also subject our new and 
existing processes to regular reviews to ensure that they are rele-
vant and have the appropriate measures for data privacy, including 
but not limited to data security.

WSA's Data Ethics Policy serves as a framework for the ethical 
management of data across our organization. This policy applies 
globally and is mandatory for all management and employees 
within the WSA group, ensuring that our approach to data ethics is 
consistent and rigorous worldwide.

Anti-competitive Behavior
We adhere strictly to antitrust laws, ensuring fair competition 
through the quality of our products and performance. We do not 
engage in discussions or agreements with competitors, suppliers, or 
customers that could restrict competition or involve unfair practices. 
Our ethical guidelines on competitive intelligence, aligned with the 
Strategic and Competitive Intelligence Professionals (SCIP) stand-
ards, ensure responsible collection of competitor information. As we 
expand globally, we continually assess our market position and train 
employees on relevant laws, reinforcing our commitment to fair 
business practices and our Code of Conduct.
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Cybersecurity
At WSA, we consider the secure, reliable, and precise handling of 
information to be a fundamental aspect of our business success. Our 
long-term approach to cybersecurity is anchored by an Information 
Security Management System (ISMS) aligned with ISO 27001 stand-
ards. This ensures robust risk management and aligns IT security 
with the upcoming NIS2 regulation. The Group Management Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors Cybersecurity Committee, 
chaired by Jes Munk Hansen, provide oversight. He draws on his 
considerable experience and benefits from regular updates on the 
changing threat landscape from leading cybersecurity organizations.

We adopt a risk-based approach to safeguard corporate informa-
tion and critical infrastructure in collaboration with our business 
partners. We are committed to maintaining high levels of awareness 
among employees through regular training, awareness campaigns, 
and drills. Moreover, we work closely with cybersecurity experts to 
guarantee that our detection and response capabilities are consist-
ently enhanced, enabling us to effectively address emerging threats.

Supplier Management
We are committed to ethical business practices and have set high 
standards for our partners and suppliers, focusing on business 
conduct, fair labor, and environmental responsibility. 

Furthermore, WSA is committed to paying its vendors within the 
agreed credit terms. Late payments occur when vendors or recip-
ients of the invoices fail to submit them on time or provide the 
necessary information for processing. Invoices that are past their 
due date are given top priority and processed on a first-in, first-out 
basis. This ensures that vendors receive their funds as soon as 
possible. 

We work closely with our suppliers to identify and implement 
strategies for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. We focus on 
key suppliers in areas such as electronic manufacturing services, 
plastics, rubbers, and zinc air batteries. By partnering with these 
suppliers and guiding them through this vital journey, we increase 
our ability to integrate sustainability into our supply chain and the 
hearing aids we provide to our customers. 

Responsible Sourcing
WSA proactively identifies, assesses, avoids, and mitigates risks in 
our supply chain. Our responsible sourcing practices are integrated 
into all aspects of sustainability, including but not limited to human 
rights, health and safety, non-discrimination and anti-harassment 
and labor conditions.

 Learn more about our supplier due diligence process on pg 78

Responsible Tax Management
At WSA, responsible tax management is central to our sustainability 
commitment and aligned with the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs). By paying taxes where we operate, we contribute 
to building accountable, inclusive institutions. Our tax practices 
emphasize transparency and fairness, ensuring timely compliance 
with local laws while aligning contributions with our business 
footprint. Governance is overseen by the Audit Committee, with 
day-to-day management by our Group Tax team and local finance 
teams. We continuously monitor regulatory changes to ensure 
compliance and maintain transparent, collaborative relationships 
with tax authorities. 

 �Learn more about our tax management in Note 2.3 of the Finan-
cial Statements and the Tax Policy on our webpage
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ACTIONS

Supplier Due Diligence
This year, we enhanced our supplier due diligence program by 
extending it to include chain of custody in our supplier audits among 
the battery suppliers we work with. We proactively monitor new 
regulations to ensure our business practices remain compliant. 

Whistleblower System
This year, we strengthened our WB Scheme by formalizing the 
whistleblower mechanism into a written policy, providing greater 
assurance against retaliation and ensuring protection for all 
employees. Additionally, HR teams across APAC, EMEA, and the 
Americas received progressive training on how to handle investiga-
tions effectively. 

To further support accessibility, we translated the policy into rele-
vant languages, ensuring that employees from diverse regions can 
easily understand and utilize the WB Scheme.

Cybersecurity
This year, we have enhanced our cybersecurity measures by imple-
menting a Governance, Risk, and Compliance (GRC) tool, thereby 
reinforcing our ability to effectively assess all internal security 
controls. We unified our security strategy across product and enter-
prise functions, thereby streamlining processes and systems in R&D 
and IT. To guarantee uninterrupted protection, we have switched 
to a round-the-clock managed security service with cutting-edge 
capabilities. Furthermore, we introduced a multilingual security 
awareness platform to improve team vigilance, and we enhanced 
our cloud security with the adoption of Wiz, demonstrating our 
continued dedication to protecting digital assets.
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§	Accounting Principles

Share of high-risk suppliers audited for their social, 
environmental, and ethical management systems and 
performance
Number of high-risk suppliers audited divided by number 
of high-risk suppliers identified. The scope of audit includes 
human rights, labor rights, environment, and anti-corrup-
tion. The audits are conducted by certified third-party audi-
tors. High risk suppliers are identified based on the country, 
category, spend and business relations on annual basis.

Suppliers audited for their social, environmental, and 
ethical management systems and performances
Number of suppliers that are audited against WSA's Code of 
Conduct. The scope of this audit includes human rights, labor 
rights, environment, and anti-corruption. The audits are 
conducted by certified third-party auditors.

Suppliers with social, environmental, or ethical 
non-compliance
The suppliers with non-compliances based on the Supplier 
Code of Conduct audits. Non-compliances are defined as 
insufficiencies or negligence of policies and/or procedures 
for ensuring compliance to WSA Supplier Code of Conduct.

Suppliers established improvement plans to improve on 
non-compliance
Suppliers identified through the Supplier Code of Conduct 
audit program with non-compliances based on audits and 
have developed improvement plans to rectify the non-com-
pliances.

Convictions for violation of anti-corruption and anti-
bribery laws
Number of convictions secured against WSAudiology A/s and 
its Group Companies for any corruption and bribery charges 
(“Secured Conviction”), tracked via any order issued by a 
competent authority or Court of law.

Substantiated incidents of violations of anti-corruption 
and anti-bribery laws
Number of corruption or bribery incidents that are estab-
lished to be true and valid following investigation by the 
WSA Legal and Compliance function. This is aligned with GRI 
definition of confirmed incident of corruption. The Group 
Legal and Compliance department is responsible for keeping 
records of such substantiated incidents in relation to corrup-
tion or bribery incidents.

Amount of fines for violation of anti-corruption and anti-
bribery laws
The amount of financial penalty in EUR with a threshold of 
EUR 1 million, ordered to be paid by WSAudiology A/s and 
its Group Companies to any local regulator pursuant to the 
Secured Conviction. “Secured Conviction” refers to convic-
tions secured against WSAudiology A/s and its Group Compa-
nies for any corruption and bribery charges.

Supplier Management Unit 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20

Share of high-risk suppliers audited for their social, environmental, and 
ethical management systems and performance % 100 100 100 20 8
Suppliers audited for their social, environmental, and ethical management 
systems and performances Number 6 5 15 5 3
Suppliers with social, environmental, or ethical non-compliance Number 2 5 15 4 0
Suppliers established improvement plans to improve on non-compliance Number 2 5 15 4 0

Corruption and Bribery

Convictions for violation of anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws Number 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Substantiated incidents of violations of anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws Number 5 4 0 0 0
Amount of fines for violation of anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws EUR 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A

PERFORMANCE  

All suppliers identified as high-risk were 
evaluated on their social, environmental, 
and ethical management systems and 
overall performance. In the case of a 
supplier found to be non-compliant, the 
year was concluded with the supplier 
submitting a satisfactory improvement 
plan to address the identified areas of 
non-compliance.

There are no recorded non-compliances 
with data privacy regulations, and no fines 
have been imposed on WS Audiology.

A total of 5 cases related to corruption and 
bribery were substantiated. These cases 
were followed up with remedial actions 
and/or disciplinary measures, where appro-
priate.

METRICS
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Global Reporting Initiative 
Disclosures (GRI)

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

2-1 Organizational details pg 5, 13-18, 168

2-2 Entities included in the organiza-
tion’s sustainability reporting 

pg 37

2-3 Reporting period, frequency and 
contact point 

Reporting period: 10/1/2023-09/30/2024  
Reporting cycle: Annual  
Contact point: +45 44 35 56 00 (to be directed to the Sus-
tainability Team)

2-4 Restatements of information pg 65, 73, 76

2-5 External assurance Deloitte is appointed to conduct the third-party assur-
ance for this report. Deloitte is also the assurance provid-
er for WSA’s financial report. Refer to pages 170 – 174 for 
the external assurance report. 

2-6 Activities, value chain and other 
business relationships 

pg 13-16

2-7 Employees We present our employee headcount on page 72, exclud-
ing employees not registered in SuccessFactors. Full-Time 
Equivalent (FTE) data, which includes information record-
ed outside of SuccessFactors, is detailed on pages 5 and 
112.

2-8 Workers who are not employees GRI 2-7 

2-9 Governance structure and com-
position

pg 31-33, 67, 74

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

2-10 Nomination and selection of the 
highest governance body

pg 26, 31-34

The members of the Board of Directors are chosen 
based on their experience and qualifications as well as to 
achieve diversity in regard to nationality and gender mix.

2-11 Chair of the highest governance 
body

pg 31

2-12 Role of the highest governance 
body in overseeing the manage-
ment of impacts

pg 26

2-13 Delegation of responsibility  
for managing impacts

pg 26-34

2-14 Role of the highest governance 
body in sustainability reporting

pg 37-39

2-15 Conflicts of interest pg 46, 86

A process has been established to ensure that conflicts 
of interest are avoided. Each WSA employee has a duty to 
make business decisions in the interest of WS Audiology 
and not be influenced by their own personal interests. 
Conflicts of interest for senior employees are disclosed to 
Executive Committee and/or the Board of Directors.

2-16 Communication of critical con-
cerns

pg 29-30, pg 40-45, GRI 2-14

2-17 Collective knowledge of the high-
est governance body

GRI 2-14

2-18 Evaluation of the performance of 
the highest governance body

pg 39, 68
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GRI index (cont'd)

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

2-19 Remuneration policies pg 26, 39, 68

2-20 Process to determine 
remuneration 

pg 26, 39, 68

2-21 Annual total compensation ratio Information unavailable due to limited availability of con-
solidated data.

2-22 Statement on sustainable 
development strategy

Letter from our Chair and CEO, pg 7-8

2-23 Policy commitments pg 46

2-24 Embedding policy commitments pg 46 - 89

2-25 Processes to remediate negative 
impacts

pg 43, 47-89

2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice 
and raising concerns

pg 86

2-27 Compliance with laws and 
regulations

pg 30, 36, 44-45, 57, 80, 85-89

2-28 Membership associations Annual Report FY2020/21, pg 131  
United Nations Global Compact, pg 39 
Ellen MacArthur Foundation Network, pg 59

2-29 Approach to stakeholder 
engagement

pg 41

2-30 Collective bargaining 
agreements

pg 67-68, 73

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 

3-1 Process to determine  
material topics 

pg 40 

Annual Report FY2022/23, pg 136-138; Annual Report 
FY2021/22, pg 137; Annual Report FY2020/21, pg 39-40

3-2 List of material topics pg 40

Annual Report FY2022/23, pg 136-138

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 86

205-2 Communication and training 
about anti-corruption policies 
and procedures 

pg 46

205-3 Confirmed incidents of 
corruption and actions taken

pg 89

GRI 206: Anti-competitive Behavior 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics

pg 86

206-1 Legal actions for anti-competi-
tive behavior, anti-trust, and mo-
nopoly practices

pg 85-89
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GRI index (cont'd)

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

GRI 302: Energy 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 47-55

302-1 Energy consumption  
within the organization 

pg 48-51

GRI 305: Emissions 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 47-55

305-1 Direct (Scope 1)  
GHG emissions 

pg 52

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2)  
GHG emissions 

pg 52

305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3)  
GHG emissions 

pg 52-55

GRI 306: Waste 2020 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 58-65

306-1 Waste generation and significant 
waste-related impacts

pg 58-65

306-2 Management of significant 
waste-related impacts

pg 46, 58-65

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

GRI 308: Supplier environmental assessment 2016

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 49, 78

307-1 Negative environmental impacts 
in the supply chain and actions 
taken

pg 49, 78

GRI 401: Employment 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 66-76

401-1 New employee hires and 
employee turnover

pg 72

GRI 403: Occupational health and safety 2018

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 67, 71

403-1 Occupational health and  
safety management system 

pg 67

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assess-
ment, and incident investigation  

WS Audiology established the Standard Operating Pro-
cedure (SOP) "EHS Aspects Impacts and Hazards Risks 
Assessment" to systematically identify and assess risks in 
the workplace. The SOP is reviewed at least once a year, 
and relevant training is carried out to ensure that the 
evaluators have the relevant competence. In addition, 
employees are encouraged to report near miss incidents 
at work to identify risks in a wider scope. Our SOP follows 
ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001. 
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GRI index (cont'd)

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

403-3 Occupational health services WS Audiology has established a risk identification and 
evaluation system to determine the major risks and con-
trol measures.

403-4 Worker participation, consulta-
tion, and communication on oc-
cupational health and safety

pg 46, 67, 71, 78

403-5 Worker training on occupational 
health and safety 

pg 67, 71, 78

403-6 Promotion of worker health pg 46, 67, 71, 78

403-9 Work-related injuries pg 76

GRI 405: Diversity and equal opportunity 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

Social - Own Workforce

405-1 Diversity of governance  
bodies and employees

pg 67-70, 72-75

GRI 406: Non-discrimination 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 67-68, 85-86

406-1 Incidents of discrimination  
and corrective actions taken 

pg 73

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

GRI 407: Freedom of association and collective bargaining 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 67-68

406-1 Operations and suppliers in 
which the right to freedom 
of association and collective 
bargaining may be at risk 

pg 67-68, 73

GRI 408: Child labor 2016

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 68, 78, 87

408-1 Operations and suppliers at sig-
nificant risk for incidents  
of child labor 

pg 68, 78, 86-89

GRI 409: Forced or compulsory labor 2016

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 68, 78, 86-89

409-1 Operations and suppliers at 
significant risk for incidents of 
forced or compulsory labor 

pg 68, 78, 86-89
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GRI index (cont'd)

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

GRI 413: Local communities 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics

pg 42-43, 46, 57, 66-78

413-2 Operations with significant actu-
al and potential negative impacts 
on local communities 

pg 42-43

GRI 414: Supplier social assessment 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 78, 86-88

414-2 Negative social impacts in the 
supply chain and actions taken 

pg 86-89

GRI 415: Public policy 

415-1 Total monetary value of financial 
and in-kind political contribu-
tions made directly and indirectly 
by the organization by country 
and recipient/ beneficiary 

Contributions - EUR 0 

GRI 416: Customer health and safety 2016

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 79-84

416-1 Assessment of the health and 
safety impacts of product and 
service categories 

100% product and service categories for which health and 
safety impacts are assessed for improvement.

Disclosure  
Number Aspect Page or comments

GRI 417: Marketing and labeling 2016 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 86

417-2 Incidents of non-compliance 
concerning product and service 
information and labeling 

There were no substantiated complaints recorded con-
cerning non-compliance concerning product and service 
information and labeling.

GRI 418: Customer privacy 2016

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 46, 86

418-1 Substantiated complaints 
concerning breaches of customer 
privacy and losses  
of customer data 

There were no substantiated complaints recorded con-
cerning breaches of customer privacy and losses of cus-
tomer data.

GRI 3: Material Topics 2021 - Material topics without GRI topic standard 
Awareness, Accessibility, and Affordability 

3-3 Management of  
material topics 

pg 40-43, 82-84
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International Sustainability Standard Board (ISSB) regulation, as part of the International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS

IFRS ID Disclosure Elements Page Status

IFRS S2 6 Governance 39
IFRS S2 9 Strategy 42-45
IFRS S2 10-12 Climate related risks and opportunities 44-45
IFRS S2 13 Business model and value-chain 42-45
IFRS S2 14 Strategy and decition-making 42-25
IFRS S2 15-21 Financial position, financial performance and cash flow -
IFRS S2 22-23 Climate resilience 48
IFRS S2 25-26 Risk management 48 
IFRS S2 29-32 Climate-related metrics 50-55
IFRS S2 33-37 Climate-related targets 47-56

Progress towards compliance with IFRS requirements:
  Under materiality threshold 
  Initiated (from early phase to almost completed)
  Aligned

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
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Disclosure Elements TCFD Recommended Disclosures Section Page

Governance a)	� Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities. Sustainability governance 48
b)	� Describe management’s role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities. Sustainability governance 39

Strategy a)	� Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organization has  
identified over the short, medium, and long term.

Sustainability value chain - risks 42-45

b)	� Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organization’s businesses, strategy, and financial 
planning.

Sustainability value chain - risks 42-45

c)	� Describe the resilience of the organization’s strategy, taking into consideration different climate-related scenarios, 
including a 2°C or lower scenario.

Environment - climate change 48

Risk Management a)	� Describe the organization’s processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks. Sustainability value chain - risks 48

b)	� Describe the organization’s processes for managing climate-related risks. Sustainability value chain - risks  
 
Environment - climate change

48

c)	� Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and managing climate-related risks are integrated into the organi-
zation’s overall risk management.

Risk management

Sustainability value chain - risks 

48

Metrics and Targets a)	� Disclose the metrics used by the organization to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line with its strategy 
and risk management process.

Environment - climate change 50-55

b)	� Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 3 GHG emissions, and the related risks. Our value chain - risks 52-55
c)	� Describe the targets used by the organization to manage climate-related risks and opportunities and performance 

against targets.
Environment - climate change 47

Taskforce on Climate change Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
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EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Revenue 2.1 2,637 2,465
Cost of goods sold (1,141) (1,025)
Gross profit 1,496 1,440

Research and development expenses 3.1 (218) (114)
Selling and general administrative expenses (2,298) (1,150)
Other operating income, net 3 4
Share of profit in associates, net of tax * *
Operating (loss)/profit (1,017) 180

Interest income 4.4 51 99
Interest expenses 4.4 (464) (333)
Other financial (expenses)/income, net 4.4 (24) 78
(Loss)/Profit before tax (1,454) 24

Income taxes 2.3 257 (29)
Loss for the year (1,197) (5)

Attributable to:
Non-controlling interests 8 6
Shareholders of WS Audiology A/S (1,205) (11)

* Amount less than EUR 1 mil

EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Loss for the year (1,197) (5)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Actuarial gains 5.3 2 2
Tax on items that will not subsequently be reclassi-
fied to consolidated statement of profit or loss 2.3 (1) (1)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss:

Recycled to financial income (38) (88)
Change in fair value of cash flow hedge (24) 36
Tax on items that have been or may subsequently 
be reclassified to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss 2.3 14 15
Foreign currency translation differences 2 (56)
  
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (45) (92)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (1,242) (97)

Attributable to
Non-controlling interests 5 3
Shareholders of WS Audiology A/S (1,247) (100)

* Amount less than EUR 1 mil

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024
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EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Assets
Goodwill 3.1 3,586 3,607
Other intangible assets 3.1 420 1,722
Property, plant and equipment 3.2 177 182
Right-of-use assets 3.4 206 196
Investments in associates 6 5
Deferred tax assets 2.3 52 42
Trade receivables 3.8 3 3
Customer loans 3.5 57 57
Other assets 3.6 34 48
Total non-current assets  4,541 5,862
  

Inventories 3.7 223 206
Trade receivables 3.8 316 301
Current income tax receivables 12 15
Customer loans 3.5 16 16
Other assets 3.6 84 147
Cash and cash equivalents  96 114
Total current assets  747 799
  
Total assets  5,288 6,661

EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Equity and Liabilities  
Share capital 4.1 111 100
Other reserves  2,657 2,206
Accumulated losses (1,958) (754)
Total equity attributable to the shareholders  
of WS Audiology A/S  810 1,552
  

Non-controlling interests  28 42
Total equity  838 1,594
  

Long-term debts 4.3 3,316 3,668
Lease liabilities 4.3 181 173
Pension obligations 5.3 17 15
Provisions 3.10 50 36
Deferred tax liabilities 2.3 11 312
Other liabilities 3.9 82 85
Total non-current liabilities  3,657 4,289

Short-term debts 4.3 88 56
Lease liabilities 4.3 45 43
Trade payables  223 252
Current income tax liabilities  28 25
Provisions 3.10 69 78
Other liabilities 3.9 340 324
Total current liabilities  793 778
  
Total equity and liabilities  5,288 6,661

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2024
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EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Operating activities   

Loss for the year  (1,197) (5)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 3.3 1,538 300
Loss on lease remeasurement – 1
Income tax (benefit)/expense, net 2.3 (257) 29
Interest expense, net 413 234
(Gain)/Loss on sale and disposal of intangibles, property, 
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (1) 1
Share of profit in associates * *
Other non-cash adjustments 5.5 (26) (88)
Cash flow from operating activities before changes  
in working capital  470 472
  

Change in inventories  (17) (5)
Change in trade and other receivables  (15) 4
Change in trade payables  (29) 34
Change in customer loans  1 (4)
Change in other assets and other liabilities  (5) (37)
Change in provisions  11 2
Cash flow from operating activities before  
financial items and tax  416 466
  

Financial income received  12 11
Income taxes paid, net  (33) (18)
Cash flow from operating activities  395 459

EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Investing activities  

Acquisition of companies/operations, net of cash acquired  2 (9)
Investments in intangible assets and property,  
plant and equipment  (205) (216)
Investments in other assets – (1)
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets and  
property, plant and equipment  15 8
Cash flow used in investing activities  (188) (218)
Cash flow from operating and investing activities  207 241

Financing activities  

Proceeds from issuance of shares 500 100
Transaction costs paid for issuance of long-term debts 4.3 (51) –
Proceeds from long-term and short-term debts 4.3 3,864 70
Repayment of long-term and short-term debts 4.3 (4,175) (142)
Other transactions with non-controlling interests (19) (4)
Financial expenses paid 4.3 (286) (211)
Cash flows relating to lease liabilities 4.3 (46) (49)
Change in other short-term debt and other  
financing activities (3) (3)
Cash flow used in financing activities  (216) (239)
  
Net cash flow  (9) 2
  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  114 124
Adjustment foreign currency, cash and cash equivalents  (9) (12)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  96 114

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024
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EURm
Share  

capital
Other  

reserves

Foreign  
exchange  

adjustments
Hedging 
 reserve

Accumulated 
losses

Equity of  
shareholders in 

WS Audiology A/S

Non- 
controlling 

 interests
Total 

equity

Equity at 30 September 2023 100 2,146 26 34 (754) 1,552 42 1,594

Loss for the year – – – – (1,205) (1,205) 8 (1,197)
Actuarial gains – – – – 2 2 – 2
Adjustment of cash flow hedges – – – (62) – (62) – (62)
Foreign exchange adjustments – – 5 – – 5 (3) 2
Tax relating to other comprehensive income – – (1) 15 (1) 13 – 13
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – 4 (47) (1,204) (1,247) 5 (1,242)

Issuance of shares 11 489 – – – 500 – 500
Changes in other reserves – 5 – – – 5 – 5
Dividends – – – – – – (5) (5)
Other transactions with non-controlling interests – – – – – – (14) (14)
Equity at 30 September 2024 111 2,640 30 (13) (1,958) 810 28 838

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024
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EURm
Share  

capital
Other  

reserves

Foreign  
exchange  

adjustments
Hedging 
 reserve

Accumulated 
losses

Equity of  
shareholders in 

WS Audiology A/S

Non- 
controlling 

 interests
Total 

equity

Equity at 1 October 2022 100 2,032 77 73 (744) 1,538 55 1,593

Loss for the year – – – – (11) (11) 6 (5)
Actuarial gains – – – – 2 2 – 2
Adjustment of cash flow hedges – – – (52) – (52) – (52)
Foreign exchange adjustments – – (53) – – (53) (3) (56)
Tax relating to other comprehensive income – – 2 13 (1) 14 – 14
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (51) (39) (10) (100) 3 (97)

Issuance of shares * 100 – – – 100 – 100
Changes in other reserves – 14 – – – 14 (12) 2
Dividends – – – – – – (1) (1)
Other transactions with non-controlling interests – – – – – – (3) (3)
Equity at 30 September 2023 100 2,146 26 34 (754) 1,552 42 1,594

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

Description of Other reserves:
-	 Capital reserve relates to deemed contribution by the shareholders in relation to the reverse acquisition in 2018/19.
-	 The difference between the consideration paid, in the form of acquiring the shares of the Sivantos Group and the net equity of the subsidiaries acquired in 2018/19.
-	 The elimination of the investment in the Widex Group in 2018/19.
-	 The reserve under the scope of IFRS 2 (Note 5.2). 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (cont’d)
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024
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1	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the Group 
and separate parent financial statements for WS 
Audiology A/S have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS Accounting Standards adopted by the 
European Union (EU) and additional requirements 
of the Danish Financial Statements Act.

The consolidated financial statements and sepa-
rate parent financial statements are presented in 
Euros (EUR) which is the functional currency of WS 
Audiology A/S. All values are rounded to the nearest 
million (EUR), except where indicated otherwise.

The Group’s general accounting policies are 
described in Note 1.1 General accounting policies 
below. In addition to this, specific accounting 
policies are described in each of the individual 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
The accounting policies set out below and, in each 
note, have been used consistently in respect of the 
financial year and the comparative figures.

As at 30 September 2024, the current liabilities 
exceeds the current assets by EUR 46 million. The 
Group has access to EUR 217 million available 
Revolving Credit Facility out of EUR 350 million as 
of 30 September 2024. With strong operating cash 
flow and access to financing, the Board of Direc-
tors have, at the time of approving the consoli-
dated financial statements, a reasonable expec-
tation that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the fore-
seeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

amount of the non-controlling interest is allo-
cated to the Parent’s share of the equity.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, 
it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, as well as any related non-controlling 
interests and other components of equity. Any 
interest retained in the former subsidiary is 
measured at fair value when control is lost. Any 
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or 
loss.

Translation of foreign currency
A functional currency is determined for each of 
the reporting entities in the Group. The func-
tional currency is the primary currency used 
for the reporting entity’s operations. Transac-
tions denominated in other than the functional 
currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rates at the transaction 
date. Foreign exchange differences between the 
exchange rate at the transaction date and at the 
date of payment are recognized in other financial 
income/expenses, net.

The WS Audiology Group has significant activities 
in EUR and has raised significant debt in EUR. 
Therefore, the functional currency of WS Audi-
ology A/S and the presentation currency of the 
WS Audiology Group is determined to be EUR.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at the 

1.1	 General accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorpo-
rate the financial statements of WS Audiology A/S 
(the parent company) and subsidiaries controlled 
by WS Audiology A/S, prepared in accordance 
with Group policies. The Group controls an entity 
when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are listed in 
Note 5.8.

The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared by combining items of a uniform nature 
and subsequently eliminating intercompany 
transactions, internal shareholdings and balances 
and unrealized intercompany gains or losses. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date on which control commences and until the 
date on which control ceases.

The accounting items of subsidiaries are recog-
nized 100% in the consolidated financial state-
ments. Non-controlling interest’s share of subsid-
iaries’ profit or loss for the year and equity are 
included in the Group’s profit or loss and equity, 
but are disclosed separately.

Acquisitions or disposals on non-controlling 
interests in subsidiaries, which does not result in 
obtaining or losing control of such subsidiaries, 
are treated as an equity transaction in the consol-
idated financial statements, and any difference 
between the consideration and the carrying 

reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabil-
ities that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured based on historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated at the exchange rate at 
the transaction date.

Foreign exchange differences are generally 
recognized in other financial income/expenses, 
net in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. However, the following foreign exchange 
differences are recognized in other comprehen-
sive income (“OCI”):

•	� Qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that 
the hedges are effective

•	� Foreign exchange adjustment of balances with 
foreign entities that are considered part of the 
net investment in the entity

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on acquisition, are translated into EUR 
at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The 
statement of profit or loss and statement of cash 
flows of foreign operations are translated into 
EUR at average exchange rates for the period, 
unless such average exchange rates are unrepre-
sentative of the exchange rates prevailing at the 
transaction dates, in which case the transaction 
date exchange rates are applied.
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Foreign exchange differences arising on transla-
tion of the opening balance of equity of foreign 
entities at the exchange rate at the reporting 
date and on translation of the statement of profit 
or loss from the average exchange rate to the 
exchange rate at the reporting date are recog-
nized on other comprehensive income and attrib-
uted to a separate translation reserve in equity, 
except to the extent that the translation differ-
ence is allocated to non-controlling interests.

On complete or partial disposal of a foreign 
entity such that control, significant influence or 
joint control is lost, or on repayment of balances 
that constitute part of the net investment in 
the foreign entity, the share of the cumulative 
amount of the exchange differences recognized 
in other comprehensive income relating to that 
foreign entity is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as part of the gain or 
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes part 
of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, 
the relevant portion of the cumulative amount 
is reattributed to non-controlling interest. On 
partial disposal of an associate or joint venture 
while retaining significant influence or joint 
control, the relevant portion of the cumulative 
amount is reclassified to the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss.

1.1	 General accounting policies (cont'd) 1.2	� Significant accounting estimates and judgments
In preparation of the consolidated financial statements, Management makes various accounting esti-
mates and judgments that form the basis of presentation, recognition and measurement of the Group’s 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The key accounting estimates identified are those that have a 
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities within 
the next financial year.

The application of the Group’s accounting policies may require Management to make judgments that can 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Manage-
ment judgment is required in particular when assessing the substance of transactions that have a compli-
cated structure or legal form.

The accounting estimates and judgments made are based on historical experience and other factors that 
Management assesses to be reliable, but that, by nature, are associated with uncertainty and unpredicta-
bility and may therefore prove incomplete or incorrect.

Specific accounting estimates and judgments are described in each of the following individual notes to the 
consolidated financial statements:

Principal  
accounting policies

Key accounting estimates  
and judgments

Nature of 
impact Note

Estimation 
risk

Depreciation, amortization 
and impairment

Estimate of recoverable amount  
of goodwill

Estimate 3.3 High

Income tax and deferred    
income taxes

Estimate of value of deferred tax assets 
Determination of possible outcomes of 
uncertain tax positions

Estimate 
Judgment

2.3 Medium

Provisions Estimate of warranty provisions 
Estimate of right of return provisions

Estimate
Estimate

3.10 Medium

Debts Determination of derecognition of finan-
cial liabilities

Judgment 4.1 Medium

Impairment of goodwill
The recoverable amount of goodwill is estimated 
using the fair value approach, which is dependent 
on market performance of comparable peer 
group. Relevant illiquidity discounts and control 
premiums were applied to the average market 
multiple of the peer group to reflect the owner-
ship structure of WS Audiology. The estimation of 
recoverable amount involves judgment on rele-
vant peer group and is subject to uncertainties in 
macroeconomic developments which can affect 
market performance.

Deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions
The recoverability of deferred tax assets is 
dependent on the availability of future taxable 
profits. Estimate of future taxable profits is 
made based on annual budgets and business 
plans which is subject to uncertainty arising from 
economic and market developments. Manage-
ment assessed it is probable the Group will realize 
the benefits of these deductible differences 
based on the level of historical taxable income 
and projections for future taxable income over 
the periods in which the deferred tax assets are 
deductible.

The final tax outcome of uncertain tax positions is 
subject to different interpretation of local tax law 
by the relevant tax authority. Judgment is applied 
to assess the probable outcome of uncertain tax 
treatment.
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1.3	 Changes in accounting estimates
During the year, the Group reassessed the useful 
lives of certain intangible assets arising from the 
business combination completed as part of the 
merger between Sivantos Pte. Ltd. and Widex 
A/S. The purchase price allocation resulted in 
the recognition of identifiable intangible assets, 
primarily related to customer relationships and 
core patented technology and intellectual prop-
erty, with initial estimated useful lives ranging 
from 2 to 20 years for customer relationships and 
3 to 13 years for core patented technology and 
intellectual property. The change in accounting 
estimates was applied prospectively. 

Customer relationships
With competing products being similar in terms 
of technology, features and capabilities, the 
Group has seen an increasing shift in customer 
behavior during contract renegotiations every 2 
to 5 years. Customers are increasingly prioritizing 
product quality and pricing over maintaining 
long-standing relationships. 

Based on annual assessment of customer rela-
tionships, Management has reassessed the useful 
life of the intangible assets related to customer 
relationships to 3 to 5 years. 

Core patented technology and intellectual property 
The Group’s core patented technology and intellectual property largely relates to technologies from the 
time of merger where the core platforms and technologies were the foundation for the future develop-
ments. The rapid development in hearing aid technology requires companies to launch new platforms, 
products and features on an annual or biennial basis with new innovations and often as a pioneer.  

Following an assessment of these core technologies and the current market trends, Management has 
reassessed the useful life of the core patented technology and intellectual property to be 5 years.

The following table summarises the impact on the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position 
and profit or loss in the current financial year. 

EURm
Customer  

relationships

Core patented 
technology and 

intellectual 
property Total

Consolidated statement of financial position
Intangible assets (836) (387) (1,223)
Deferred tax liability (192) (66) (258)
Accumulated losses (644) (321) (965)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Amortization expense (836) (387) (1,223)
 - Cost of goods sold - (77) (77)

 - Research and development expenses - (75) (75)

 - Selling and general administrative expenses (836) (235) (1,071)

Profit before tax (836) (387) (1,223)
Deferred tax expense 192 66 258
Net profit for the year (644) (321) (965)

Debts
The refinancing exercise in April 2024 involves 
the replacement of existing debt with new debt. 
Significant judgment was applied in deter-
mining whether the refinancing transaction is an 
exchange or if it qualifies for derecognition of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a 
new financial liability in accordance with IFRS 9.

Climate-related risks in the financial 
statements
Management has considered the impact of 
climate-related risks in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. The Group’s 
expected costs of meeting sustainability goals 
were considered in the financial forecasts which 
were used as basis of valuation and useful life 
assessment of fixed assets, and valuation of 
provisions and contingent liabilities. These 
considerations did not have a material impact on 
the accounting estimates and judgments.

For further description of judgments and esti-
mates, please refer to the individual notes.

1.2	� Significant accounting estimates and 
judgments (cont'd)
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1.3	 Changes in accounting estimates (cont'd)
The reduction in the estimated useful lives of the 
intangible assets will result in a decrease in total 
amortization expense of EUR 1.2 billion charged 
to the Group’s consolidated statement of profit 
or loss over the next financial periods. The impact 
on the annual amortization expense for the next 
financial year ended 30 September 2025 is EUR 
129 million.

1.4	 Adoption of new and amended IFRS
In the current year, the Group has applied the 
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the IASB and IFRSs 
endorsed by the European Union effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 
2023. The adoption has not had any material 
impact on the disclosures or on the amounts 
reported in these financial statements. Further-
more, Management does not anticipate any 
significant impact on future periods from the 
adoption of these amendments.

Management has assessed the impact of new or 
amended accounting standards and interpreta-
tions (IFRSs) issued by the IASB that has not yet 
become effective. At the date of authorization 
of these financial statements, the Group has not 
applied these new and revised IFRS Accounting 
Standards that have been issued but are not yet 
effective and Management does not expect that 
the adoption of the standards will have a material 
impact on the financial statements of the Group 

in future periods, except for IFRS 18 Presentation 
and Disclosures in Financial Statements.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures  
in Financial Statements
IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements and introduces new requirements to: 

•	� present specified categories and defined subto-
tals in the statement of profit or loss

•	� provide disclosures on management-defined 
performance measures (MPMs) in the notes to 
the financial statements

•	� improve aggregation and disaggregation. 

An entity is required to apply IFRS 18 for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2027, with earlier application permitted. IFRS 18 
requires retrospective application with specific 
transition provisions.
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2	 Results of the year

2.1	 Revenue
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Revenue by geographic region:

EMEA 888 811
Americas 1,323 1,243
APAC 426   411
Total 2,637 2,465

Revenue is predominantly recognized at a point in time, and revenue recognized over time is not signif-
icant. Revenues are attributed to countries on the basis of the customer's location. The Region “EMEA” 
consists of Europe, the Middle East and Africa. The Region “Americas” is the United States, Canada and 
Latin-America. The Region “APAC” consists of Asia, Australia and the Pacific region.

Consolidated revenue mainly derives from sale of goods and is broken down by the selling entity. No indi-
vidual customer accounts for 10% or more of the total revenue.

Contract liabilities
The Group has recognized the following liabilities related to contracts with customers:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Customer prepayments 12 14
Deferred revenue 33 32
Volume discounts 42 47
Right of return 27 28
Total 114 121

Significant changes in the contract liabilities balances during the year are as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Contract liabilities 
Opening balance at 1 October 121 125
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2) (5)
Revenue recognized that was included in the contract liability  
from prior year and current year balance (23) (23)
Advances received during the year 14 20  
Others 4 4
Closing balance at 30 September 114 121
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2.1	 Revenue (cont'd)

§	 Accounting policies

Revenue from sale of products is recognized 
when the Group has transferred control of prod-
ucts sold to the buyer and it is probable that the 
Group will collect the consideration to which it 
is entitled for transferring the products. Control 
of the products is transferred at a point in time, 
typically on delivery.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the con-
sideration received or receivable net of discounts, 
VAT and other duties.

Contracts with customers sometimes include 
multiple promises that constitute separate per-
formance obligations, and to which a portion of 
the transaction price needs to be allocated. The 
total transaction price in the contract is allocated 
to separate performance obligation based on the 
relative stand-alone selling prices of each such 
performance obligation. Each separate perfor-
mance obligation is recognized when control is 
transferred to the customer.

When products are sold with a right of return, a 
refund liability and a corresponding adjustment 
to revenue is recognized for those products 
expected to be returned. In such cases, the 

expected returns are estimated based on an 
analysis of historical experience adjusted for any 
known factors impacting expectations for future 
return rates. To the extent that the Group will be 
able to recover the cost of returned products, 
when the customers exercise their right to return, 
a separate right to returned products asset and a 
reduction in cost of sales is recognized. 

Discounts, rebates and sales incentives  
to customers 
The Group pays various discounts, rebates and 
sales incentives to customers including trade 
discounts and volume rebates. Furthermore, 
customer discounts include the difference be-
tween the present value and the nominal amount 
of loans to customers at below market interest 
rates, cf. Note 3.5 Customer loans.

Discounts, rebates and sales incentives to 
customers are deducted from revenue and are 
measured using either the expected value meth-
od or the most likely amount method depending 
on which method better predicts the amount of 
consideration to which the Group will be entitled 
net of discounts, rebates and sales incentives.

Estimates of the number of returns of products 
under customers right of return are based on the 
right of return policies and practices, accumulat-
ed historical experience, sales trends and the tim-

ing of returns from the original transaction date 
when applicable. Where new products are sold 
or products are sold to new markets, for which 
sufficient historical experience does not exist, 
refund liability and revenue to be recognized 
are based on estimated demand and acceptance 
rate for well-established products with similar 
market characteristics. If such similar product or 
market characteristics do not exist, recognition 
of revenue is postponed until there is evidence of 
consumption of the products by the customer, or 
when the right of return has expired.

Discounts, rebates and sales incentives are esti-
mated and accrued when the related revenue is 
recognized. To make such estimates require use 
of judgment, as all conditions are not known at 
the time of the sale, e.g. the number of units sold 
to a given customer or the expected utilization of 
loyalty programmes. Liabilities in respect of sales 
discounts, rebates and loyalty programmes are 
adjusted, as the Group gain better information 
on the likelihood that they will be realized and the 
value at which they are expected to be realized.

The accrual against revenue of discounts from 
issuance of customer loans at off-market terms 
(cf. Note 3.5 Customer loans) is based on the cus-
tomer's total committed purchases of products 
throughout the term of the customer loan, and is 
recognized as a discount for each product sold. 

Extended warranties
The Group offers customers the option to sepa-
rately purchase extended warranties for inven-
tories sold. The extended warranty is a distinct 
service to the customer. Under IFRS 15, the Group 
accounts for a service-type warranty as a sepa-
rate performance obligation to which the Group 
allocates a portion of the transaction price when 
the warranty is bundled together with the sale of 
inventories. The portion of the transaction price 
allocated to the service-type warranty is initially 
recorded as a contract liability and recognized as 
revenue on a straight-line basis over the period 
the warranty services are provided. Revenue is 
recognized when the customer receives the war-
ranty coverage for loss and damage as part of the 
purchase of the hearing aid. 

The standard warranty period for hearing aids 
varies across territories, typically between 24 
and 60 months. The extended warranty covers 
periods beyond the standard warranty period or 
standard warranty terms. Payment terms vary 
significantly across territories. 
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2.2	 Staff costs
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Wages, salaries and remuneration 755 752
Statutory social welfare contributions 86 79
Expenses relating to pension plans and long-term employee benefits 24 23
Total 865 854

Included in:
Cost of goods sold 124 132
Research and development expenses 121 111
Selling and general administrative expenses 620 611
Total 865 854

Number of full-time employees 12,679 12,528

For information regarding remuneration of the Board of Directors, Executive Management and other Key 
Management Personnel, please refer to Note 5.1 Remuneration of Key Management Personnel.

§	 Accounting policies

Wages, salaries, social security contributions, annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary 
benefits are recognized in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the 
Group. Where the Group provides long-term employee benefits, the costs are accrued to match the ren-
dering of the services by the employees concerned.

2.3	 Income taxes
Income taxes consists of the following:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Current tax for the year (40) (40)
Change in deferred tax for the year 309 30
Change in deferred tax as a result of changed income tax rates (6) (1)
Prior-year adjustments, current tax * 4
Prior-year adjustments, deferred tax 7 (8)
Total 270 (15)

Tax for the year is composed of:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Tax on profit for the year 257 (29)
Tax on other comprehensive income 13 14
Total 270 (15)

Note 2.3
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Deferred Tax 

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Opening deferred tax, net (270) (292)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1 1
Changes in deferred tax assets 38 16
Changes in accounting estimates 258 –
Adjustment of deferred tax, prior years 7 (8)
Impact of changes in corporate tax rates (6) (1)
Deferred tax relating to changes in equity, net 13 14
Closing deferred tax, net 41 (270)
 

Deferred tax recognized in the consolidated  
statement of financial position
Deferred tax assets 52 42
Deferred tax liabilities (11) (312)
Deferred tax, net 41 (270)

2.3	 Income taxes (cont'd)
Income tax benefit/(expense) differs from the amounts computed by applying the statutory Denmark 
income tax rate of 22% (2022/23: 22%) as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Expected income tax benefit/(expense) 320 (5)
Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income adjustments * (9)
Adjustments for non-deductible expenses and non-taxable income on 
special items, including interest deduction limitation (permanent) (39) (40)
Adjustments related to prior-year tax provisions 7 (4)
Revaluation of deferred tax assets (64) (9)
Impact of income tax rate changes on deferred tax (6) (1)
Effect of foreign subsidiary tax rates 13 9
Tax incentive adjustments 23 28
Incentives for research and development activities 5 4
Other adjustments, net (2) (2)
Total 257 (29)
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2.3	 Income taxes (cont'd)
Breakdown of the Group’s temporary differences and changes   

EURm

Tax effect of  
temporary 

differences at  
1 Oct. 2023

Foreign  
currency  

translation  
adjustments

Recognized  
in loss for  

the year

Recognized  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Tax effect of  
temporary 

differences at  
30 Sept. 2024

Other assets 18 * 9 – 27
Intangible assets (350) 4 272 – (74)
Property, plant and equipment (15) * 3 – (12)
Right-of-use assets (37) 1 (3) – (39)
Inventories 24 * 1 – 25
Receivables (32) * 2 14 (16)
Pension plans and similar commitments (5) * 1 * (4)
Provisions 10 (1) (1) – 8
Other liabilities (3) (1) 14 – 10
Lease liabilities 41 (1) 3 – 43
Tax loss, interest and other credit carry-forward 82 (1) (8) – 73
Others (3) * 4 (1) *
Total (270) 1 297 13 41

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil
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2.3	 Income taxes (cont'd)
Breakdown of the Group’s temporary differences and changes 

EURm

Tax effect of  
temporary 

differences at  
1 Oct. 2022

Foreign  
currency  

translation  
adjustments

Recognized  
in loss for  

the year

Recognized  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Tax effect of  
temporary 

differences at  
30 Sept. 2023

Other assets 16 * 2 – 18
Intangible assets (377) 4 23 – (350)
Property, plant and equipment (12) 1 (4) – (15)
Right-of-use assets (39) 1 1 – (37)
Inventories 30 * (6) – 24
Receivables (71) (1) 27 13 (32)
Pension plans and similar commitments (4) * (1) – (5)
Provisions 9 (1) 2 – 10
Other liabilities 4 (1) (6) – (3)
Lease liabilities 43 (1) (1) – 41
Tax loss, interest and other credit carry-forward 116 (2) (32) – 82
Others (7) 1 2 1 (3)
Total (292) 1 7 14 (270)

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil
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2.3	 Income taxes (cont'd)
The recognized tax loss carry-forward (gross amount) of EUR 235 million (2022/23: EUR 129 million) 
includes tax losses of EUR 3 million (2022/23: EUR 2 million) that can be carried forward for 1 to 10 years. 
The remaining tax loss have no expiry date. 

The recognized interest carry-forward (gross amount) of EUR 82 million (2022/23: EUR 205 million) can be 
carried forward indefinitely. 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are based on Management’s expectation about future taxable profits 
during the periods in which those temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards become deductible. 
Management considers the expected reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable 
income in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for 
future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, it is not probable 
that the Group will realize the benefits of these deductible differences. 

Deferred tax assets (tax value) have not been recognized with respect to the following items: 

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Receivables, provisions, liabilities, etc. 2 2
Tax loss carry forwards 123 112
Interest carry forwards 30 3
Total unrecognized tax assets 155 117

Due to the interest limitation rule in the Danish corporate tax act para 11 B, the Danish Joint Taxation 
Group has a net loss carry forward balance on receivables of approximately EUR 26 million (2022/23: EUR 
13 million). The carry forward balance is limited to three years in para 10 B, 10. Hence, and because the 
Danish Joint Taxation Group do not expect to be able to offset the carry forward net losses in net gains on 
receivables in that period, the balance has not been recognized.

Unrecognized deferred tax liabilities
The Group has not recognized deferred tax liabilities for income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on 
the cumulative earnings of subsidiaries of EUR 6 million (2022/23: EUR 9 million) because the earnings are 
intended to be permanently reinvested in the subsidiaries.

OECD Pillar II
Pillar II regulation has been enacted in Denmark. The regulation is applicable to financial years 
commencing on or after the 31 December 2023. The Group is in scope of the regulation. An assessment 
has been performed of the Group’s potential exposure to Pillar II taxes in jurisdictions where it operates. 
Due to the group's financial year (1 October to 30 September), the regulation will be applicable for the 
Group in 2024/25, and hence the regulation does not have any current tax effect for the Group in this 
current financial year.  

Pursuant to the Pillar II regulation, a multinational group is liable to pay a top-up tax for the difference 
between its GloBE effective tax rate per jurisdiction and the 15% minimum rate. However, the regulation 
provides for a transitional safe harbor (“TSH”). The TSH applies for the first three financial years. It relies 
on a number of simplified calculations that are mainly based on data extracted from the Group’s Coun-
try-by-Country Reporting prepared under BEPS Action 13. When the TSH test is met for a jurisdiction, no 
top-up tax arises.  

Based on the Group’s Country-by-Country reporting from 2022/23, it has been assessed that the TSH 
applies in the majority of jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Had the Pillar II regulation been appli-
cable to the Group's activities in the current financial year, it has been estimated that the current effect on 
the Group’s effective tax rate should be below 0.5%, relating to business activities in Singapore. 

The Group continues to monitor legislative developments that may have potential future impacts and 
notes that further Pillar II tax regulations in Denmark and Singapore remain subject to assessments. 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Financial Statements  •  Consolidated Financial Statements

WS Audiology  •  Annual Report 2023/24 117

    �Significant judgments and  
accounting estimates

The Group operates in a large number of tax 
jurisdictions where tax legislation can be highly 
complex and subject to interpretation. Significant 
judgment and estimates are required in deter-
mining the worldwide accrual for income taxes, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities and uncertain 
tax positions.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable income will 
be available against which the deductible tempo-
rary differences, unused tax losses and unused 
tax credits can be utilised. This judgment is made 
annually and based on budgets and business 
plans, including planned commercial initiatives, 
for the coming five years unless a longer period 
in certain situations (e.g. for start-up businesses) 
is warranted. Currently, a longer period than five 
years has not been applied in any of the jurisdic-
tions in which the Group operates.

In the course of conducting business globally, tax 
and transfer pricing disputes with tax authorities 
may occur. Management judgment is applied to 
assess the possible outcome of such disputes. 
The “most probable outcome” method is used 
when determining whether to recognize any 
amounts related to such uncertain tax position. 
If it is probable that a tax adjustment will be 
required, the amount of such adjustment is meas-
ured at the most likely amount or the expected 
value, whichever method better predict the reso-
lution of the uncertain tax position.

The IASB amendment to IAS 12, Income Taxes, 
has been applied by the Group. This regulation 
provides a mandatory temporary exception from 
recognizing or disclosing deferred taxes related 
to Pillar II such that there is no impact to the 
2023/24 consolidated financial statements.

2.3	 Income taxes (cont'd)

§	 Accounting policies

Income tax comprises current tax and changes 
in deferred tax for the year, including changes as 
a result of changes in tax rates. The tax expense 
for the year is recognized in profit or loss except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognized di-
rectly in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity.

WS Audiology A/S is jointly taxed with all Danish 
subsidiaries, Danish parent entities exercising 
control over WS Audiology A/S (T&W Medical 
A/S) and any Danish subsidiaries of such parent 
entities. The current Danish corporation tax is 
allocated between the jointly taxed companies 
in proportion to their taxable income. The jointly 
taxed companies are taxed under the on-account 
tax scheme.

Current tax liabilities or assets are measured 
using the tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted in each jurisdic-
tion by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is measured using the balance sheet 
liability method and comprises all temporary 
differences between the carrying amount and tax 
base of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is not 
recognized for taxable or deductible temporary 
differences:

•	� arising from the initial recognition of goodwill 

•	� on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that is not a business combina-
tion, and at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit

•	� associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
branches, associates and joint arrangements 
to the extent that the Group is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary dif-
ferences and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

If amortization of goodwill is deductible for tax 
purposes, a deferred tax liability is recognized on 
temporary differences arising after initial recog-
nition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or 
substantially enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset if 
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax liabilities and tax assets or intends ei-
ther to settle current tax liabilities and tax assets 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.
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3	 Operating assets and liabilities

3.1	 Intangible assets

EURm Goodwill
Development 

projects
Customer  

relationships

Trademarks, 
patents, and 

similar rights

Core patented 
technology and 

intellectual 
property Software Total

Cost at 1 October 2023 3,608 515 1,416 193 843 169 6,744
Foreign exchange adjustments (16) 2 (13) (2) – (1) (30)
Additions from business combinations 3 – 1 – – – 4
Additions – 102 – 4 – 43 149
Disposals (8) (3) (3) – (1) (5) (20)
Cost at 30 September 2024 3,587 616 1,401 195 842 206 6,847

Accumulated amortization and impairment at 1 October 2023 (1) (207) (501) (111) (476) (119) (1,415)
Foreign exchange adjustments – (2) 10 1 – 1 10
Amortization – (135) (912) (9) (367) (22) (1,445)
Disposals – – 3 – 1 5 9
Transfers – – (1) 1 – – –
Accumulated amortization and impairment at 30 September 2024 (1) (344) (1,401) (118) (842) (135) (2,841)
 
Carrying amount at 30 September 2024 3,586 272 – 77 – 71 4,006
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3.1	 Intangible assets (cont'd)

EURm Goodwill
Development 

projects
Customer  

relationships

Trademarks, 
patents, and 

similar rights

Core patented 
technology and 

intellectual 
property Software Total

Cost at 1 October 2022 3,624 409 1,434 196 844 145 6,652
Foreign exchange adjustments (27) (6) (19) (3) – (5) (60)
Additions from business combinations 11 – 1 – – – 12
Additions – 112 – 1 – 29 142
Disposals – – – (1) – (1) (2)
Transfers – – – – (1) 1 –
Cost at 30 September 2023 3,608 515 1,416 193 843 169 6,744

Accumulated amortization and impairment at 1 October 2022 (1) (166) (434) (105) (419) (102) (1,227)
Foreign exchange adjustments – 4 8 2 – 4 18
Amortization – (45) (75) (8) (58) (21) (207)
Disposals – – – – – 1 1
Transfers – – – – 1 (1) –
Accumulated amortization and impairment at 30 September 2023 (1) (207) (501) (111) (476) (119) (1,415)
 
Carrying amount at 30 September 2023 3,607 308 915 82 367 50 5,329
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3.1	 Intangible assets (cont'd)
Development costs
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Research and development expenses incurred 183 179
Development costs capitalized as development projects (102) (112)
Depreciation of operating assets used for development purposes 2 2
Amortization of capitalized development projects 135 45
Total expensed development costs 218 114

§	 Accounting policies

Goodwill
On initial recognition, goodwill is recognized and 
measured at cost. Subsequently goodwill is meas-
ured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for 
impairment at least annually. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) ex-
pected to benefit from synergies of the business 
combination, and that represent the lowest level 
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes. The lowest level at which 
the goodwill is tested for impairment is at the 
level of operating segments before aggregation 
according to IFRS 8 Operating Segments.

CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more fre-
quently when there is an indication that the CGU 
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of 
the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the 
CGU, the impairment loss is allocated first to re-
duce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to 
the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU 
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset 
in the CGU. An impairment loss recognized for 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Identification of cash generating units
Management has determined that WS Audiology 
only has one operating segment in accordance 
with IFRS 8, which is related to developing, pro-
ducing and selling of hearing aids, and the entire 
value chain from development to sale of hearing 
aids to end customer is integrated and interrelat-
ed. Management has assessed that the goodwill 
acquired relates to the entire combined value 
chain and monitors goodwill at group level.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets include development 
projects, acquired intellectual property, trade-
marks, patents and licenses, acquired customer 
contracts and relationships, and software.

Development projects that are clearly defined 
and identifiable, where the technical feasibility 
of completion, availability of adequate resources 
to complete, existence of potential future market 
can be demonstrated, and where Management 
has the intent to manufacture, market or apply 
the product or process in question are recognized 
as intangible assets. Other development costs are 
recognized as costs in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss as incurred. The costs of develop-
ment projects comprise all directly attributable 
costs including wages, salaries, costs to external 
consultants, rent, materials and services and 
other costs.
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Intangible assets other than goodwill are meas-
ured at cost less accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses. Amortization is provided on a 
straight-line basis over the expected useful lives 
of the assets to their estimate residual value if 
any.

Internal development expenditure is capitalized 
only if it meets the recognition criteria of IAS 38 
Intangible Assets. Where regulatory and other 
uncertainties are such that the criteria are not 
met, the expenditure is charged to profit or loss.

Where, however, recognition criteria are met, 
intangible assets are capitalized and amortized 
on a straight-line basis over their useful economic 
lives from product launch, of which judgment is 
required.

Costs incurred on development projects are rec-
ognized as an intangible asset when the following 
criteria are met:

•	� It is technically feasible to complete the prod-
uct so that it will be available for use;

•	� Management intends to complete the product 
and use it;

3.1	 Intangible assets (cont'd)

§	 Accounting policies (cont'd)

•	� The product can be used;

•	� It can be demonstrated how the product will 
generate probable future economic benefits;

•	� Adequate technical, financial and other re-
sources to complete development and use the 
product are available;

•	� The expenditure attributable to the product 
during its development can be reliably meas-
ured.

The Group has defined milestones for various 
phases of the development of new products, from 
the commencement of the project to successful 
realization and subsequently product launch. The 
criteria as required by IAS 38 for the recognition 
of development costs, have been adapted within 
the work processes as criteria for the first mile-
stone, to ensure that all criteria have been met for 
development cost prior to capitalization.
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3.2	 Property, plant and equipment

EURm

Land and 
buildings  

and leasehold  
improvements

Plant and 
machinery

Other plant, 
fixtures and 

operating 
equipment

Assets 
under  

construction Total

Cost at 1 October 2023 130 127 153 14 424
Foreign exchange adjustments (3) – (2) – (5)
Additions from business 
combinations * – – – *
Additions 14 10 23 11 58
Disposals (15) (2) (10) – (27)
Transfers – 4 2 (6) –
Cost at 30 September 2024 126 139 166 19 450
 

Accumulated depreciation  
at 1 October 2023 (56) (87) (99) – (242)
Foreign exchange adjustments – – 1 – 1
Depreciation (13) (13) (22) – (48)
Disposals 6 1 9 – 16
Accumulated depreciation  
at 30 September 2024 (63) (99) (111) – (273)
 
Carrying amount at  
30 September 2024 63 40 55 19 177

EURm

Land and 
buildings  

and leasehold  
improvements

Plant and 
machinery

Other plant, 
fixtures and 

operating 
equipment

Assets 
under  

construction Total

Cost at 1 October 2022 148 128 163 10 449
Foreign exchange adjustments (10) (3) (9) – (22)
Additions from business 
combinations 1 – – – 1
Additions 29 9 29 8 75
Disposals (38) (7) (32) (2) (79)
Transfers – – 2 (2) –
Cost at 30 September 2023 130 127 153 14 424
 

Accumulated depreciation  
at 1 October 2022 (83) (87) (113) – (283)
Foreign exchange adjustments 7 4 5 – 16
Depreciation (12) (10) (22) – (44)
Disposals 32 6 31 – 69
Accumulated depreciation  
at 30 September 2023 (56) (87) (99) – (242)
 
Carrying amount at  
30 September 2023 74 40 54 14 182

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

As at 30 September 2024, the Group has contractual commitments for purchases of property, plant and 
equipment amounting to EUR 10 million (2022/23: EUR 14 million).
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3.3	 Depreciation, amortization, and impairment
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant, equipment, and  
right-of-use assets recognized in the consolidated statement of  
profit or loss as follows:

Cost of goods sold 23 21
Research and development expenses 2 2
Selling and general administrative expenses 68 70
Total 93 93

Amortization and impairment of intangible assets recognized in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

Cost of goods sold 110 37
Research and development expenses 135 45
Selling and general and administrative expenses 1,200 125
Total 1,445 207

Please refer to Note 1.3 for effects on the accelerated amortization of intangible assets.

3.2	 Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

§	 Accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Cost comprises the purchase price and costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its loca-
tion and condition necessary for its intended use. In addition, the initial estimate of the costs related to 
dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which the asset is located are added to the 
cost, if relevant. Where individual components of an item of property, plant and equipment, that is materi-
al, have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items, and depreciated separately. 

§	 Accounting policies 

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the expected useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment, taking into account the expected 
residual value after the end of the useful life.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Factory and office buildings� 20 - 50 years
Technical machinery & equipment� 4 - 10 years
Other fixtures and fittings, tools  
and equipment, furniture etc� 3 - 5 years

Land is not depreciated. 

Estimated useful lives and residual values are 
reassessed annually. If the residual value exceeds 
the carrying amount, depreciation is discontin-
ued. When changing the expected useful lives 
or the expected residual value, the effect on the 
depreciation is recognized prospectively as a 
change in accounting estimates. 

Depreciation is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as cost of goods sold, 
research and development expenses and selling 
and general administrative expenses.

Amortization 
Amortization is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the expected useful lives of other 
intangible assets.

For patents, licenses, acquired intellectual 
property and other intangible assets arising from 
contractual or other legal rights, the useful life 
is the shorter of the period of the contractual or 
legal rights and the economic useful life.

For acquired customer relationships, the useful 
life is based on normal attrition/churn rates 
within the hearing aid business in the market in 
question. The useful life for customer contracts is 
based on the contractual term including expected 
extensions of the term.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Completed development projects� 3 years
Patents and rights� 3 - 10 years
Customer relationships acquired�   3 - 5 years
Trademarks� 20 years
Acquired intellectual property� 5 years
Software� 3 - 10 years

The estimated useful life and amortization 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate 
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Dur-
ing the year, the estimated useful lives of custom-
er relationships and core patented technology 
and intellectual property were reassessed. Please 
refer to Note 1.3 for details on the reassessment. 

Amortization is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as cost of goods sold, 
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impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of intangible assets, other than 
goodwill, and impairment of property, plant 
and equipment is reversed only to the extent of 
changes in the assumptions and estimates under-
lying the impairment calculation. Impairment is 
only reversed to the extent that the asset’s new 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount of the asset after amortization had the 
asset not been impaired.

    �Significant judgments and  
accounting estimates 

Impairment test – Goodwill
The recoverable amount of the CGU was tested 
on the basis of fair value less costs to sell. The fair 
value less cost to sell was determined mainly by 
computing the Enterprise Value (“EV”).

The EV was estimated as of 30 September 2024 
by taking the market capitalization of a compa-
rable peer group, adjusted for the most updated 
carrying amounts of interest-bearing debt and 
other liabilities. The estimated EV was then com-
pared with the respective consensus EBITDA to 
derive multiple, taking into account an illiquidity 
discount and control premium. 

The Group applied the EV/EBITDA multiple to the 
adjusted consensus EBITDA of WS Audiology; the 
carrying amount of the CGU was determined to 

research and development expenses and selling 
and general administrative expenses.

Impairment
Goodwill and other intangible assets not yet 
available for use, e.g. development projects in 
progress, are not subject to amortization, but are 
tested for impairment at least annually, irrespec-
tive of whether there is any indication that they 
may be impaired.

Other intangible assets, which are subject to 
amortization, and property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carry-
ing amount may not be recoverable. If assets do 
not generate cash flows that are largely inde-
pendent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets, the impairment test is performed at the 
level of the CGU to which the asset belong.

Recoverability of assets is measured by compar-
ing the carrying amount of the asset or CGU with 
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of 
the asset’s or CGU’s value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. 

If the carrying amount of an asset, or of the 
CGU to which the asset belong, is higher than 
its recoverable amount, the carrying amount 
is reduced to the recoverable amount, and an 

be lower than its recoverable amount and the 
Group has therefore no impairment loss to be 
recognized. 

Key assumptions used in the determination of the 
fair value less costs to sell are consensus EBITDA 
for the comparable companies as well as for WS 
Audiology, where adjustments for one-time cost 
as described in the management commentary 
were factored in. Furthermore, in using the 
market-based EV/EBITDA multiple models, the 
Group has applied relevant illiquidity discount 
and control premium to reflect the difference 
in ownership structure between WS Audiology 
and the comparable companies. The adjusted 
consensus EBITDA is based on Management’s 
best estimates and most recent financial budgets 
for the coming year as approved by the Board of 
Directors. All the above inputs are level 3 input 
factors according to the fair value hierarchy. 

As of 30 September 2024, the EV/EBITDA multiple 
applied is 16.5 (2022/23: 17.9). Management has 
not identified any reasonably possible changes 
in the above key assumptions that could cause 
the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable 
amount.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is subject to 
estimation uncertainties and changes to the key 
assumptions may have significant risk of result-
ing in material adjustments in future periods. A 
decrease in EV/EBITDA multiple applied by 5.0 or 
a decrease in adjusted consensus EBITDA applied 
by 5% will not result in impairment loss.

3.3	� Depreciation, amortization, and impairment (cont'd)

§	 Accounting policies (cont'd) At the time of reassessment of the useful lives 
of certain intangible assets during the year (cf. 
Note 1.3), management has also tested goodwill 
for impairment. As part of the assessment, the 
recoverable amount of the CGU was tested on the 
same basis and no impairment was required. 
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3.4	 Right-of-use assets/Lease liabilities 
Right-of-use assets:

EURm
Buildings and 

retail shops
Vehicle  

fleet

Other plant, 
fixtures and 

operating 
equipment Total

Cost at 1 October 2023 346 11 2 359
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments (5) 1 (1) (5)
Additions 195 9 1 205
Disposals (261) (13) (1) (275)
Remeasurement 13 – – 13
Cost at 30 September 2024 288 8 1 297

Accumulated depreciation and  
impairment at 1 October 2023 (155) (7) (1) (163)
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments 3 (1) – 2
Depreciation (50) (2) – (52)
Disposals 114 7 1 122
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment at 30 September 2024 (88) (3) * (91)

Carrying amount at 30 September 2024 200 5 1 206

EURm
Buildings and 

retail shops
Vehicle  

fleet

Other plant, 
fixtures and 

operating 
equipment Total

Cost at 1 October 2022 307 10 2 319
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments (12) – – (12)
Additions 60 3 – 63
Disposals (25) (2) – (27)
Remeasurement 16 – – 16
Cost at 30 September 2023 346 11 2 359

Accumulated depreciation and  
impairment at 1 October 2022 (115) (5) (1) (121)
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments 4 – – 4
Depreciation (45) (4) – (49)
Disposals 15 2 – 17
Remeasurement (14) – – (14)
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment at 30 September 2023 (155) (7) (1) (163)

Carrying amount at 30 September 2023 191 4 1 196
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§	 Accounting policies

When the Group is the lessee: 
At the inception of the contract, the Group as-
sesses if the contract contains a lease. A contract 
contains a lease if the contract conveys the right 
to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. Re-
assessment is only required when the terms and 
conditions of the contract are changed. 

Right-of-use assets 
The Group recognized a right-of-use asset and 
lease liability at the date which the underlying 
asset is available for use. Right-of-use assets 
are measured at cost which comprises the initial 
measurement of lease liabilities adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commence-
ment date and lease incentive received. Any initial 
direct costs that would not have been incurred if 
the lease had not been obtained are added to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use assets. 

These right-of-use assets are subsequently 
depreciated using the straight-line method from 
the commencement date to the earlier of the end 
of the useful life of the right-of-use assets or the 
end of the lease term. 

Lease liabilities 
The initial measurement of lease liability is meas-
ured at the present value of the lease payments 
discounted using the implicit rate in the lease if 
the rate can be readily determined. If that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the incremental 
borrowing rate is used. 

Lease payments include the following: 
•	� Fixed payment (including in-substance fixed 

payments), less any lease incentives receiva-
bles; 

•	� Variable lease payment that are based on an 
index or rate, initially measured using the index 
or rate at the commencement date; 

•	� Amount expected to be payable under residual 
value guarantees;

•	� The exercise price of a purchase option if it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and  

•	� Payment of penalties for terminating the lease, 
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising 
that option.  

For contracts that contain both lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration to each lease component on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease 
and non-lease component. The Group has elected 
to not separate lease and non-lease component 
for property leases and account for these as one 
single lease component.  

3.4	 Right-of-use assets/Lease liabilities (cont'd)
During the year, the Group migrated to a new lease accounting system. As part of the migration, all data 
on the Group’s lease contracts previously maintained in the old lease accounting system were transferred 
to the new system effective 1 February 2024. The last date of maintenance of the Group’s lease contracts 
information and accounting records in the old lease accounting system was 31 January 2024. All right-
of-use assets costs and accumulated depreciation balances maintained in the old system as of 31 January 
2024 were recorded as a disposal and the right-of-use assets costs recalculated in the new system as of 1 
February 2024 were recorded as an addition. The net impact arising from the adjustments is EUR 7 million 
recorded as depreciation expense. 

Other disclosures relating to right-of-use assets/lease liabilities are as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Interest expense on lease liabilities (18) (11)

Lease expense not capitalized in lease liabilities:

Lease expense – short-term leases and low value assets (11) (6)

Variables lease payment which do not depends on an index or rate * *
Total cash outflow for all leases (64) (60)

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

The incremental borrowing rates of the Group’s lease liabilities range from 4% to 25% (2022/23: 3% to 
15%) per annum as at 30 September 2024. The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities is included in Note 
4.2 Financial risks and financial instruments. 
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3.5	 Customer loans
Customer loans are as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Non-current 57 57
Current 16 16
Total 73 73

The below table shows the carrying amount of customer loans by categories representing Management’s 
credit risk assessment (credit risk rating grades) and gross carrying amounts.

Group internal credit rating

Expected 
credit loss 
(ECL) rate

Basis for recognition of  
expected credit loss

Gross  
carrying 
amount 
(EURm)

30 September 2024: 
Performing 1% 12-month expected credit loss (Low risk) 52
Performing 4% 12-month expected credit loss (Medium risk) 17
Underperforming 45% Lifetime expected credit losses (High risk) 6
Credit impaired 84% Assets derecognized through the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss 
(In default)

12

Total customer loans at 30 September 2024 87

30 September 2023: 
Performing 1% 12-month expected credit loss (Low risk) 49
Performing 5% 12-month expected credit loss (Medium risk) 19
Underperforming 38% Lifetime expected credit losses (High risk) 8
Credit impaired 93% Assets derecognized through the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss 
(In default)

15

Total customer loans at 30 September 2023 91

Lease liability is measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. Lease liability 
is remeasured when:  
•	� There is a change in future lease payments 

arising from changes in an index or rate;  
•	� There is a change in the Group’s assessment of 

whether it will exercise an extension option; or 
•	� There is a modification in the scope or the 

consideration of the lease that was not part of 
the original term.

Lease liability is remeasured with a correspond-
ing adjustment to the right-of-use asset, or is re-
corded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

Short-term and low value leases 
The Group has elected to not recognize right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leas-
es that have lease terms of 12 months or less and 
low value leases, except for leased asset subject 
to sublease arrangements. Lease payments relat-
ing to these leases are expensed to profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

    �Significant judgments and  
accounting estimates 

The lessee's incremental borrowing rate is the 
rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay 
to borrow over a similar term and with a similar 
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset 
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a 
similar economic environment. That is, the rate 
specific to:
•	� The lessee – i.e. it is a company specific rate that 

reflects the credit worthiness of the company
•	� The term of the arrangement
•	� The amount of the funds “borrowed”
•	� The “security”- i.e. the nature and quality of the 

underlying asset; and
•	� The economic environment, encompassing the 

jurisdiction, the currency and the date at which 
the lease entered into. 

3.4	 Right-of-use assets/Lease liabilities (cont'd)
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The following significant changes in gross 
carrying amount of customer loans contributed 
to changes in the loss allowance:

•	� New customer loans of EUR 20 million (2022/23: 
EUR 22 million) were issued in the financial year 
ended 30 September 2024;

•	� Customer loans with a gross carrying amount 
of EUR 1 million (2022/23: EUR 1 million) went 
from performing to underperforming during 
the financial year ended 30 September 2024;

•	� Customer loans with a gross carrying amount 
of EUR 18 million (2022/23: EUR 17 million) were 
repaid in the financial year ended 30 September 
2024.

§	 Accounting policies

Customer loans are initially recognized at fair 
value less transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost less loss allowance 
or impairment losses. Any difference between the 
nominal value and the fair value of the loans at 
initial recognition is treated as a prepaid discount 
on future sales to the customer, and is recognized 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
a reduction of revenue as and when the customer 
purchases goods from the Group.

The fair value of customer loans at initial recog-
nition is measured at the present value of future 
repayments of the loan discounted at a market 
interest rate corresponding to the money market 
rate based on the expected maturity of the loan 
with the addition of a risk premium. The effec-
tive interest on customer loans is recognized as 
interest income in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss over the term of the loans.

A loss allowance is recognized at initial recogni-
tion and subsequently based on 12-months ex-
pected credit losses, unless a significant increase 
has arisen since the initial recognition of the 
loan, in which case the loss allowance is based on 
lifetime expected credit losses.

Customer loans are written off when all possible 
options have been exhausted and there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery.

3.5	 Customer loans (cont'd)
The 12-month and lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) have developed as follows:

EURm

Performing 
(12-month 

ECL – 
Low risk)

Performing 
(12-month 

ECL – 
Medium 

risk)

Under- 
performing 

(Lifetime 
ECL)

Credit 
impaired 
(Lifetime 

ECL) Total

Opening loss allowance at  
1 October 2023 * 1 3 14 18
Foreign currency translation 
differences – – (1) (1) (2)
Net remeasurement of loss 
allowance * * 1 (3) (2)
Closing loss allowance at  
30 September 2024  
(calculated under IFRS 9) * 1 3 10 14

Opening loss allowance at  
1 October 2022 – 1 5 16 22
Foreign currency translation 
differences – – – (1) (1)
Net remeasurement of loss 
allowance * – (2) (1) (3)
Closing loss allowance at  
30 September 2023  
(calculated under IFRS 9) * 1 3 14 18

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil
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3.6	 Other assets
Other non-current assets are as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Prepaid assets 2 3
Asset for deferred compensation plan 13 11
Derivative financial instruments 2 17
Deposits 7 7
Deferred service cost 2 1
Others 8 9
Total 34 48

Other current assets are as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Prepaid assets 26 31
Derivative financial instruments 9 61
Miscellaneous tax receivables 30 39
Deposits 1 2
Others 18 14
Total 84 147

§	 Accounting policies

Other non-derivative financial assets are recognized initially at fair value less directly attributable trans-
actions costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less 
impairment. A loss allowance is recognized at initial recognition and subsequently based on 12-months 
expected credit losses, unless a significant increase has arisen since the initial recognition of the loans 
and receivables, in which case the loss allowance is based on lifetime expected credit losses.

For accounting policies on derivative financial instruments, please refer to Note 4.2.

3.7	 Inventories
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Raw materials and purchased components 86 95
Work in progress 26 21
Right of return 10 13
Finished goods and goods for resale 101 77
Total 223 206
 

Write-downs, provisions for obsolescence etc. included in the above (42) (38)

Included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under production costs:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Write-downs of inventories for the year (6) –
Reversal of write-downs of inventories for the year – 3
Cost of goods sold during the year (633) (697)
Total (639) (694)

§	 Accounting policies

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value, cost being generally determined 
on the basis of a weighted average method. Cost comprises raw materials, consumables, direct labour 
and indirect production overheads. Indirect production overheads comprise indirect supplies, wages, 
and salaries, amortization of brands and software, as well as maintenance and depreciation of machinery, 
plant and equipment used for production.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and selling expenses.
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3.8	 Trade receivables 

EURm
Current  
not due

1-30 days  
past due

31-60 days  
past due

61-90 days  
past due

91-180 days 
past due

More than 181 
days past due Total

30 September 2024
Gross carrying amount – Trade receivables 266 35 15 10 17 30 373
Sales rebates (26) – – – – – (26)
Specific loss allowance at 30 September 2024 
(expected credit loss model) (3) (1) (1) (1) (2) (16) (24)
General loss allowance at 30 September 2024 
(expected credit loss model) (1) (2) * * * (1) (4)
Trade receivables at 30 September 2024 236 32 14 9 15 13 319

Expected loss rate -1.5% -8.6% -6.7% -10.0% -11.8% -56.7% -7.5%

30 September 2023        
Gross carrying amount – Trade receivables 269 31 14 8 14 29 365
Sales rebates (31) – – – – – (31)
Specific loss allowance at 30 September 2023 
(expected credit loss model) (2) (1) (1) (1) (2) (21) (28)
General loss allowance at 30 September 2023 
(expected credit loss model) (1) * * * (1) * (2)
Trade receivables at 30 September 2023 235 30 13 7 11 8 304

Expected loss rate -1.1% -3.2% -7.1% -12.5% -21.4% -72.4% -8.2%

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil
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The below table shows the movement in lifetime expected credit losses that has been recognized for trade 
receivables and contract assets in accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9.

EURm
Collectively 

assessed

Individually  
assessed  

(credit impaired) Total

Opening loss allowance at 1 October 2023 (2) (28) (30)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (2) 6 4
Amounts written off – (2) (2)
Closing loss allowance at 30 September 2024 (4) (24) (28)

Opening loss allowance at 1 October 2022 (2) (27) (29)
Net remeasurement of loss allowance – (1) (1)
Amounts written off * – *
Closing loss allowance at 30 September 2023 (2) (28) (30)

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

Receivables acquired in business combinations are recognized in the consolidated financial statements 
at fair value at the date of acquisition, which in most cases equals the carrying amounts net of loss allow-
ance. Expected credit losses related to receivables acquired in business combinations are therefore only 
included in the above to the extent that the loss allowance for the receivables has increased compared to 
the acquisition date. 

§	 Accounting policies

Trade receivables and contract assets are meas-
ured at amortized cost less allowance for lifetime 
expected credit losses.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade 
receivables and contract assets have been 
grouped based on shared credit risk characteris-
tics and the days past due. For trade receivables 
and contract assets that are considered credit 
impaired, the expected credit loss is determined 
individually.

Loss allowance is calculated using a provision 
matrix that incorporates an ageing factor, geo-
graphical risk and specific customer knowledge. 
The provision matrix is based on historical credit 
losses incurred within relevant time bands of 
days past due adjusted for a forward-looking 
element. 

Trade receivables and contract assets are written 
off when all possible options have been exhaust-
ed and there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery.

3.8	 Trade receivables (cont'd)



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Financial Statements  •  Consolidated Financial Statements

WS Audiology  •  Annual Report 2023/24 132

3.9	 Other liabilities
Other non-current liabilities are as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Derivative financial instruments 48 2
Deferred revenue 16 23
Employee related liabilities 2 3
Liability under MPP scheme 14 53
Others 2 4
Total 82 85

Other current liabilities are as follows: 

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Accrued interest 116 102
Bonuses and discounts to customers 15 19
Customers with net credit balances 8 9
Customer prepayment 12 12
Deferred revenue 17 14
Derivative financial instruments 2 2
Employee related liabilities 84 82
Payroll and social security taxes 45 45
Sales tax and other tax liabilities 18 18
Others 23 21
Total 340 324

§	 Accounting policies

Financial liabilities are measured initially at fair 
value less transaction costs and subsequently at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

The Group bifurcates embedded derivatives 
at initial recognition when they are not closely 
related to the respective host contract. Bifurcated 
derivatives are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Liability under MPP scheme is measured at fair 
value, with reference to Note 5.2.

Other liabilities are measured at amortized cost. 
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3.10	 Provisions

EURm
Warran-

ties
Right of 

return

Asset 
retire-

ment 
obliga-

tion
Earnout 

provision Others Total

Provisions at 1 October 2023 54 28 8 14 10 114
Foreign exchange adjustments – (1) – – – (1)
Additions 37 10 – – 15 62
Additions through business 
combinations – – – 2 – 2
Usage – (2) – (3) – (5)
Reversals (29) (8) – (9) (7) (53)
Provisions at 30 September 2024 62 27 8 4 18 119

Which is presented in the consolidated  
statement of financial position as

Non-current liabilities 25 – 8 4 13 50
Current liabilities 37 27 – – 5 69
Provisions at 30 September 2024 62 27 8 4 18 119

The Group’s provisions are generally expected 
to result in cash outflow during the next 1 to 10 
years.

Warranties represent Management’s best esti-
mate of the Group’s liability under assurance 
type warranties granted on hearing aids sold. 
The warranty period of regular assurance type 
warranties differs depending on jurisdictions and 
ranges between 2 and 5 years.

Right of return relates to products sold for which 
customers have the right to return the products 
at their own discretion within a specified period. 
Based on historical data, return rates are calcu-
lated and provisions are recorded to cover the 
expected cost.

Asset retirement obligation relates to the 
Group’s obligations to restore rented premises 
to the certain standards upon the expiry of the 
lease contracts including removal of leasehold 
improvements and other assets from the prem-
ises.

Earnout provision from business combinations 
relates to components of the purchase price for 
which the payments depend on the achievement 
of defined performance measures. There was no 
material business combination during the year. 

§	 Accounting policies

A provision is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect is material, provisions are measured 
at present value by discounting the expected 
future cash flows expected to settle the liability at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assess-
ment of the time value of money.
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3.10	 Provisions (cont'd)

    �Significant judgments and  
accounting estimates

Significant estimates are involved in the deter-
mination of provisions related to warranty costs, 
right of return, legal proceedings. Due to the 
technological features of the Group’s products, 
the Group incurs a substantial amount of warran-
ty costs and the determination of future warranty 
costs related to products sold is based on historic 
results as well as estimated product defects.

In some jurisdictions, the Group sells extended 
warranties to customers and/or provide other 
service-type warranties in addition to regular 
(assurance-type) warranties. Such warranties are 
treated as separate performance obligations in 
the contracts with the customers and are recog-
nized as contract liabilities and not provisions. In 
determining whether a warranty is an assurance 
type warranty or a service type warranty, Man-
agement considers factors such as whether the 
warranty is required by law, the length of the war-
ranty coverage period and the nature of the tasks 
that the entity promises to perform in case of 
product defects. Generally, warranties covering 
periods after 3 years from the sale of the hearing 
aid are considered to be service-type warranties 
and treated as separate performance obligations.

The Group is from time to time subject to legal 
disputes and regulatory proceedings in several 
jurisdictions. Such proceedings may result in 
criminal or civil sanctions, penalties, damage 
claims and other claims against the Group. Reg-
ulatory and legal proceedings as well as govern-
ment investigations often involve complex legal 
issues and are subject to substantial uncertain-
ties. Accordingly, Management exercises consid-
erable judgment in determining whether there 
is a present obligation as a result of a past event, 
whether it is more likely than not that an outflow 
of economic resources will be required and the 
estimated amount of such outflow. Management 
considers the input of external counsels on each 
case, as well as known outcomes in case law. 
Although, Management believes that the total 
provisions for legal proceedings are adequate 
based on currently available information, there 
can be no assurance that there will not be any 
changes in facts or circumstances, or that any 
future lawsuits, claims, proceedings or investiga-
tions will not be material.
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4	 Capital structure and financing items

4.1	 Outstanding shares 

Outstanding 
shares (mil)

Total number 
of shares (mil)

Nominal value 
of outstanding 
shares (EURm)

Number/value of shares at 30 September 2023 100 100 100
Issuance of shares 11 11 11
Number/value of shares at 30 September 2024 111 111 111

All shares are fully issued and paid up. During the year, the share capital was increased by 11,269,805 ordi-
nary shares by cash payment of EUR 500,000,000 at a nominal value of EUR 1 per share. After the capital 
increase, the Group’s share capital of EUR 111,270,005 is divided into a corresponding number of 111,270,005 
shares with equal voting and dividend rights (2022/23: EUR 100,000,200 divided into a corresponding 
number of 100,000,200). There are no restrictions on the negotiability or voting rights of the shares.

Capital structure
The Group’s ambition is to maintain access to a strong capital base and with a high degree of investor, 
creditor and market confidence to support the strategic development of the Group. To support this ambi-
tion, the Group has obtained a credit rating from the three rating agencies Moody’s, Standard & Poor and 
Fitch Ratings (refer to page 34). 

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (short-term and long-term borrowings disclosed in 
Note 4.2 after deducting cash and cash equivalents) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, 
reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests). 

The Group raised debt in 2019 to finance the establishment of the Group through the merger of Sivantos 
and Widex. In April 2024, the Group refinanced its debt, extending the maturity of the senior secured 
term loans by 3 years to 2029. As part of the refinancing, EUR 500 million of equity injection from the 
shareholders was used to deleverage the capital structure and the 2nd lien loan was repaid with proceeds 
from a new PIK note. Further, the Revolving Credit Facility was increased from EUR 260 million to EUR 350 
million.

In September 2024 the Group repriced its senior secured debt and raised EUR 100 million of incremental 
term loans to reduce the amount drawn on the revolving facility with effect from October 2024. 

The Group's debt is shown in table below:

Debt Maturity Hedge interest Interest rate

30 September 2024
Term Loan B EUR 1,830 million1 February 2029 Partly till FY 2027 Euribor + 4.5%1

Term Loan B USD 1,047 million2 February 2029 Partly till FY 2027 Term SOFR + 4.25%2

PIK note EUR 525 million August 2029 No Euribor + 8.0%
Drawn Revolving Credit Facility  
EUR 128 million August 2028 No Euribor + 3.5%

30 September 2023
Term Loan B EUR 2,063 million February 2026 Partly till FY 2024 Euribor + 4.0%
Term Loan B USD 1,180 million February 2026 Partly till FY 2024 Libor + 3.75%
2nd Lien Loan EUR 525 million February 2027 Partly till FY 2024 Euribor + 6.75%
Drawn Revolving Credit Facility EUR 85 
million August 2025 No Euribor + 2.75%

1	 Increased to EUR 1,900 million with interest rate at Euribor + 4.0% after repricing effective 30 October 2024
2	 Increased to USD 1,085 million with interest rate at Term SOFR + 3.75% after repricing effective 30 October 2024

If Euribor or Term SOFR is less than zero, the rate shall be deemed as zero.

The senior secured term loans are secured by a pledge of the shares of major subsidiaries as well as 
pledge of assets of major subsidiaries and are subject to a loan covenant. The Group has complied with 
the loan covenants of the Senior Facilities Agreement.

Interest rate benchmark transition for non-derivative financial instruments
The Group had repriced its loans from LIBOR equivalent rates to Term SOFR. Due to the bi-annual interest 
setting, the first interest period priced on Term SOFR took effect from 31 October 2023. There were no 
material changes from the change in interest rate benchmark.
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§	 Accounting policies

Proposed dividend is recognized as a liability at 
the date when it is adopted at the Annual General 
Meeting (declaration date). The dividend recom-
mended by the Board of Directors, and therefore 
expected to be paid for the year, is disclosed in 
the notes.

    �Significant judgments

The refinancing transaction involved the re-
placement of the original debt with a new debt. 
Management assessed that the new debt offering 
was an arm’s length market offering that was 
not dependent on the redemption of the original 
debt. Factors assessed include the early redemp-
tion option clause in the original debt agreement 
under which the existing debt were settled, the 
issuance of new debt being offered in a market-
place not exclusive to existing lenders, equal 
terms being offered to all new lenders and the 
composition of lenders of the new debt.

Management has determined that the settlement 
of the original term loans as part of the refinanc-
ing transaction meets the criteria for derecogni-
tion under IFRS 9 as the liabilities were settled in 
full and the legal obligations to repay under the 
existing facility agreement were extinguished.

on all customers annually and on an ongoing 
basis. The Group does not require collateral in 
respect of financial assets. However, the Group 
has credit enhancements such as personal guaran-
tees and share pledges related to customer loan. 
Assessment of the credit risk related to customers 
is further described in Note 3.5 Customer loans 
and Note 3.8 Trade receivables.

There were no significant concentrations of credit 
risk at 30 September 2024 and 30 September 2023.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of financial 
assets is represented by their carrying amount. 
Concerning trade receivables and other receiv-
ables, as well as loans or receivables included in 
line item ‘Other financial assets’ that are neither 
impaired nor past due, there were no indica-
tions as of 30 September 2024 (2022/23: Nil) that 
defaults in payment obligations will occur.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk results from the Group’s potential 
inability to meet its financial liabilities. 

The Group finances itself from its operating cash 
flow and its available liquidity, including cash 
balances and the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 
96 million as of 30 September 2024 (2022/23: EUR 
114 million). In addition, the Group has access 
to EUR 2171 million (2022/23: EUR 166 million) 
of undrawn Revolving Credit Facility as of 30 

4.2	� Financial risks and financial instruments
Financial risk management
The Group is exposed to financial risks arising 
from its operating, investing and financial activi-
ties, including foreign exchange risk, interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.

Liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest 
rate risk are managed by Group Treasury while 
customer credit risk is managed by the individual 
business units and affiliates based on a new 
credit policy implemented during the year. The 
Group uses financial instruments only to mitigate 
interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk. The 
objective, policies and processes for managing 
the risk exposure to these items are further 
explained in the following sections.

Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as an unexpected loss in 
cash and earnings if the customer is unable to 
pay its obligations in due time. The Group may 
incur losses if the credit quality of its customers 
deteriorates or if they default on their payment 
obligations to the Group. The Group’s exposure 
to credit risk arises primarily from trade and 
other receivables including loans to customers. 

The Group has exposure to customer credit risk 
and the credit risk is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. This includes the review of individual receiv-
ables and of individual customer creditworthiness 
on a case-by-case basis as the analysis of indi-
vidual customer payment performance and histor-
ical bad debts. Credit evaluations are performed 

September 2024. With its strong operating cash 
flow, the Group expects to be able to meet all of 
its present and future obligations arising from 
operational cash needs.

In addition to having implemented effective 
working capital and cash management, the 
Group has implemented short-term and medium 
term-liquidity forecasts. Group Treasury monitors 
the level of expected cash inflows on trade and 
other receivables together with expected cash 
outflows on trade and other payables. 

The Group maintains an in-house banking 
and cash pool setup. A significant part of cash 
balances from affiliates is pooled centrally with 
Group Treasury to secure an effective liquidity 
management and use of funds within the Group. 

The following table reflects all contractually fixed 
payoffs for settlement, repayments and interest 
resulting from recognized financial liabilities. It 
includes expected net cash outflows from deriv-
ative financial liabilities that were in place at 30 
September 2024 and 30 September 2023. Such 
expected net cash outflows are undiscounted net 
cash outflows for the respective upcoming finan-
cial years, based on the earliest date on which the 
Group could be required to pay. Cash outflows 
for financial liabilities (including interest) without 
fixed amount or timing are based on the condi-
tions existing at 30 September 2024 and 30 
September 2023.  

4.1	 Outstanding shares (cont'd)

1	 Exclude EUR 5 million of revolving credit facility set aside for guarantees
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EURm
Less than  

1 year
Between  
1-5 years

More than  
5 years Total

30 September 2024
Interest-bearing debt 251 4,669 – 4,920

Lease liabilities 62 144 95 301
Trade payables 223 – – 223
Other financial liabilities 297 16 – 313
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 833 4,829 95 5,757
 

Derivative financial liabilities 2 48 – 50

30 September 2023
Interest-bearing debt 337 4,331 – 4,668
Lease liabilities 51 132 92 275
Trade payables 252 – – 252
Other financial liabilities 273 56 – 329
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 913 4,519 92 5,524
 

Derivative financial liabilities 2 2 – 4

The risk implied from the values in the table above reflects the one-sided scenario of cash outflows only. 
Obligations under trade payables and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of 
assets used in the Group’s ongoing operations such as property, plant and equipment, and investments in 
working capital such as inventories and trade receivables.

4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
Foreign currency risk 

Translation risk and effects of foreign currency translation
Most of the Group’s entities are located outside the Eurozone. Since the Group’s reporting currency is 
EUR, the financial statements of foreign operations are translated into EUR for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. To consider the effects of foreign currency translation in the risk 
management, the general assumption is that investments in foreign operations are permanent and that 
reinvestment is continuous. Effects from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on the translation 
of net assets amounts into EUR are reflected in the Group’s consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
The Group does not hedge net investments in foreign operations. 

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
The following table demonstrates the approximate effect from the Group’s cash, trade receivables, trade 
payables and loans on the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss (financial items) in response to 
fluctuation of the currencies other than the Group’s reporting currency EUR. This analysis assumes that 
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

EURm (Loss)/Profit

30 September 2024
JPY +5% (20)
USD +5% (16)
SGD +5% (3)

 

30 September 2023
USD +5% (60)
SGD +5% (5)
BRL +5% 2
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4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
Interest rate risk
At 30 September 2024, the Group’s long-term debt consists of secured term loans of EUR 1,830 million 
(2022/23: EUR 2,063 million) and USD 1,047 million (2022/23: USD 1,180 million) with a floating interest rate 
of which 72% (2022/23: 90%) have been swapped into fixed interest rate. The hedge ratio does not include 
PIK note of EUR 525 million due to the non-cash nature of the debt instrument. The hedge ratio would 
have been 58% including PIK note. The Group has applied hedge accounting in relation to most of these 
interest rate and cross currency swaps. The Group did not adopt hedge accounting for cross currency 
swaps used to convert USD debt to JPY debt which better match our Group’s commercial EBITDA exposure.

Specification of net interest-bearing debt
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Cash and cash equivalents 96 114
Bank loans, non-current liabilities (3,316) (3,668)
Bank loans, current liabilities (88) (56)
Total net interest-bearing debt (3,308) (3,610)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The Group is exposed to changes in the following interest rates: EURIBOR and LIBOR or Term SOFR. 
The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the reporting 
date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding 
(after hedging) at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year. A 1 percentage point increase 
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk and represents management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

At 30 September 2024, if interest rates had been 1 percentage point higher and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s financial results for the financial year ended 30 September 2024 would reduce 
by EUR 14 million (2022/23: EUR 4 million). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest 
rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Hedging of future cash flows
Foreign currency exposure and hedging
The Group has cash flow in foreign currencies due to its international operations and USD denominated 
debt which exposes the Group to fluctuations in exchange rates vs reporting currency EUR. Foreign 
currency exchange rate fluctuations may create unwanted and unpredictable earnings and cash flow 
volatility. The Group manufactures and distributes most of its products in Singapore and Denmark. The 
products are sold to its regional affiliates and as a general principle invoiced in the currency of the buying 
entities.

The majority of the Group’s sales and costs are in USD, EUR, JPY, GBP, DKK and SGD. The largest foreign 
exchange risk for the Group are JPY, USD and SGD. The exchange rate risk in DKK is regarded as low 
because of DKK’s fixed exchange rate against EUR. The Group’s hedging policy is to reduce the Group 
currency exposure mainly through employment of foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate 
the Group’s major risks from adverse foreign exchange movements impact on net cashflow for 3 to 12 
months rolling forward. 

The Group’s currency risk is centrally managed by Group Treasury. The policy for the Group is to maintain 
an adequate hedging level of between 40% and 90% for currencies of net exposure above a threshold of 
EUR 15 million with exception given to currencies with high cost of hedging and low cashflow predicta-
bility. Group Treasury is not allowed to undertake any financial transactions in foreign currencies of spec-
ulative nature. The Group uses forward contracts to hedge its currency risk in order to mitigate negative 
impact of adverse movements in foreign exchange rates on the Group’s operating results. 

The Group has also adopted a strategy to hedge its financial leverage by converting 70% of its USD 
denominated debt into EUR and JPY through the use of cross currency interest rate swaps. This reduces 
the financial leverage volatility by having a currency composition of the debt structure that better 
matches the Group's commercial EBITDA exposure.
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Cash flow hedges of foreign currency risk
Hedging instruments:

30 Sept. 2024

Average  
exchange  

rate

Notional 
value: 

Foreign  
currency

Notional  
value: 

Functional  
currency (EUR)

Carrying amount 
of hedging  

instruments  
– Assets

Carrying amount 
of hedging 

instruments  
– Liabilities

Rate mil EURm EURm EURm

Sell AUD
< 3 months 1.66 (10.0) 6.0 – (0.2)
3-12 months 1.65 (29.7) 18.0 – (0.2)
Sell CAD
< 3 months 1.48 (10.3) 7.0 0.2 –
3-12 months 1.49 (26.9) 18.0 0.3 –
Sell CNY
< 3 months 7.87 (23.6) 3.0 –     *  
3-12 months 7.82 (78.3) 10.0 * –
Sell GBP
< 3 months 0.87 (6.0) 7.0 – (0.3)
3-12 months 0.86 (29.3) 34.0 – (0.7)
Sell JPY
< 3 months 152.74 (2,276.1) 15.0 0.7 –
3-12 months 155.19 (6,983.6) 45.0 0.5 –
Sell NOK
< 3 months 11.95 (23.9) 2.0 – *
3-12 months 11.66 (134.0) 11.5 0.2 –
Buy SGD
< 3 months 1.45 29.0 (20.0) 0.3 –
3-12 months 1.45 94.2 (65.0) 0.8 –
Buy USD
> 12 months 1.10 315.0 (281.4) – (3.9)

3.0 (5.3)
*  Amount less than EUR 0.1 mil

30 Sept. 2023

Average  
exchange  

rate

Notional 
value: 

Foreign  
currency

Notional 
value: 

Functional  
currency (EUR)

Carrying amount 
of hedging  

instruments  
– Assets

Carrying amount 
of hedging 

instruments  
– Liabilities

Rate mil EURm EURm EURm

Sell AUD
< 3 months 1.59 (12.7) 8.0 0.2 –
3-12 months 1.62 (27.5) 17.0 0.2 –
Sell CAD
< 3 months 1.47 (10.3) 7.0 – (0.2)
3-12 months 1.47 (27.9) 19.0 – (0.5)
Sell GBP
< 3 months 0.88 (4.4) 5.0 – (0.1)
3-12 months             0.88 (27.9) 31.0 – (0.2)
Sell JPY
< 3 months 139.38 (2,090.6) 15.0 1.6 –
3-12 months 145.29 (7,990.9) 55.0 2.9 –
Sell NOK
3-12 months 11.35 136.2 12.0 – *
Buy SGD
< 3 months 1.45 29.0 (20.0) 0.1 –
3-12 months 1.45 91.4 (63.0) 0.4 –

5.4 (1.0)
*  Amount less than EUR 0.1 mil

4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
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4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
Hedged Items - Foreign currency hedge
The hedged items are forecasted transactions and loans denominated in foreign currencies. The ineffec-
tive portions of these hedges are insignificant. 

Interest rate risk hedging
The Group has long-term loans on floating interest rate which expose the Group to interest rate fluc-
tuations. Interest rate and cross currency swaps are used to hedge interest rate risks arising from the 
floating rate loans. The strategy for the Group is to maintain an adequate hedging ratio of between 35% 
to 90% of its interest rate exposure for rolling 24 months. The Board of Directors has the mandate to 
approve an exception to the strategy. The Group applied hedge accounting in relation to these interest 
rate swaps.

Cash flow hedges of interest rate risk
Hedging instruments:

30 Sept. 2024

Weighted 
average  

rate

Notional  
value:

Foreign 
currency

Notional  
value: 

Functional  
currency (EUR)

Carrying 
amount of 

hedging  
instruments  

– Assets

Carrying 
amount of 

hedging 
instruments  

– Liabilities
Rate mil EURm EURm EURm

EUR – 6m Euribor
<6 months 3.34 1,300.0 1,300.0 0.9 –
6-36 months 2.71 1,300.0 1,300.0 – (14.2)

USD
<6 months 3.70 600.0 535.9 0.7 –
6-36 months1 6.70 315.0 281.4 – (5.2)

1.6 (19.4)
1	 Converted to EUR debt and include margin of 4.25%        

30 Sept. 2023

Weighted 
average  

rate

Notional  
value:

Foreign 
currency

Notional  
value: 

Functional  
currency (EUR)

Carrying 
amount of 

hedging  
instruments  

– Assets

Carrying 
amount of 

hedging 
instruments  

– Liabilities
Rate mil EURm EURm EURm

EUR – 6m Euribor
<6 months 0.68 1,865.0 1,865.0 29.0 –
6-15 months 2.80 1,300.0 1,300.0 15.0 –

EUR – 3m Euribor
<6 months 1.04 475.0 475.0 3.0 –

USD
<6 months 1.32 1,080.0 1,019.0 15.0 –
6-15 months 3.70 600.0 566.0 9.0 –

71.0 –

Hedged Items – Interest rate hedge
The hedged items are future interest payments on the Group's debt which are under floating interest 
rates. Details of the Group's debt are disclosed in Note 4.1.
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§	 Accounting policies

Derivative financial instruments,  
including hedge accounting
The Group uses various financial instruments 
to reduce the impact of foreign exchange and 
interest rates on financial results. The derivative 
financial instruments are used to manage the 
exposure to market risk. Treasury enters into 
derivative contracts in accordance with Group 
policies. Financial instruments used include 
foreign currency exchange contracts, interest 
rate swaps, interest rate floors and loan repay-
ment call option (the latter two being bifurcated 
embedded derivatives).

All derivative financial instruments are recog-
nized initially and subsequently at fair value. Any 
attributable transaction costs are recognized in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 
other financial income, net as incurred.

On initial recognition, Management determines 
if the derivative financial instrument qualifies for 
hedge accounting and if so, designates the in-
strument as a hedging instrument in a fair value 
hedge, cash flow hedge or hedge of net invest-
ment respectively.

Cash flow hedges
For cash flow hedges, the portion of the fair value 
adjustments on the hedging instrument that is an 
effective hedge is recognized in other compre-
hensive income and accumulated in a separate 
reserve in equity. The cumulative fair value 
adjustments of these contracts are transferred 
from the reserve in equity and recycled to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss through 
other comprehensive income when the hedged 
transaction is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. However, when the 
forecast transaction subsequently results in the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or non-finan-
cial liability, the transfer from the reserve in equi-
ty is recognized directly in the initial cost or other 
carrying amount of the asset or liability without 
recycling through other comprehensive income.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in the reserve within equity at that time 
remains in the reserve and is recognized when 
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expect-
ed to occur, the cumulative gain or loss existing 
in the reserve is immediately transferred to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss as a recy-
cling through other comprehensive income and 
recognized in other financial income, net.

4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
Cash Flow Hedge Reserve
The risk categories recognized in the cash flow hedge reserve is reconciled in the table below with items 
impacting the comprehensive income for the period.

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Carrying amount at 1 October 34 73

Changes in fair value:
  Foreign currency risk – cash flow hedge 3 *
  Interest rate risk – cash flow hedge (59) (52)

Tax effect 15 13
Carrying amount at 30 September (13) 34

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil
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Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities and Fair value hierarchy  
The below table shows the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities, their carrying amounts and their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

EURm Carrying Amount Fair Value

30 September 2024 Notes 

Financial 
assets used 
as hedging 

instruments

Financial 
assets 

measured at 
amortized 

cost

Financial 
liabilities 

measured 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Financial 
liabilities 

used as 
hedging 

instruments

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortized 

cost Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value
Forward exchange contracts (designated as hedging instruments) 3.6 4 – – – – 4 – 4 – 4
Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedge 3.6 7 – – – – 7 – 7 – 7

11 – – – – 11

Financial assets not measured at fair value 
Trade receivables** 3.8 – 319 – – – 319 – – – –
Customer loans** 3.5 – 73 – – – 73 – – – –
Other financial assets** – 23 – – – 23 – – – –
Cash and cash equivalents** – 96 – – – 96 – – – –

– 511 – – – 511

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Cross currency swap 3.9 – – 25 5 – 30 – 30 – 30
Forward exchange contracts (designated as hedging instruments) 3.9 – – – 1 – 1 – 1 – 1
Forward exchange contracts (not designated as hedging instruments) 3.9 – – 1 – – 1 – 1 – 1
Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedge 3.9 – – – 14 – 14 – 14 – 14
Loan repayment call option and interest rate floors 3.9 – – – 4 – 4 – – 4 4

– – 26 24 – 50

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Trade payables** – – – – 223 223 – – – –
Other financial liabilities** – – – – 313 313 – – – –
Loans under Senior Facilities Agreement and other short-term debt – – – – 3,404 3,404 – – 4 4

– – – – 3,940 3,940
**  The Group has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term trade receivables and payables, because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value.

4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
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EURm Carrying Amount Fair Value

30 September 2023 Notes 

Financial 
assets used 
as hedging 

instruments

Financial 
assets  

measured at 
amortized 

cost

Financial 
liabilities 

measured 
at fair value 

through 
profit or loss

Financial 
liabilities 

used at 
hedging 

instruments

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortized cost Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value
Forward exchange contracts (designated as hedging instruments) 3.6 6 – – – – 6 – 6 – 6
Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedge 3.6 72 – – – – 72 – 72 – 72

78 – – – – 78

Financial assets not measured at fair value 
Trade receivables** 3.8 – 304 – – – 304 – – – –
Customer loans** 3.5 – 73 – – – 73 – – – –
Other financial assets** – 24 – – – 24 – – – –
Cash and cash equivalents** – 114 – – – 114 – – – –

– 515 – – – 515

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Forward exchange contracts (designated as hedging instruments) 3.9 – – – 1 – 1 – 1 – 1
Forward exchange contracts (not designated as hedging instruments) 3.9 – – 1 – – 1 – 1 – 1
Loan repayment call option and interest rate floors 3.9 – – – 2 – 2 – – 2 2

– – 1 3 – 4

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value 
Trade payables** – – – – 252 252 – – – –
Other financial liabilities** – – – – 329 329 – – – –
Loans under Senior Facilities Agreement and other short-term debt – – – – 3,724 3,724 – – – –

– – – – 4,305 4,305

**  The Group has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term trade receivables and payables, because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value.

4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Financial Statements  •  Consolidated Financial Statements

WS Audiology  •  Annual Report 2023/24 144

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other receivables and trade payables 
with a remaining term of up to twelve months, 
other current financial liabilities and borrowings 
under revolving credit facilities are approximately 
equal to their carrying amount, mainly due to the 
short-term maturities of these instruments.

Treasury enters into derivative contracts in 
accordance with Group policies. The exact 
calculation of fair values of derivative financial 
instruments depends on the specific type of 
instrument.

•	� Forward currency contracts – the fair value of 
foreign currency exchange contracts is based 
on forward exchange rates.

•	� Interest rate swaps – the fair value is based on 
discounted cash flows of fixed leg and floating 
legs.

•	� Interest rate floors – the fair value is based on 
discounted cash flows of floorlets.

•	� Loan repayment call option – the fair value is 
based on backward induction method calcu-
lated from valuation model.

The Group select valuation methods based on 
market’s best practice. Market data required in 
the valuation model is extracted from third party 
financial data provider Bloomberg.

The levels of the fair value hierarchy and its appli-
cation to financial assets and financial liabilities 
are described below: 

Level 1:	� Quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: 	� Inputs other than quoted prices that 
are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indi-
rectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: 	� Valuations methods, with significant 
inputs not being based on observable 
market data.

Type
Valuation  
Technique

Significant  
unobservable inputs

Sensitivity of fair  
value to significant  
unobservable inputs

FX contracts The fair value of the 
exchange rate contracts is 
based on forward exchange 
rates (level 2)

Not applicable Not applicable

Interest rate swaps The fair value of interest 
rate swaps are determined 
using discounted cash flows 
of fixed leg and net present 
value of floating leg based 
on forward rate curve, and 
can be categorized as level 
2 (observable inputs) in the 
fair value hierarchy

Not applicable Not applicable

Interest rate floors The fair value of interest 
rate floors is based on 
discounted cash flows or 
floorlets for intrinsic and 
option pricing models with 
implied volatility for time 
value component (level 3 
unobservable inputs) 

Implied volatility Higher implied volatility 
will lead to higher fair 
value and vice versa. 
Change in implied volatility 
will not result in significant 
financial impact

Loan repayment  
call option

Backward induction method 
where total remaining cash 
flows are calculated at 
each prepayment date. The 
prepayment gain is then 
calculated based on the 
probability of a credit rating 
improved at future repay-
ment date (level 3 unobserv-
able data)

1-year migration matrix The higher the proba-
bility of an increase in 
credit quality, the higher 
the value of prepayment 
option 

4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
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The following table shows the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of the loan repayment call 
option and interest rate floors:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Carrying amount at 1 October (2) (7)
Total gains or losses:
- Recognized in profit or loss (2) 5
Carrying amount at 30 September (4) (2)

Offsetting, master netting agreements and similar arrangements  
The Group enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives Association 
(ISDA) master netting agreements/FX Payment Netting Agreements. In general, under such agreements 
the amounts owed by each counterparty on a single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in 
the same currency are aggregated into a single net amount that is payable by one party to the other. In 
certain circumstances – e.g. when a credit event such as a default occurs – all outstanding transactions 
under the agreement are terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a single net amount is 
payable in settlement of all transactions.

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Counterparty A: Goldman Sachs
Derivative assets 0.4 5.9
Derivative liabilities (0.8) (0.6)
Net amount (0.4) 5.3

Counterparty B: Standard Chartered Bank
Derivative assets    – 0.1
Derivative liabilities – (0.7)
Net amount – (0.6)

Counterparty C: Jyske Bank
Derivative assets    3.1 3.7
Derivative liabilities (1.0) (0.3)
Net amount 2.1 3.4

Counterparty D: Nordea Bank
Derivative assets    * *
Derivative liabilities (5.8) –
Net amount (5.8) *

Counterparty E: Danske Bank
Derivative assets    1.6 68.3
Derivative liabilities (20.4) –
Net amount (18.8) 68.3

Counterparty F: Deutsche Bank
Derivative assets    – –
Derivative liabilities (1.7) –
Net amount (1.7) –

Counterparty G: Mizuho Bank
Derivative assets    – –
Derivative liabilities (16.3) –
Net amount (16.3) –
*  Amount less than EUR 0.1 mil

4.2	 Financial risks and financial instruments (cont'd)
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4.3	 Liabilities from financing activities

EURm
Loans and  

borrowings
Other short-

term debt

Derivatives 
relating to 

financing 
agreements

Interest  
rate swaps

Lease  
liabilities Others Total

Liabilities at 1 October 2023 3,771 55 2 (73) 216 – 3,971
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 3,831 33 – – – – 3,864
Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings (51) – – – – – (51)
Interest (paid)/received (315) (3) – 64 (18) (14) (286)
Repayment of loans and borrowings (4,175) – – – – – (4,175)
Payment of lease liabilities – – – – (46) – (46)
Others – – – – – * *
Total changes from financing cash flows (710) 30 – 64 (64) (14) (694)
Accrued loan interest payable/(receivable) 330 3 – (38) – 14 309
Amortization of transaction costs 100 – – – – – 100
Effective changes in hedge accounting – – – 62 – – 62
Fair value loss on derivatives – – – 21 – – 21
Foreign exchange adjustments (59) – – – (4) – (63)
Other changes – – 2 – 78 * 80
Liabilities at 30 September 2024 3,432 88 4 36 226 – 3,786

Liabilities at 1 October 2022  3,885  45 7  (94)  218 –  4,061
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 60 10 – – – – 70
Interest (paid)/received (243) (1) – 59 (11) (15) (211)
Repayment of loans and borrowings (142) – – – – – (142)
Payment of lease liabilities – – – – (49) – (49)
Others – – – – – (1) (1)
Total changes from financing cash flows (325) 9 – 59 (60) (16) (333)
Accrued loan interest payable/(receivable) 286 – – (90) – 15 211
Amortization of transaction costs 21 – – – – – 21
Effective changes in hedge accounting – – – 52 – – 52
Foreign exchange adjustments (96) – – – (7) – (103)
Lease remeasurement – – – – 1 – 1
Other changes – 1 (5) – 64 1 61
Liabilities at 30 September 2023 3,771 55 2 (73) 216 – 3,971

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

§	 Accounting policies

Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are 
initially recognized at fair value less transaction 
costs, and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. Accord-
ingly, the difference between the proceeds and 
the nominal value is recognized in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss over the term of the 
liability.
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4.4	 Financial income and expenses 
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Interest income from customer loans – 1
Other interest income 51 98
Total interest income 51 99
 

Interest expenses (364) (312)
Amortized transaction costs (100) (21)
Total interest expenses (464) (333)
 

Other financial (expenses)/ income, net
Foreign exchange differences 7 79
Change in fair value of derivatives relating to financing arrangements (2) 5
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments,  
not designated hedging instruments (26) 4
Others (3) (10)
Total other financial (expenses)/ income, net (24) 78

Interest income and interest expense includes those generated from financial assets and financial liabil-
ities not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Other interest income includes EUR 38 million 
(2022/23: EUR 88 million) related to recycled amount from hedge accounting.

§	 Accounting policies

Financial income and expenses comprise interest 
income and expenses, gains and losses on se-
curities, exchange rate adjustments on receiv-
ables, payables and transactions denominated 
in foreign currencies, credit card fees, amorti-
zation and impairment of financial assets other 
than trade receivables and contract assets and 
liabilities, gains and losses on derivative financial 
instruments not designated as hedging instru-
ments etc. Financial income includes recycled 
amount from hedge accounting.

Interest income and expenses on financial assets 
and liabilities measured at amortized cost is 
recognized using the effective interest method. 
Other financial income and expenses are recog-
nized on an accrual basis in the period to which 
they relate.
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5	 Other disclosures

5.1	 Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

EURm
Short-term 

benefits
Termination

benefits
Share-based 

payment Total

1 October 2023 – 30 September 2024
Executive Management 11 3 3 17
Board of Directors 2 1 4 7
Total 13 4 7 24

1 October 2022 – 30 September 2023
Executive Management 3 – – 3
Board of Directors 1 – – 1
Total 4 – – 4

The Executive Management and Board of Directors hold ordinary and preference shares in NH Lux ManCo 
SCSp. as part of the MPP. During the year, the MPP was unwinded and the Group introduced a new Long 
Term Incentive ("LTI") program in its place. Please refer to Note 5.2 for details of this program. 

5.2	 Share-based payment
The Group has in place a Management Participation Program (“MPP”) - Certain members of management 
(the “MPP Participants”) may acquire a minority partnership interest in NH Lux ManCo SCSp (“NHSCSp”), 
which is controlled by North Harbour Lux TopCo S.a.r.l. (“TopCo”), a holding entity that is fully consol-
idated within WS Audiology A/S, therefore indirectly having an ownership interest in the intermediate 
Group.

The fair value of the equity instruments on acquisition date is equivalent to the cost. The redemption price 
is based on the leaver status at the time of redemption. 

The MPP participants acquired ordinary shares, which rank pari passu in all respects, as well as prefer-
ence shares. The reacquisition of the ownership interests by TopCo is triggered upon the termination of 
employment of MPP Participants; a liability in this regard is included in Other non-current liabilities, with 
reference to Note 3.9.

MPP Liability
Number of 

shares (mil)

Outstanding at 1 October 2023 31
Disposals (29)
Outstanding at 30 September 2024 2

Outstanding at 1 October 2022 35
Additions *
Disposals (4)
Outstanding at 30 September 2023 31

*  Amount less than 1 mil

The fair value changes from the MPP recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss was EUR 
-25 million (2022/23: EUR 7 million).
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participants, including 2,652 active employees, 
707 former employees with vested rights and 436 
retirees and surviving dependents). Individual 
benefits are generally based on eligible compen-
sation levels and/or ranking within the Group's 
hierarchy and years of service. The characteristics 
of the defined benefit plans and the risks asso-
ciated with them vary depending on legal, fiscal 
and economic requirements in each country. For 
the major defined benefit plans of the Group the 
characteristics and risks are as follows:

Germany:
In Germany, the Group provides pension benefits 
through the cash-balance plan BSAV (Beitrags-
orientierte Siemens Altersversorgung), frozen 
legacy plans and deferred compensation plans. 
Active employees in Germany participate in the 
BSAV introduced in fiscal 2004. A legacy pension 
plan (Altzusage) has been transformed into BSAV.

These benefits are predominantly based on 
contributions made by the Group and returns 
earned on such contributions, subject to a 
minimum return guaranteed. In general, the 
BSAV is fully funded from the Group's perspec-
tive. Sivantos GmbH has set up a CTA (Contractual 
Trust Arrangement) in order to take precautions 
of financing all of its BSAV pension obligations, 
including the Group. Individual benefits under 
the frozen legacy plans are based on eligible 
compensation levels or ranking within the 
Group's hierarchy and years of service. In connec-

5.3	 Pension obligations
Post-employment benefits provided by the Group 
are organized primarily through defined contri-
bution plans as well as defined benefit plans 
which cover almost all of the Group’s domestic 
employees and many of the Group’s foreign 
employees. Post-employment defined benefit 
plans include to the major extent pension bene-
fits. 

Defined benefit plans
General principles are determined in a corpo-
rate pension policy. That means inter alia that 
the Group regularly reviews the design of its 
post-employment defined benefit plans. In 
order to reduce Group’s exposure to certain 
risks associated with defined benefit plans, such 
as longevity, inflation, effects of compensation 
increase, the Group regularly review and contin-
uously improves the design of its post-employ-
ment defined benefit plans. The benefits of the 
defined benefit plan open to new entrants are 
based predominantly on contributions made 
by the Group and are still affected by longevity, 
inflation adjustments and compensation 
increases, but only to a lesser extent. The major 
pension plans are funded with assets in segre-
gated pension entities. 

The existing defined benefit plans cover approx-
imately as of 30 September 2024 – 3,870 partic-
ipants, including 2,704 active employees, 714 
former employees with vested rights and 452 
retirees and surviving dependents (2022/23: 3,795 

5.2	 Share-based payment (cont'd)
During the year, the MPP was unwinded and the 
Group introduced a new Long Term Incentive 
(“LTI”) program in its place. The LTI program 
is an equity-settled share-based payment 
program which grants Performance Share Units 
(“PSU”) and Restricted Share Units (“RSU”) to 
certain members of the management. The grant 
amounts are determined based on a percentage 
of the grant recipient’s annual salary.

For the financial year 2023/24, the share options 
for PSU and RSU were granted on two grant dates 
– 14 January 2024 and 14 April 2024, and will fully 
vest on 15 January 2027. Subsequent grants will 
vest over 3 years from the grant date. 

As of 30 September 2024, the number of share 
options granted and share price valuation model 
have not been approved by the Board of Direc-
tors. Management assessed the fair value of the 
share options granted approximates the total 
grant amount. The amount recognized in respect 
of the vested share options granted is EUR 5 
million and included in the share option reserve.

§	 Accounting policies

Equity-settled share-based payments are 
measured based on the fair value of the of goods 
and services received, with the corresponding 
increase in equity, unless that fair value cannot be 
measured reliably. 

The accounting for the shares purchased by 
management (at fair value, represented by ‘in-
terests’ in NHSCSp) as part of the North Harbour 
MPP scheme falls within the scope of IFRS 2 as a 
cash-based arrangement. A liability is recognized 
reflecting the fair value of the Group’s intention 
to acquire the ‘interests’.
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5.3	 Pension obligations (cont'd)
The amounts included in the Group's Consolidated Statement of Financial Position arising from its 
pension obligations at 30 September are as follows:

EURm
Defined benefit 

obligation
Fair value  

of plan assets Total

30 September 2024
Germany (55) 59 4
U.S. (30) 28 (2)
Others (9) 3 (6)
Total (94) 90 (4)
 

30 September 2023
Germany (48) 53 5
U.S. (31) 27 (4)
Others (8) 3 (5)
Total (87) 83 (4)

tion with the implementation of the BSAV, bene-
fits provided under the frozen legacy plans were 
modified to substantially eliminate the effects of 
compensation increases by freezing the accretion 
of benefits under the majority of these plans. 
However, these frozen plans still expose the 
Group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, 
interest rate risk and longevity risk. Furthermore, 
deferred compensation plans are offered which 
are funded via a CTA. In Germany no legal or 
regulatory minimum funding requirements apply. 
The Trust which is legally separate manages its 
plan assets as trustee in accordance with the 
respective trust agreements.

U.S.:
The assets under these pension plans are admin-
istered by the Group and are, therefore, the sole 
responsibility of the Group. The assets are not 
separately identifiable; instead the companies 
had a common right to the trusts' assets. One 
major defined benefit plan, the Sivantos Pension 
Plan, is frozen to new entrants and accretion of 
new benefits. Employees hired prior to April 1, 
2006 participate in the Sivantos Pension Plan. 
Most of the defined benefit plan participants' 
benefits are calculated using a cash balance 
formula; although a small group of participants 
are eligible for a benefit based on a final average 
pay formula. This frozen defined benefit plan 
exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as 
investment risk, interest rate risk and longevity 
risk.

The defined benefit plan assets are held in a 
Master Trust. The Group, as the sponsoring 
employer, has delegated investment oversight of 
the plans' assets to the Investment Committee. 
The Investment Committee members have a 
fiduciary duty to act solely in the best interests 
of the beneficiaries according to the trust agree-
ment and U.S. law. The Committee has estab-
lished an Investment Policy Statement which 
articulates the goals and objectives of the plans' 
investment management, including diversifying 
the assets of the Master Trust with the inten-
tion of appropriately addressing concentration 
risks. The trustee of the Master Trust acts only 
by direction of the Investment Committee. It is 
responsible for the safekeeping of the trust, but 
generally has no decision-making authority over 
the plan assets. The legal and regulatory frame-
work for the plans is based on the applicable U.S. 
legislation Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act (ERISA). Based on this legislation a funding 
valuation is prepared annually. There is a regula-
tory requirement to maintain a minimum funding 
level of 80% in the defined benefit plans in order 
to avoid benefit restrictions.
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EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 83 85
Interest income 4 3
Remeasurement losses (Return on plan assets excluding amounts 
included in net interest income and expense) 9 1
Contributions paid * *
Benefits paid (5) (4)
Employer contributions 1 1
Foreign currency effects (2) (3)
Fair value of plan assets at 30 September 90 83

Plan assets comprise of the following: 
Investment funds 89 83
Cash and cash equivalents 1 *
Total 90 83

Quoted 89 83
Unquoted 1 *
Total 90 83

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

The Group has reported EUR 13 million (2022/23: EUR 11 million) of asset for deferred compensation plan 
under Note 3.6, which is used to fund the pension obligations.

5.3	 Pension obligations (cont'd)
The following table show the total defined benefit cost that was recognized in profit or loss account and 
other comprehensive income at the end of the reporting period.

 
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Current service cost 3 3
Net interest expenses * *
Defined benefit costs recognized in the Consolidated  
Statement of Profit or Loss 3 3

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest 
expense and net interest income) (9) (1)
Remeasurement losses/(gains) on defined benefit obligations 7 (1)
Foreign currency translation differences * *
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (2) (2)

Change in defined benefit obligations:
Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year 87 91
Current service cost 3 2
Interest expense 4 3
Contributions paid * –
Net accumulated actuarial losses/(gains) 7 (1)
Benefits paid (5) (5)
Foreign currency effects (2) (3)
Defined benefit obligation at 30 September 94 87

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil
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Actuarial assumptions
Assumed discount rates, compensation increase rates, pension progression rates and mortality rates 
used in calculating the DBO vary according to the economic and other conditions of the country in which 
the retirement plans are situated.

The mortality tables used for the actuarial valuation of the DBO were as follows (most significant countries):

Germany 	 Heubeck Richttafeln 2005G (modified)

U.S.	 RP-2014 Employee and Healthy Annuitant Tables projected with Scale MP-2015 for all years

The DBO was only significantly affected by other financial assumptions in Germany and U.S. For Germany, 
the long-term rate of compensation increase and the pension increase rate were constant on average in 
financial year 2023/24 and 2022/23. For U.S., the DBO was mainly affected by the discount rate as the plan 
is frozen to new entrants and accretion of new benefits.

The DBO is also affected by assumed future inflation rates. The effect of inflation is recognized within the 
assumptions above where applicable.

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted 
averages).

2023/24 2022/23

EURm Germany U.S. Germany U.S.

Discount rate 3.30% 4.65% 4.08% 5.56%
Future salary growth 1.50% N/A 2.25% N/A
Expected return on assets 1.52% 4.15% 2.25% 5.56%
Expected pension progression 2.00% 3.00% 2.25% 3.00%

Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables. 
The current longevities underlying the values of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date were 
as follows:

2023/24 2022/23

EURm Germany U.S. Germany U.S.

Longevity at age 55  
for current pensioners
Males  20  29  20  29 
Females  24 31  24 31 
 

Longevity at age 55 for current 
pensioners with 10% reduction  
in mortality rates
Males  21  30  21  30 
Females  25  32  25  32 

The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 10.0 years at 30 September 2024 
(2022/23: 9.4 years).

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, 
it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

5.3	 Pension obligations (cont'd)
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Sensitivity analysis
As the significant part of the DBO results from the German and U.S. entities, the sensitivity analysis were 
as follows:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Germany 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease
Discount rate  (2) 2  (2) 2 
Rate of pension progression  1 (1)  1 (1) 
 -1 year +1 year -1 year +1 year
Life expectancy (1) 1 (1) 1

 

U.S. 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease
Discount rate (1) 1 (1) 1

The Group expects to pay EUR 7 million (2022/23: EUR 7 million) in contributions to its defined benefit 
plans in the upcoming financial year.

Defined contribution plan
The amount recognized as an expense for defined contribution plans at 30 September 2024 was EUR 14 
million (2022/23: EUR 14 million).

5.3	 Pension obligations (cont'd) §	 Accounting policies

Defined contribution plans
The Group operates a number of defined con-
tribution plans around the world. These plans 
are externally funded in entities, e.g. insurance 
entities, that are legally separate from the Group. 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of prof-
it or loss in the year to which they relate.

Defined benefit plans
The Group also operates defined benefit plans in 
a few jurisdictions, primarily in Germany and the 
USA.

The liability and costs for the year for defined 
benefit plans are determined using the projected 
unit credit method. This reflects services ren-
dered by employees to the valuation dates and is 
based on actuarial assumptions regarding future 
compensation and benefit increases, mortality, 
expected return on plan assets and discount 
rates. Discount rates are based on average 
market yields of high-quality corporate bonds in 
the country and/or currency in which the pension 
liabilities are expected to be settled.

Current service cost, past service cost and settle-
ments for post-employment benefits as well as 
other administration costs which are unrelated 
to the management of plan assets are recognized 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and allocated among functional costs, following 

the functional area of the corresponding profit 
and cost centre. Administration costs which are 
related to the management of plan assets and 
taxes directly linked to the return on plan assets 
and payable by the plan itself are included in the 
return on plan assets and are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from expe-
rience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognized in Other comprehen-
sive income in the period in which they arise. Past 
service costs are recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For unfunded plans, the Group recognizes a 
post-employment liability as non-current liability. 
For funded plans, the Group offsets the fair value 
of plan assets with the benefit obligations, and 
recognizes the net amount, after adjustments for 
effects related to any asset ceiling, as a non-cur-
rent liability or other current assets.
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5.4	 Contingent assets and liabilities
Guarantees
As of 30 September 2024, the Group issued corpo-
rate guarantees, mainly to the business partners, 
outstanding for an amount of EUR 47 million 
(2022/23: EUR 82 million). 

Outstanding lawsuits and disputes
The Group is, from time to time, subject to legal 
disputes in connection with its business activities. 
In the light of the number of legal disputes and 
proceedings in which the Group is involved, it 
cannot be ruled out that some of these proceed-
ings could result in rulings against the Group. 
Although the Group maintains liability insur-
ance in its non-amounts the Group considers 
consistent with industry practice, it may not 
be fully insured against all potential damages 
that may arise out of any claims to which the 

Group may be party in the ordinary course of 
the Group’s business. At this time, however the 
Group does not expect any significant nega-
tive effects on the Group’s financial position or 
finance and earnings situation resulting from 
legal disputes.  

The Group seeks to make adequate provisions for 
any legal disputes and proceedings, and assesses 
the likely outcome in which the Group is involved.

5.5	 Non-cash adjustments
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Unrealized gain on foreign currency translation (23) (94)
Others (3) 6
Total (26) (88)
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5.6	 Fees to auditors appointed at the annual general meeting
EURm Deloitte Others

1 October 2023 – 30 September 2024

Audit fees 2 2

Other assurance related services * 1

Tax services 2 *

Other services 1 *

Total 5 3
 

1 October 2022 – 30 September 2023

Audit fees 2 1

Other assurance related services * *

Tax services 1 1

Other services 1 –

Total 4 2

*  Amount less than EUR 1 mil

5.7	 Related parties
Related parties include North Harbour VIII S.à.r.l., North Harbour VII S.à.r.l., Auris Luxembourg I S.A., T&W 
Medical A/S, as well as transactions with associates.

Other related parties in the summary below include those entities controlled by T&W Medical A/S.

Transactions with related parties
In addition to the related party disclosure that is disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following significant transactions between the Group and its related parties took place at terms agreed 
during the financial year:

EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Transactions with associates
- Sales of goods and services 1 1
 

Other related parties
- Purchase of goods and services (9) (8)
 

Total transactions with related parties (8) (7)

At 30 September 2024, the outstanding balances with the associates are EUR 0.2 million (2022/23: EUR 3 
million).

Transactions with related individuals
The Group's Executive management is defined as those persons, who are responsible for the Group's 
worldwide operating business, based on their function within the Group or the interests of WS Audiology 
A/S and registered directors in the parent company. In financial years ended 30 September 2024 and 
30 September 2023, there were no significant, material or major transactions between the Group and 
members of the Executive Management and Board of Directors, other than their remuneration and trans-
actions towards the participation program. For information about remuneration to Executive manage-
ment and Board of Directors refer to Note 5.1.
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5.8	 Companies in the WS Audiology A/S Group
List of the Group’s companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements: 

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of WS Audiology A/S
WSA HoldCo Denmark ApS Denmark 100 –
North Harbour Topco S.à.r.l. Luxembourg 100 100
    North Harbour Midco S.à.r.l. Luxembourg 99 99
        Auris Luxembourg II S.A. Luxembourg 100 100
            Auris Luxembourg III S.à.r.l. Luxembourg 100 100
                Widex A/S Denmark 100 100
                Hear.com N.V. Netherlands 100 100
  

Subsidiaries of Widex A/S  
EMEA  
WSAUD A/S Denmark 100 100
Widex DK A/S Denmark 100 100
WS Audiology Benelux BV Netherlands 100 100
Widex UK Ltd.1 UK – 100
SAS Clermont Distribution France 100 100
  �  Balet Dominique Laboratoire de Correction 

Auditive SARL2 France – 100
    Audition Balet Libourne SARL2 France – 100
    Saint-Etienne Audition2 France – –
Widex S.A.S France 100 100
Shoebox France SARL France 100 100
Bloom Hearing Specialists Ltd. UK 100 100
    Bonavox Limited Ireland 100 100

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of Widex A/S (cont'd)  
EMEA (cont'd)  
Bloom Hörakustik AG (under liquidation) Switzerland 100 100
WS Audiology Switzerland AG Switzerland 100 100
WS Audiology Germany GmbH  
(formerly Sivantos Holding Germany GmbH)3 Germany 100 –
    Sivantos GmbH Germany 100 –
    Widex Hörgeräte GmbH4 Germany 100 –
Widex Hörgeräte GmbH4 Germany – 100
Widex AB Sweden 100 100
Widex OOO LLC (dormant) Russia 100 100
Widex Norge AS Norway 100 100
Sivantos AS3 Norway 100 –
Widex-Reabilitacão Auditiva Lda. Portugal 100 100
    WSA Portugal S.A. Portugal 100 100
WSA Rus LLC Russia 100 100
Widex Akustik OY Finland 100 100
WS Audiology CZ s.r.o. (formerly Widex Line s.r.o)5 Czech Republic 100 100
Widex Tibbi ve Teknik Chihazlar San.ve Tic. AŞ Turkey 100 100
Widex Trading d.o.o Ljubljana Slovenia 60 60
Slušni Aparati d.o.o. Widex Ljubljana Slovenia 84 84
WS Audiology-H Kft Hungary 100 100
Audiofon Kft Hungary 100 100
WS Audiology Italia S.r.l. (formerly Widex Italia s.r.l.)6 Italy 100 100
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5.8	 Companies in the WS Audiology A/S Group (cont'd)

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of Widex A/S (cont'd)  
EMEA (cont'd)  
WS Audiology Slovakia s.r.o Slovakia 100 100
Widex Slušni Aparati d.o.o. Bosnia 60 60
ReOton Ltd Ukraine 100 100
Koalys Technologies Ltd Israel 100 100
Koalys Poland Sp z.oo Poland 100 100
Widex Poland Sp. Z.o.o Poland 60 60
Widex Regional Operation Center EMEA7 Poland – 100
WS Audiology Austria GmbH Austria 100 100

Americas  
TW Group Canada Ltd.12 Canada – 100
Lifestyle Hearing Corporation Inc.12 Canada – 100
Helix Hearing Inc.12 Canada 100 100
WS Audiology USA, Inc.8 USA 46 –
Lifestyle Hearing Corporation (USA), Inc.8 USA – 100
Widex USA Inc.8 USA – 100
WS Audiology Chile SpA Chile 100 100
Widex Uruguay Uruguay 51 51
COW-Audición en Alta Definición S.A. de C.V Mexico 100 100
Widex Argentina S.A Argentina 51 51
Centro Auditivo Widex Brasitom Ltda Brazil 100 100
    Communicare Aparelhos Auditivos Ltda Brazil 100 100
WS Audiology Solucuoes Auditiva Ltd. Brazil 100 100

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of Widex A/S (cont'd)
Americas (cont'd)
    Qualiaudio Comercio e Distribuicao Ltda Brazil 100 100

APAC
Sivantos Holding Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
Sivantos Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
Widex Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100
Widex Hearing Aid Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100
Bloom Hearing Co. Ltd. Japan 100 100
Widex Co. Ltd. Japan 100 100
WS Audiology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd  
(formerly Widex Hearing Aid (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.) China 100 100
    Zhejiang Longkang Medical Equipment Co. Ltd. China 51 51
        Hangzhou Miaoyin Medical Equipment Co. Ltd China 51 51
    Hangzhou V Hearing Medical Equipment Co. Ltd. China 51 51
    Suzhou FenBei Medical Equipment Co. Ltd. China 51 51
Widex India Private Ltd. India 100 100
Widex Australia Pty. Ltd.(dormant) Australia 100 100
    Active Hearing Pty. Ltd. Australia 100 100
        Hearclear Audiology Pty. Ltd. Australia 100 100
        Hutchinson Audiology Clinics Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
        Bloom Hearing Ltd. New Zealand 100 100
Widex Hong Kong Hearing & Speech Centre Ltd. Hong Kong 100 100
    Starry Hearing & Speech Centre Ltd. Hong Kong 65 65
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5.8	 Companies in the WS Audiology A/S Group (cont'd)

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of Sivantos GmbH  
EMEA  
AS-AUDIO SERVICE GmbH Germany 100 100
Signia GmbH Germany 100 100
Sivantos Kft.9 Hungary – 100
Sivantos AS3 Norway – 100
Sivantos s.r.o5 Czech Republic – 100
Sivantos Sp. z o.o. Poland 100 100
Sivantos S.r.l6 Italy – 100
Signia S.A.S. France 100 100
WS Audiology Limited UK 100 100
Widex UK Ltd.1 UK 100 –

Americas
WS Audiology USA, Inc.8 USA 54 100
    Lifestyle Hearing Corporation (USA), Inc.8 USA 100 –
    Widex USA Inc.8 USA 100 –
Audiology Distribution, LLC USA 100 100
HearX West, LLC USA 50 50
HearX West, Inc. USA 50 50
HearUSA IPA, Inc. USA 100 100
TruHearing, Inc. USA 100 100
TruHearing IPA LLC USA 100 100
Hearing Care Solutions, Inc USA 100 100
Hear in America LLC USA 100 100

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of Sivantos GmbH (cont'd)  
Americas (cont'd)
WS Audiology Canada Inc Canada 100 100
Shoebox Ltd1 Canada 100 –
WS Audiology South Africa Pty Ltd South-Africa 100 100

APAC  
Sivantos (Suzhou) Co. Ltd. China 100 100
Sivantos India Pvt. Ltd India 100 100
WS Audiology ANZ Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100

Subsidiaries of Sivantos Pte. Ltd.  
EMEA  
WS Audiology Germany GmbH  
(formerly Sivantos Holding Germany GmbH)3 Germany – 100
    Sivantos GmbH Germany – 100
Sivantos A/S Denmark 100 100
Oorwerk B.V. Netherlands 100 100
    Oorwerk den Haag B.V. (under liquidation) Netherlands 100 100
  �  Hoortechnish Centrum Schagen B.V  

(under liquidation) Netherlands 100 100
Sivantos Isitme Cihazlari Sanayi Ve Ticaret A.S. Turkey 100 100
Sivantos Europe GmbH (under liquidation) Germany 100 100
Bloom Hörakustik GmbH Austria 100 100
WS Audiology Spain S.A. Spain 100 100
Sivantos (RUS) LLC (dormant) Russia 100 100
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5.8	 Companies in the WS Audiology A/S Group (cont'd)

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of Sivantos Pte. Ltd. (cont'd)  
Americas
Biotone Technologie SAS France 100 100
WS Audiology Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico 100 100
Shoebox Ltd1 Canada – 100
  

APAC  
Sivantos K.K. Japan 100 100
    Hearing Express K.K. Japan 100 100
WS Audiology Korea Limited Korea 100 100
WS Audiology Philippines Corp. Philippines 100 100
WS Audiology SEA Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100

Subsidiaries of Lifestyle Hearing Corporation USA Inc. 
Americas
Helix Hearing Care (California) Inc. USA 100 100
My Hearing Centers LLC USA 100 100
Hear Again Hearing Aids LLC.10 USA – 100
Helix Hearing Care Naples LLC USA 60 60
The Hearing Center of ENTA LLC USA 60 60
Medical Hearing Systems LLC USA 70 70
Widex Government Services LLC7 USA – 100

 

Subsidiaries of Hear.com N.V.
Hear.com Korea Limited Korea 100 100
Soundrise Hearing Solutions Private Limited India 100 100

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Subsidiaries of Hear.com N.V. (cont'd)
hear.com USA Parent LLC USA 100 100
    hear.com, LLC USA 100 100
audibene GmbH Germany 100 100
    audibene GmbH Switzerland 100 100
    audibene B.V. Netherlands 100 100
  �  Audiocare Hearing Experts Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 

(dormant) Malaysia 100 100
    Ihre Hörgeräte Beratung GmbH Germany 100 100
    Hear.com - Simply Good Hearing Inc (dormant) Canada 100 100
    hear.com (Pty) Ltd. South Africa 100 100
    Hearing Experts (Thailand) Co. Ltd.9 Thailand – 100

 

Other equity investments
Hearing Instrument Manufacturers  
Software Association A/S Denmark 25 25
HIMSA II a/s Denmark 20 20
HIMSA II K/S Denmark 17 17
HIMPP A/S Denmark 13 13
K/S HIMPP Denmark 9 9
D Med Hearing Company Thailand 38 38
Kikoeno Soudanshitsu Co., Ltd.11 Japan – 50
Kanto Hochouki Co., Ltd. Japan 25 25
Sound Advice Hearing Ltd. UK 49 49
Widex Columbia SAS Columbia 30 30
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5.8	 Companies in the WS Audiology A/S Group (cont'd)

Company Country

2023/24
Equity  

Interest %

2022/23 
Equity  

Interest %

Other equity investments (cont'd)
Hear-Mart Holdings LLC. USA 49 49
Audiology Associates of Westchester LLC USA 49 49
Smartcare LLC USA 10 10
Widex Servicios Technico S.A. Spain 30 30
Widex Audifonos S.A. Spain 30 30
Instituto Auditivo Widex C.A. Venezuela 30 30
Widex Macau Hearing & Speech Centre Ltd. Macau 49 49
Odio Tech Pty Ltd Australia 30 22

1	 �Widex UK Ltd. and Shoebox Ltd were transferred to Sivantos GmbH during 2023/24.
2	 �Balet Dominique Laboratoire de Correction Auditive SARL, Audition Balet Libourne SARL and Saint-Etienne Audition were merged 

into SAS Clermont Distribution during 2023/24.
3	 �Sivantos Holding Germany GmbH and Sivantos AS were transferred to Widex A/S during 2023/24.
4	 �Widex Hörgeräte GmbH was transferred to Sivantos Holding Germany GmbH during 2023/24.
5	 �Sivantos s.r.o was merged into WS Audiology CZ s.r.o.  during 2023/24.
6	 �Sivantos S.r.l was merged into WS Audiology Italia S.r.l. during 2023/24.
7	 �Widex Government Services LLC and Hearing Experts (Thailand) Co. Ltd. were dissolved during 2023/24.
8	 �Lifestyle Hearing Corporation USA Inc. and Widex USA Inc. were transferred to WS Audiology USA, Inc. during 2023/24. In return, 

WS Audiology USA, Inc. issued shares to Widex A/S resulting in Widex A/S holding 46% shares in WS Audiology USA Inc, while 
remaining 56% is held by  Sivantos GmbH (previously wholly owned by Sivantos GmbH).

9	 �Sivantos Kft. and Widex Regional Operation Center EMEA were liquidated during 2023/24.
10	 �Hear Again Hearing Aids LLC. was merged into Lifestyle Hearing Corporation (USA), Inc during 2023/24.
11	 �Kikoeno Soudanshitsu Co., Ltd. was disposed during 2023/24.
12	 �TW Group Canada Ltd. and Lifestyle Hearing Corporation Inc. were amalgamated into Helix Hearing Inc. during 2023/24.

5.9	� Event after the reporting period
There have been no adjusting or non-adjusting 
events after the reporting date that would be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
that users make on the basis of these financial 
statements.

5.10	� Approval of the consolidated  
financial statements

The annual report of WS Audiology A/S were 
approved by the Board of Directors and author-
ized for issue on 26 November 2024.
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EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

General and administrative expenses (5.4) (1.0)
Operating loss before tax (5.4) (1.0)
 

Interest income 0.1 –
Loss before tax (5.3) (1.0)

Income taxes 7.1 0.9 0.2
Loss for the year (4.4) (0.8)

Statement of Profit or Loss
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024

EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Assets
Investments in subsidiaries 8.1 4,585.5 4,085.5
Total non-current assets  4,585.5 4,085.5

Current income tax receivables  0.1 0.2
Cash 0.4 0.2
Total current assets  0.5 0.4
Total assets  4,586.0 4,085.9

Equity and Liabilities  
Share capital 9.1 111.3 100.0
Other reserves  4,474.2 3,985.5
Accumulated losses  (8.0) (3.6)
Total equity attributable to the shareholders  
of WS Audiology A/S  4,577.5 4,081.9
  

Deferred tax liabilities  (1.1) (0.3)
Total non-current liabilities  (1.1) (0.3)
  

Other current financial liabilities  0.5 0.5
Amounts due to related parties  9.1 3.8
Total current liabilities  9.6 4.3
Total equity and liabilities  4,586.0 4,085.9

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 September 2024
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EURm Note 2023/24 2022/23

Operating activities    

Loss for the year (4.4) (0.8)
Income tax expense, net (0.9) (0.2)
Cash flow from operating activities before 
changes in working capital (5.3) (1.0)

Changes in other liabilities – 0.2
Change in amounts due to related parties 5.3 0.6
Cash flow from operating activities before  
financial items and tax – (0.2)

Income taxes received, net  0.2 0.2
Cash flow from operating activities 0.2 –

Investing activities

Capital contribution to a subsidiary  (500.0) (100.0)
Cash flow used in investing activities (500.0) (100.0)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of shares   500.0 100.0
Cash flow from financing activities 500.0 100.0

Net cash flow 0.2 –

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 0.2 0.2
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 0.4 0.2

EURm
Share  

capital
Other  

reserve
Accumulated 

losses
Total  

equity

Equity at 1 October 2022  100.0  3,885.5  (2.8) 3,982.7
 

Issuance of shares * 100.0 – 100.0
Loss for the year – – (0.8) (0.8)
Equity at 30 September 2023 100.0 3,985.5 (3.6) 4,081.9
 

Issuance of shares 11.3 488.7 – 500.0
Loss for the year – – (4.4) (4.4)
Equity at 30 September 2024 111.3 4,474.2 (8.0) 4,577.5
* Amount less than EUR 0.1 mil

Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 September 2024
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Notes

6	 Basis of preparation

The parent financial statements for WS Audiology A/S have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU) and further requirements in the Danish 
Financial Statements Act.

The parent financial statements are presented in Euros (EUR) which is the functional currency of WS Audi-
ology A/S. All values are rounded to the nearest million (EUR) with one decimal, except where indicated 
otherwise.

The terminology used in the consolidated financial statements has been applied in the parent's financial 
statements to ensure a uniform presentation. The parent's accounting policies on recognition and meas-
urement are generally consistent with those of the Group with reference to Note 1.1 in the consolidated 
financial statements.

7	 Results of the year

7.1	 Income taxes
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Income taxes
Current tax for the year 0.1 –
Change in deferred tax for the year 0.8 0.2
Total 0.9 0.2

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
Danish tax rate 22% 22%
Expected income tax benefit 0.9 0.2
Total 0.9 0.2

8	 Operating assets and liabilities

8.1	 Investment in subsidiaries
EURm 2023/24 2022/23

Cost at 1 October 4,085.5 3,985.5
Capital contributions to subsidiaries 500.0 100.0
Cost at 30 September 4,585.5 4,085.5

Group companies are listed on Note 5.8 of the Group financial statements. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of such 
investments, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

.
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Notes

9	 Other disclosures

9.1	 Outstanding shares
For more information regarding outstanding 
shares, please refer to Note 4.1 in the consoli-
dated financial statements. 

9.2	 Related parties
T&W Medical A/S is the parent entity and ultimate 
parent controlling WS Audiology A/S. There have 
been no transactions with subsidiaries or other 
related parties during the year besides related 
party balances at market rates.

9.3	� Fees paid to the auditor appointed at the 
Annual General Meeting

Fees paid to Deloitte for assurance related 
services for the financial year ended 30 
September 2024 was EUR 0.2 million (2022/23: 
EUR 0.2 million).

9.4	 Fees paid to the Board of Directors
Please refer to Note 5.1 in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for fees paid to the Board of 
Directors of WS Audiology A/S. 

9.5	� Events after the reporting period
There have been no non-adjusting events after 
the reporting period that would be expected to 
influence the economic decisions that users make 
on the basis of these financial statements.

9.6	� Approval of the consolidated  
financial statements

The financial statements of WS Audiology A/S 
were approved by the Board of Directors and 
authorized for issue on 26 November 2024.
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Entity information

Entity
WS Audiology A/S
Nymøllevej 6
3540 Lynge

Business Registration No (CVR): 40296638
Founded: 28.02.2019
Registered in: Allerød
Financial year:  01.10.2023 – 30.09.2024

Board of Directors
Lars Rasmussen, Chair
Adam Westermann, Vice-Chair
Anthony Santospirito
Arne Due-Hansen
Jes Carøe Munk Hansen
Julian Tøpholm
Karen Naomi Prange
Kristiaan Nieuwenburg 

Executive Management
Jan Makela, Chief Executive Officer
Marianne Wiinholt, Chief Financial Officer
Carsten Buhl, President Region Americas

Auditors
Deloitte Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab 
Weidekampsgade 6 
2300 København S

Organizational details - 3
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Statement by Management 
on the Annual Report 

The Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management have today considered and 
approved the Annual Report of WS Audiology A/S 
for the financial year ended 30 September 2024.

The Annual Report is presented in accordance 
with the IFRS Accounting Standards, which have 
been adopted by the EU and disclosure require-
ments of the Danish Financial Statements Act.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments and the parent financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the Group’s and the Parent’s 
assets, liabilities and financial position at 30 
September 2024 and of their financial perfor-
mance and cash flows for the financial year 1 
October 2023 to 30 September 2024.

We also find that the Management commentary 
provides a fair statement of developments in the 
activities and financial situation of the Group and 
the Parent, financial results for the period, the 
general financial position of the Group and the 
Parent, and a description of conditions referred 
to therein.

We recommend that the Annual Report be 
approved at the Annual General Meeting.

Lynge, 26 November 2024

Executive Management:

Jan Makela	 Marianne Wiinholt	 Carsten Buhl
Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer	 President Region Americas

Board of Directors:

Lars Rasmussen  	 Adam Westermann  
Chair	 Vice-Chair

Anthony Santospirito	 Jes Carøe Munk Hansen	 Karen Naomi Prange

Arne Due-Hansen	 Kristiaan Nieuwenburg	 Julian Tøpholm
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Independent auditor's report

To the shareholders of WS Audiology A/S

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements and the 
parent financial statements of WS Audiology A/S for the financial 
year 1 October 2023 to 30 September 2024, page 98 – 167 which 
comprise the Statement of Profit or Loss, Statement of Comprehen-
sive Income, financial position, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement 
of Changes of Changes in Equity and Notes, including material 
accounting policy information, for the Group as well as the Parent. 
The consolidated financial statements and the parent financial state-
ments are prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards 
as adopted by the EU and additional requirements of the Danish 
Financial Statements Act.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the parent 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the 
Parent’s financial position at 30 September 2024, and of the results 
of their operations and cash flows for the financial year 01 October 
2023 to 30 September 2024 in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and additional requirements of the 
Danish Financial Statements Act.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs) and the additional requirements applicable in 
Denmark. Our responsibilities under those standards and require-
ments are further described in the "Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements and the parent finan-
cial statements" section of this auditor’s report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (IESBA Code) and the additional ethical requirements 
applicable in Denmark, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Statement on the management commentary
Management is responsible for the management commentary.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the parent 
financial statements does not cover the management commentary, 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the parent financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the management commentary and, in doing so, consider 
whether the management commentary is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and the parent financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

Moreover, it is our responsibility to consider whether the manage-
ment commentary provides the information required by relevant 
law and regulations.

Based on the work we have performed, we conclude that the 
management commentary is in accordance with the consolidated 
financial statements and the parent financial statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the relevant 
law and regulations. We did not identify any material misstatement 
of the management commentary.

Management's responsibilities for the consolidated 
financial statements and the parent financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements and parent financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as 
adopted by the EU and additional requirements of the Danish Finan-
cial Statements Act, and for such internal control as Management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements and parent financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements and the parent 
financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and the Parent’s ability to continue as a going concern, for 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern, and for 
using the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consol-
idated financial statements and the parent financial statements 
unless Management either intends to liquidate the Group or the 
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and the parent financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements and the parent financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and the 
additional requirements applicable in Denmark will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
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from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements and these parent financial statements.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and the addi-
tional requirements applicable in Denmark, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements and the parent financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Parent’s internal 
control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by Management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements and the parent financial statements, and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncer-
tainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast signifi-
cant doubt on the Group's and the Parent’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and 
the parent financial statements or, if such disclosures are inade-
quate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and 
the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the consolidated financial statements and the parent financial 
statements, including the disclosures in the notes, and whether 
the consolidated financial statements and the parent financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that gives a true and fair view.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Copenhagen, 26 November 2024

Deloitte
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab
Business Registration No 33 96 35 56

Nikolaj Thomsen	 Kirsten Aaskov Mikkelsen 
State-Authorised Public 	 State-Authorised Public 
Accountant	 Accountant
Identification No. (MNE) 	 Identification No (MNE)  
mne 33276	 mne 21358
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Independent Auditor’s Assurance Report  
on ESG/Sustainability Statements

To the stakeholders of WS Audiology A/S
WS Audiology A/S engaged us to provide limited assurance on 
selected ESG metrics and performance for the financial year 
1 October 2023 to 30 September 2024 as presented in sections 
“Metrics” and “Performance” on pages 50-55, 62-65, 72-76, 84 and 
89 in the Annual Report 2023/24 of WS Audiology A/S (collectively 
“selected ESG metrics”). 

Other than as described in the preceding paragraph, which sets out 
the scope of our en-gagement, we did not perform assurance proce-
dures on the remaining information in-cluded in the ESG/Sustaina-
bility Statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
this information. 

Management’s responsibility
Management of WS Audiology A/S is responsible for designing, 
implementing, and main-taining internal controls over information 
relevant to the preparation of the ESG data and information in the 
selected ESG metrics, ensuring it is free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. Furthermore, Management is 
responsible for establishing objective accounting principles for the 
preparation of the selected ESG metrics, for the overall content of 
the selected ESG metrics, and for measuring and reporting the ESG 
data in the selected ESG metrics in accordance with the accounting 
principles and Green-house Gas Protocol included on pages 50-55, 
62-65, 72-76, 84 and 89 in the Annual Re-port. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance conclusion based 
on our engagement with Management and in accordance with the 
agreed scope of work. We have conducted our work in accordance 
with ISAE 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other than Audits 
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and, in respect of the 
greenhouse gas emissions, in accordance with ISAE 3410 Assur-
ance Engagements on Greenhouse Gas Statements and additional 
requirements under Danish audit regulation, to obtain limited 
assurance about our conclusion. Greenhouse Gas emissions quan-
tification is subject to inherent uncertainty because of incomplete 
scientific knowledge used to determine emis-sion factors and the 
values needed to combine emissions of different gasses.

We are responsible for:

•	 planning and performing the engagement to obtain limited assur-
ance about whether the selected ESG metrics are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and prepared, 
in all material respects, in accordance with the accounting princi-
ples;

•	 forming an independent conclusion, based on the procedures we 
performed and the evidence we obtained; and

•	 reporting our conclusion to the stakeholders of WS Audiology A/S.

Deloitte Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab applies Interna-
tional Standard on Quality Management 1, ISQM 1, which requires 
the firm to design, implement and oper-ate a system of quality 
management including policies or procedures regarding comp-
li-ance with ethical requirements, professional standards and appli-
cable legal and regulato-ry requirements.

We have complied with the requirements for independence and 
other ethical require-ments of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (IESBA Code), which is founded on fundamental prin-ci-
ples of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, 
confidentiality and professional behaviour, and ethical requirements 
applicable in Denmark.

A limited assurance engagement is substantially less in scope than 
a reasonable assur-ance engagement. Consequently, the level of 
assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substan-
tially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had 
we performed a reasonable assurance engagement. 
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Work performed
We are required to plan and perform our work in order to consider 
the risk of material misstatement in the selected ESG metrics. To do 
so, we have:

•	 conducted interviews with data owners and internal stakeholders 
to understand the key processes and control activities for meas-
uring, recording and reporting the ESG data;

•	 performed limited substantive testing on a selective basis to 
check that data has been appropriately measured, recorded, 
collated and reported;

•	 performed analysis of data, selected based on risk and materi-
ality;

•	 made inquiries regarding significant developments in the 
reported data;

•	 considered the presentation and disclosure of the selected ESG 
metrics;

•	 assessed that the process for reporting greenhouse gas emis-
sions data follows the principles of relevance, completeness, 
consistency, transparency and accuracy outlined in The Green-
house Gas Protocol Corporate Standard Revised edition (2015) and 
The Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting 
Standard (2011); and 

•	 evaluated the evidence obtained.

Our conclusion 
Based on the procedures performed and the evidence obtained, 
nothing has come to our attention that causes us not to believe that 
the selected ESG metrics as presented in sections “Metrics” and 
“Performance” on pages 50-55, 62-65, 72-76, 84 and 89 in the Annual 
Report of WS Audiology A/S for the financial year 1 October 2023 to 
30 Septem-ber 2024, have been prepared, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the accounting principles included on pages 50-55, 
62-65, 72-76, 84 and 89.

Copenhagen, 26 November 2024 

Deloitte
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab
Business Registration No. 33 96 35 56

Yassir Iqbal
State Authorised Public Accountant
MNE no 45103

Aida Sasivarevic
State Authorised Public Accountant
MNE no 47817



D
esign and production: N

oted

WS Audiology A/S
Nymøllevej 6, 3540 Lynge
Denmark

wsa.com
Phone: +45 44 35 56 00
Phone: +65 6370 9666

Sivantos Pte. Ltd 
18 Tai Seng Street
Singapore 539775


	At a glance
	Performance highlights
	Letter from our Chair and CEO
	5-year key figures and financial ratios
	Market overview
	Purpose, strategic ambition and goals
	Business model
	Innovation
	Innovation highlights 
	Sales performance
	Financial review
	Corporate governance 
	Risk management
	Board of Directors
	Executive Board 
	Investor information
	General Information
	Basis for Preparation
	Our Sustainability Approach
	Sustainability Governance 
	Material Topics 
	Our Stakeholders
	Our Sustainability Value Chain
	Our Policies

	Environment
	Climate Change 
	Pollution 
	Resource Use and Circular Economy

	Social
	Own Workforce
	Workers in the Value Chain 
	Consumers and End-users
	Awareness, Affordability, Accessibility

	Governance
	Business Conduct 

	Appendix
	Global Reporting Initiative Disclosures (GRI)
	International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
	Taskforce on Climate change Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

	Statement by Management on the Annual Report 
	Independent auditor's report
	Independent Auditor’s Assurance Report 
on Consolidated ESG Statements
	Statement of Profit or Loss
	Statement of Financial Position
	Statement of Cash Flows
	Statement of Changes in Equity
	6	Basis of preparation
	7	Results of the year
	7.1	Income taxes
	8	Operating assets and liabilities
	8.1	Investment in subsidiaries
	9	Other disclosures
	9.1	Outstanding shares
	9.2	Related parties
	9.3	�Fees paid to the auditor appointed at the Annual General Meeting
	9.4	Fees paid to the Board of Directors
	9.5	�Events after the reporting period
	9.6	�Approval of the consolidated 
financial statements
	Entity information

	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	1	Basis of preparation
	1.1	General accounting policies
	1.2	�Significant accounting estimates and judgments
	1.3	Changes in accounting estimates
	1.4	Adoption of new and amended IFRS
	2	Results of the year
	2.1	Revenue
	2.2	Staff costs
	2.3	Income taxes
	3	Operating assets and liabilities
	3.1	Intangible assets
	3.2	Property, plant and equipment
	3.3	Depreciation, amortization, and impairment
	3.4	Right-of-use assets/Lease liabilities 
	3.5	Customer loans
	3.6	Other assets
	3.7	Inventories
	3.8	Trade receivables 
	3.9	Other liabilities
	3.10	Provisions
	4	Capital structure and financing items
	4.1	Outstanding shares 
	4.2	�Financial risks and financial instruments
	4.3	Liabilities from financing activities
	4.4	Financial income and expenses 
	5	Other disclosures
	5.1	Remuneration of Key Management Personnel
	5.2	Share-based payment
	5.3	Pension obligations
	5.4	Contingent assets and liabilities
	5.5	Non-cash adjustments
	5.6	Fees to auditors appointed at the annual general meeting
	5.7	Related parties
	5.8	Companies in the WS Audiology A/S Group
	5.9	�Event after the reporting period
	5.10	�Approval of the consolidated 
financial statements

	Introduction
	At a glance
	Performance highlights
	Letter from our Chair and CEO
	5-year key figures and financial ratios

	Purpose & Strategic ambition 
	Market overview
	Purpose, strategic ambition and goals
	Business model
	Innovation
	Innovation highlights 

	Performance
	Sales performance
	Financial review

	Corporate Governance 
	Corporate governance 
	Risk management
	Board of Directors
	Executive Board 
	Investor information

	Sustainability Statements
	General Information
	Environment
	Social
	Governance
	Appendix

	Consolidated Financial Statements
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

	Parent Financial Statements
	Statement of Profit or Loss
	Statement of Financial Position
	Statement of Cash Flows
	Statement of Changes in Equity

	Statements
	Statement by Management on the Annual Report 
	Independent auditor's report
	Independent Auditor’s Assurance Report 
on ESG/Sustainability Statements


